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dear minister

i have pleasure in submitting the annual report of the department 
of planning and infrastructure for the year ended 30 June 2012,  
for presentation to the parliament of new south Wales in 
accordance with the Annual Reports (Departments) Act 1985. 

Yours sincerely

richard pearson
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Minister’s 
foreword

 > Balancing the competing needs of agriculture,  
mining and coal seam gas – including added 
protection for millions of hectares of the state’s  
most valuable farming land; and

 > substantial progress on a comprehensive process  
to deliver an entirely new planning system for nsW.

the government also placed great emphasis  
on improving the relationship with our partners in local 
government, who play a crucial role in the implementation 
of the state’s planning system. improved council and 
community consultation has delivered improved 
outcomes already and this will be even further enhanced 
under the proposed new planning system.

the financial year also brought improvements to the 
culture of planning, both at the department and across 
the profession. this has seen stronger focus on results 
and less on process. the department has also 
established dedicated teams to concentrate on other 
transformative ideas including online planning outcomes, 
code-assessable development and long-term planning 
for resource issues (such as coal and coal seam gas).

importantly, politics has been removed from the  
decision-making process, with around 93 per cent  
of major approvals given by independent experts at the 
department or the planning assessment commission 
(pac). assessments have also been subject to added 
transparency, with the department’s recommendation 
and its assessment of the issues made available  
for public scrutiny before the final decision is made  
by the pac.

We have taken great strides in 2011–12 but there is plenty 
of work left to be done. i look forward to continuing  
to work closely with the department of planning and 
infrastructure and, most importantly, with the people  
of nsW to meet the challenge of creating a world-class 
planning system in nsW.

i would like to personally thank:

 > the director-general sam Haddad for his hard  
work and dedication to leading the delivery of the 
government’s planning agenda and for his assistance 
to me and my office over the course of the year; and

 > the staff of the department of planning and 
infrastructure who have adapted to a more transparent, 
open and collaborative approach to planning as well  
as moving to a ‘can do’ culture. 

 
 

 
Brad Hazzard

minister for planning and infrastructure

in the first full year since coming to office in march 2011, 
the nsW government has made significant progress  
in delivering the kind of planning system this state 
deserves. a planning system for the 21st century.  
a planning system focussed on the public interest.  
a planning system that places people and their choices 
at the heart of planning decisions about their future.

at the start of the 2011–12 financial year, there were  
a number of systemic issues in the nsW planning 
system that required urgent attention, including the 
lowest housing starts in 50 years. the government has 
set about comprehensively resolving these issues while 
also establishing and communicating a clear vision for 
the state’s planning future.

i am pleased to report that nsW finished the 2011–12 
financial year as the only state in the country to increase 
housing approvals – with sydney approvals alone up 
nearly 20 per cent. this is an important indicator that the 
government’s initiatives are paying dividends, but there 
is much more work to be done. the government’s 
commitment of more than $500 million in the 2012–13 
budget to assist with housing delivery is set to further 
bolster housing supply in nsW.

other significant achievements include:

 > repealing the discredited former part 3a assessment 
system and replacing it with a new, transparent system 
for the assessment of state significant projects;
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Director-General’s 
introduction

Housing supply remains high on the planning agenda 
and has been a major challenge to the department.  
the taskforce on Housing supply chaired by the 
minister for planning and infrastructure and comprising 
senior government ministers delivered significant 
outcomes in resolving key policy and legal impediments 
to supply.

We worked with local government in particular  
to accelerate housing approvals resulting in higher 
approvals relative to past years. significant releases  
and precinct planning work in greenfield and growth 
centres has been delivered.

the department will continue to focus its efforts  
in facilitating housing delivery. a dedicated new  
division is being established as the one stop shop  
for all housing activities in nsW.

the department’s work on infrastructure planning  
and coordination has focussed on integrating 
infrastructure (particularly transport) and land use to 
achieve growth outcomes. substantial funds have been 
dedicated to new infrastructure provisions to unlock 
housing and employment land opportunities under the 
newly developed infrastructure growth management 
plans being led by the department.

the transition from the now deleted part 3a assessment 
system to the new state significant assessment system 
has been completed, with our efforts now being 

focussed on finalising all transitional part 3a projects  
by the end of 2012–13.

the delivery of the strategic land use regional policy 
aimed at balancing the protection of prime agricultural 
land and appropriate mining activities is a major 
achievement which should be recognised.

there has also been significant progress in strategic 
planning activities, with the review of the metropolitan 
strategy and the completion of a substantial number  
of standard local environmental plans (leps). almost 
half the state’s local councils now have strategically 
based standard local instruments. the department aims 
to complete the entire program by financial year end.

there are in particular two transformative achievements 
for this year worth highlighting.

the review of the planning system and the publication  
of the new planning system green paper heralded  
a new era for planning in nsW – a major refocussing  
of the entire system towards a strong community  
and stakeholder engagement and a strategic  
planning approach.

the department significantly strengthened its 
stakeholder engagement and consultation with  
local government. a significant shift is being 
demonstrated in that regard and i would like to thank 
our colleagues in local councils for their ongoing 
cooperation and support.

there are substantial challenges as we work towards  
a new planning system and a renewed culture for all  
its participants to deliver sustainable growth consistent 
with community aspirations.

the department’s staff should be proud of their 
achievements this year. i would like to thank all our staff 
for their excellent dedication, support and commitment 
to advancing the planning system.

the department continued its close co-operation with 
other agencies in the government’s planning cluster,  
in particular the sydney Harbour foreshore authority, 
landcom, the sydney metropolitan development 
authority and the Hunter and central coast 
development corporations.

on behalf of all staff in the department i would like  
to thank the minister, the Hon Brad Hazzard for his 
leadership, guidance and support.

 
 
sam Haddad
director-general
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Highlights

1  
Housing  
outcomes 
Highlights
nsW was the only state to 
experience an increase in housing 
approvals – with sydney approvals 
alone up by nearly 20 per cent.  

planning for more than 50,000 
homes accelerated in sydney’s 
growth centres and benchmark for 
available zoned and serviced land 
exceeded by 40 per cent.

land rezoned at five state 
significant sites with the potential  
to create 5,465 homes and $930 
million in capital investment.

councils with updated and modern 
planning controls made a significant 
contribution to new housing 
approvals.

online housing approval project 
launched – allowing new homes  
to be given the green light in just 
three days.

How we did it differently
tackled unnecessary regulatory 
barriers to housing supply,  
in areas such as waterway  
corridors, biodiversity and bush  
fire management.

took a lead role within government 
to prioritise infrastructure which can 
support housing growth, including 
$181 million in initial major road  
and water upgrades.

cabinet task force on housing 
supply established to deliver  
‘whole of government’ solutions  
for housing supply.

improved information exchanges 
with the housing industry through 
two roundtable meetings.

read more on page 8  >>

2  
Employment  
outcomes 
Highlights
supported the Barangaroo review 
and approved two commercial 
buildings with 10,000 jobs at site.

more than 300 hectares of 
proposed new employment land 
exhibited in Western sydney.

construction underway on the  
vital erskine park link road  
to accelerate development in the 
Western sydney employment area.

approved development proposals 
will create up to 24,000 ongoing 
jobs. 

How we did it differently
Held a forum on employment  
lands in Western sydney to explain 
our work and seek input from 
stakeholders.

commenced work on a structure 
plan for the broader Western 
sydney employment area.

Began an employment lands audit 
to discover the blockages stopping 
new land coming to market.

Began working with other agencies 
to boost employment in the ‘global 
economic arc’ through macquarie 
park.

read more on page 22  >>

3  
Infrastructure  
outcomes 
Highlights
established the department  
as a leader within the nsW 
government coordinating 
infrastructure required  
to support growth.

Helped coordinate major upgrades 
of roads to boost growth in the 
north West and south West growth 
centres.

We worked to gain more than $500 
million in additional funding for 
infrastructure in the 2012–13 Budget.

coordinated more than $90 million 
worth of infrastructure and planning 
funding agreements with major 
developers.

How we did it differently
We worked closely with other 
agencies to progress infrastructure 
and policies which support housing 
and jobs.

We obtained additional funding  
for local councils that support 
growth via the urban activation 
precinct scheme.

We placed all voluntary planning 
agreements online for transparency.

read more on page 30  >>
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4  
State significant 
development decisions 
Highlights
repealed the part3a system and 
implemented the new transparent 
state significant assessment 
system.

more than $10 billion worth  
of approvals.

Benchmarks met for timely 
decisions on state significant 
development (ssd) proposals.

$24 billion worth of development 
proposals lodged for new state 
significant assessment system.

more than 150 compliance actions 
against approved projects for 
consent condition breaches  
– an increase of nearly 30 per cent.

How we did it differently
removed politics from the decision 
making process.

93 per cent of major approvals 
made by independent experts at the 
department or planning assessment 
commission.

returned planning powers to local 
government through regional 
planning panel and part 3a reforms. 

allowed people to read the 
department’s assessment reports 
before final decisions were made.

required agricultural impact 
statements for all mining and coal 
seam gas proposals with the 
potential to impact agricultural land 
and water resources.

guidelines for wind farm 
assessments placed on public 
exhibition.

read more on page 38  >>

5  
Managing  
growth 
Highlights
Began consultation on a new 
metropolitan strategy which  
is integrated with transport and 
infrastructure planning.

developed two regional land-use 
plans which protect high-quality 
farming land from inappropriate 
coal and coal seam gas production.

updated and modernised  
the state’s planning system  
by approving a record  
number of major new local  
environmental plans.   

acquired $62 million worth of land, 
comprising land for north West and 
south West rail corridors and 
regional open space land in 
metropolitan sydney including for 
the Western sydney parklands. 

How we did it differently
We took a lead role within 
government to resolve complex 
policy issues.

We used social media to engage 
well over 100,000 people in the 
review of our metropolitan strategy.

We held joint reviews with our 
partners in local government  
to investigate strategic planning  
for contentious sites.

We held a major public talk which 
attracted nearly 1,000 people to 
promote debate on city planning.

We went on the road to discuss our 
population projections work.

read more on page 52  >>

6  
Improving the  
Planning System 
Highlights
Began the most comprehensive 
review of the state’s planning 
system in 30 years. 

independently-chaired panel 
appointed to review rollout  
of standard template local 
environmental plans.

nearly $20 billion worth of local 
development approved across the 
state, according to our report-card.

returned planning powers to local 
government by disbanding council-
specific planning panels.

How we did it differently
more flexible approach by the 
department to the rollout of local 
plans, helping speed-up outcomes.

two major ministerial planning 
forums held and more than 2,000 
attend public forums to discuss  
a new planning system.

dramatic increase in exhibitions  
by department of draft policies  
and plans. 

lobbyist contact transparency 
improved.

read more on page 62  >>
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1
Housing 
outcomes

Highlights  
2011–12

nsW was the only state  
to experience an increase  
in housing approvals –  
with sydney approvals alone 
up by nearly 20 per cent.  

planning for more than 50,000 
homes accelerated in sydney’s 
growth centres and benchmark 
for available zoned and 
serviced land exceeded  
by 40 per cent.

land rezoned at five state 
significant sites with the 
potential to create 5,465 homes 
and $930 million in capital 
investment.

councils with updated and 
modern planning controls 
made a significant contribution 
to new housing approvals.

online housing approval 
project launched – allowing 
new homes to be given the 
green light in just three days.

How we did  
it differently

tackled unnecessary regulatory 
barriers to housing supply,  
in areas such as waterway 
corridors, biodiversity and bush 
fire management.

took a lead role within 
government to prioritise 
infrastructure which can support 
housing growth, including  
$181 million in initial major road 
and water upgrades.

cabinet taskforce on Housing 
supply established to deliver 
‘whole of government’ solutions 
for housing supply.

improved information 
exchanges with the  
housing industry through  
two roundtable meetings.
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“I’m really looking 
forward to the 
community growing  
up around us and  
to seeing Oran Park 
develop into the hub  
of the South West.”
melinda Kumar, oran park resident  

find out how the department 
was able to accelerate 
housing growth in sydney’s 
south West  >>

9



NSW has significant housing supply 
challenges, particularly in the high-growth 
coastal and metropolitan regions. Sydney 
in particular requires more than 25,000 
homes a year, with approvals in 2011–12 
nearly reaching this amount. An efficient, 
coordinated and streamlined planning 
system can play a major role assisting 
housing supply. The department strongly 
focussed its attention on facilitating housing 
outcomes during 2011–12, although more 
work clearly needs to be done.

Housing 
outcomes

Case study 
Oran Park
located some eight kilometres north-east  
of camden, oran park is a fast-growing precinct 
in the south West growth centre. during 2011–12, 
some important announcements were made to 
provide infrastructure and employment to support 
oran park.

during 2011–12, the department assisted with plans 
to accelerate the upgrade of the camden Valley 
Way from two to four lanes to help service the 
growth centre, including oran park. the department 
worked with roads and maritime services and 
the cabinet taskforce on housing supply to bring 
forward the completion date to 2015.

additionally, during 2011–12 the sydney West Joint 
regional planning panel approved stage one 
plans for the oran park town centre, which is set to 
provide 14,000 square metres of retail, commercial 
and office floor space. the south West rail link 
and m5 West widening will also provide important 
infrastructure to service the area.

development in oran park town is proceeding 
rapidly. the first stages of land releases have 
experienced high demand, with the first residents 
moving into their new homes in early 2011.

oran park resident melinda Kumar said,  
“when we came back to australia we wanted  
to find a family friendly and affordable place  
to live. the blocks of land were much more 
generous in size and reasonable in price than  
any of the other places we’d looked.

“i love that we live within five minutes drive  
of some beautiful rural areas and every weekend 
there are great local craft and produce markets  
if you know where to look.”

 melinda Kumar and her daughter christina and friend  
Breannan at oran park.

>>

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

13,483

19,523
20,657

24,390

Figure 1.1: Dwelling approvals Sydney 
region 2008–09 to 2011–12
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Housing statistics
the government’s new approach to support housing 
supply was reflected by improved housing market 
statistical results. this is good news which will assist  
in forcing downward pressure on prices.

approvals rose by 2.5 per cent across the state and  
by 18 per cent in the sydney region. sydney’s approvals 
rose from 20,657 in 2010–11 to 24,390 in 2011–12  
and have now increased for the third year in a row. 

in sydney’s new release areas, 4,231 lots were 
produced in 2011–12, up from 4,166 in 2010–11. 
greenfield lot production has been increasing over  
the last four years.

furthermore, sydney’s dwelling completions rose 
marginally to 15,591 in 2011–12. the department will 
work to bring this completion figure to the target in the 
government’s nsW 2021 plan (25,000 dwellings).

the department will be continuing to focus substantial 
effort to improving planning for housing supply, 
including researching the gap between approvals 
provided by the planning system and completions 
provided by the market.

in terms of long-term dwelling potential, the department 
has a nsW 2021 target to increase the stocks of 
greenfield land so that zoned and trunk serviced land 
with potential for 50,000 dwellings is always available.  
at the end of march 2012, this figure was exceeded  
by 40 per cent with land with the potential for 70,000 
dwellings available.

Major infrastructure funding
more than half a billion dollars will be invested in new 
infrastructure funding and resources to support housing 
development across nsW, as part of initiatives 
announced in the 2012–13 Budget.

the ‘Building the state’ package included $481 million 
dedicated to a housing acceleration fund to be invested 
in infrastructure needed to support housing across the 
state, particularly in greenfield areas. an additional  
$50 million for a new urban activation precinct program 
will help to unlock infill development opportunities.  
more details are available in the infrastructure outcomes 
chapter on page 33.

the department will play a key role resourcing these 
initiatives during 2012–13 and beyond.

Cabinet housing supply 
Taskforce 
during 2011–12, the nsW government set up a cabinet 
taskforce to concentrate on boosting housing supply. 
this taskforce brings together senior ministers  
to resolve whole-of-government issues in regard  
to housing supply. the department is the lead agency 
supporting this taskforce. 

its initial focus was to find out what was holding  
up housing production on land already rezoned,  
but not yet developed. this originally concentrated  
on sydney but is extending to the Hunter and other 
areas. the taskforce achieved some important 
outcomes during 2011–12.

 > it endorsed a series of reforms to planning for riparian 
corridors, bush fires, biodiversity and aboriginal 
cultural heritage. this removed unnecessary barriers  
for housing supply, while at the same time still 
ensuring important environmental and safety 
protections. these reforms were announced  
in June 2012, with some implemented immediately 
and others requiring longer term work.

 > it required more timely monitoring of housing 
production so decision making could be based  
on the best possible information available  
(see more information on page 12).

Table 1.1: State trends for dwelling approvals from  
2010–11 to 2011–12

State Increase

NSW +2.5%

Victoria -17.6%

Queensland -3%

Western Australia -9.2%

South Australia -26%

Tasmania -31%2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

13,584 13,960

15,371 15,591

Figure 1.2: Dwelling completions Sydney 
region 2008–09 to 2011–12
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How we consulted 
Housing Industry Roundtable
during 2011–12, the department organised two 
housing industry roundtables to bring together 
the major housing developers to discuss broad 
policy issues directly with the minister of planning 
and infrastructure, Brad Hazzard and senior 
departmental officials. 

the roundtables provided important information 
for government about current housing planning 
issues, along with an update for the industry  
on government initiatives.

Case study 
Riparian corridors 
there has been internal debate within government 
for many years about how new housing 
developments should interact with nearby creeks, 
rivers and waterways (known as riparian 
corridors). in particular, there’s been discussion 
about the level of setback required for these 
developments, which has created uncertainty  
for the housing industry.

the cabinet taskforce supported a new approach 
that sets clear rules and allows a greater number  
of uses in riparian corridors, which complement 
housing development (and therefore assisted 
housing supply) while still ensuring good 
environmental outcomes. these uses include roads, 
cycleways, recreational areas and detention basins 
in certain circumstances. these new principles 
commenced immediately upon announcement  
in June 2012 in sydney’s growth centres.

 Warriewood Valley creekline walking and cycling paths.

find out more  >>
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/ 
metropolitan-development-
program

Taskforce on Housing Supply  
members

minister for planning and infrastructure (chair)

minister for roads and ports

minister for finance and services

minister for local government

minister for the environment

treasurer (from august 2012)

MARCH QUARTER MONITORING REPORT

MDP

20
12

 > it facilitated the fast-tracking of the completion  
of camden Valley Way four-lane upgrade work  
by 2015 to assist housing supply in the south West 
growth centre along with the richmond road upgrade 
works (see case studies in infrastructure chapter).

 > it coordinated more than $500 million in funding  
for housing supply initiatives announced in the 
2012–13 Budget.

Fast-tracked housing data
during 2011–12, the department began to publish 
monthly and quarterly sydney housing approval data  
to provide more timely housing information. previously, 
data was only supplied on an annual basis through the 
metropolitan development program (mdp) yearly report. 

this monthly and quarterly information will allow planning 
to be more responsive to market conditions. the 
department’s data is broken down by local government 
area to see where housing is, or is not, developing, and 
also includes a greenfield land delivery analysis. these 
updates are based on information and consultation with 
local councils, service agencies and industry.  

during 2011–12, the department also published the 
2010–11 mdp report for the sydney region. it showed 
that while sydney has a record level of land supply  
for new homes, more land needs to be connected to 
support development, water and other infrastructure.

< mdp quarterly monitor report.
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Urban renewal and infill 
housing outcomes 
existing urban areas across the state are continuing  
to be a focus of new housing. this form of housing has 
many advantages, including placing people close  
to existing services, transport and employment. 

during 2011–12, some 85 per cent of new dwelling 
approvals in the sydney region were in existing areas, 
with 15 per cent in greenfield (also known as new 
release) areas. additionally, the percentage  
of multi-dwelling housing in sydney’s overall new 
dwelling approvals has been increasing for the past 
three years. this is an indicator of the ongoing 
importance of new apartments in assisting with housing 
supply in the sydney market.

over the last year, the department worked to provide 
infill housing in a number of ways, including regulatory 
improvements, place-based strategic planning and  
by assessing major individual proposals.

Major individual proposals

during 2011–12, there was a conscious effort to remove 
the assessment of major residential development 
applications from the department and return these  
to local councils. However, the department continued  
to assess some major residential proposals that were  
in identified important urban renewal precincts or well 
advanced in the assessment process. these precincts 
included the former carlton united Breweries (cuB) site 
at Broadway, the former north penrith army site, sydney 
olympic park and the redfern-Waterloo area. 

Table 1.2: Percentage of multi-unit housing in Sydney 
approvals 2011–12

Year Detached Multi-Unit Others

2011–12 35.2% 63.3% 1.5%

2010–11 40.1% 58.3% 1.6%

2009–10 41.2% 57.4% 1.4%

examples of major infill housing outcomes included 
approvals for:

 > a 27-storey building with 413 residential apartments 
valued at $117 million at the former cuB site

 > a seven-building complex of up to 430 units  
at lewisham in sydney’s inner-west 

 > a 130-apartment complex at Wolli creek with a value 
of $52 million 

 > the former north penrith army site (see case study  
on page 18).

additionally, joint regional planning panels played  
an important role assessing major infill proposals.

Strategic and place-based planning

the department undertook some important strategic 
and place-based planning for new infill housing. 

for instance, new council-wide local environmental 
plans (leps) that set aside new locations for infill 
housing were finalised for councils including rockdale, 
parramatta, marrickville, maitland, Kiama and the 
Harold park site at glebe. these leps were approved 
using the standard template as part of a statewide 
program to modernise planning controls. further detail 
about these leps can be found in the regional round-
up at the end of this chapter. 

a number of councils with leps approved during 
2011–12, along with councils including auburn, 
liverpool, ryde and canada Bay that had council-wide 
leps approved in previous years, made  
a significant contribution to new housing approvals 
during 2011–12. 

additionally, joint reviews were initiated with councils  
for sites at lane cove, the oxford falls Valley and 
Warriewood. further detail about these can be found  
in the managing growth chapter.

a plan to cater for 5,000 additional residents in  
a renewed coffs Harbour city centre was finalised,  
while work was undertaken to progress an urban 
renewal strategy for the newcastle city centre. 

< construction underway at cuB site.

Table 1.3: Top 12 Sydney councils for housing approvals 
2011–12

Council Housing approvals

1 Sydney City 2,346

2 The Hills Shire 1,560

3 Blacktown 1,415

4 Auburn 1,381

5 Parramatta 1,174

6 Liverpool 1,039

7 Botany Bay 1,012

8 Ryde 1,003

9 Canada Bay 996

10 Camden 907

11 Penrith 893

12 Bankstown 874
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Guidelines and regulation improvements

the department continues to progress guidelines and 
regulatory measures to better plan for new infill housing. 

more than 200 submissions were received on  
a discussion paper about design quality of residential 
flat developments during an exhibition period that ran 
from november 2011 to february 2012. this was in 
addition to more than 200 stakeholders who attended 
five information sessions late in 2011.  

Work was also undertaken to finalise the draft centres 
design guidelines and draft good design for medium 
density living guidelines. 

Figure 1.3: Typical growth centres planning steps

ReLeASeD  
fOR PReCINCT 

PLANNINg
> >

DRAfT 
PReCINCT PLAN 

exHIBITeD

PReCINCT 
RezONeD

Table 1.4: Growth centres activity 2011–12

Precinct Name Decision made Current 
dwelling 

target

Current employment 
lands size target

Overall 
precinct  
size (ha)

When decision 
made

Area 20 Rezoned 2,500 6ha light industrial 245 21 October 2011

Schofields Rezoned 2,950 19,800m.sq retail floor 
space 

465 11 May 2012

Box Hill/Box Hill 
Industrial

exhibited Draft  
Precinct Plan

9,500 60 ha Business Park  
60 ha Light Industrial

974 12 October –  
14 November 2011 
(re-exhibited  
July 2012)

Marsden Park Released 10,000 N/A 1,797 19 July 2011

North West total 24,950 3,481

edmondson Park zoning amended and 
concept plan approved

3,500 35,000 – 45,000 m2 
Retail and Commercial

413 18 August 2011

Austral exhibited Draft  
Precinct Plan

8,500 36 ha Light Industrial 935 26 October –  
2 December 2011

Leppington North exhibited Draft  
Precinct Plan

7,500 75 ha Business Park  
25 ha Bulky goods  
55 ha Light Industrial

1,090 26 October –  
2 December 2011

Catherine fields (Part) Released 3,000 N/A 323 19 July 2011

east Leppington Released 4,100 N/A 463 5 November 2011

South West total 26,600 3,224

Growth Centres total 51,550 6,705

Accelerated growth  
centres activity
sydney’s north West and south West growth centres 
were established in 2005 with detailed planning 
beginning in 2006. they cover some 27,000 hectares 
across the local government areas of Baulkham Hills, 
Blacktown, Hawkesbury, liverpool, camden and 
campbelltown. these centres are earmarked for 
181,000 new homes and 2,500 hectares of employment 
space to accommodate up to 500,000 additional 
residents. the growth centres represent sydney’s 
priority greenfield land release areas.

they are divided into 34 precincts, that are being 
released and rezoned progressively, for urban 
development. precinct plans are developed which cover 
a wide range of issues, including transport and other 
infrastructure, urban design, open space and 
biodiversity.

during 2011–12, planning for some 51,550 homes  
was progressed through the precinct planning process 
in the growth centres. 
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How we consulted 
Austral and Leppington  
North precincts
the austral and leppington north precincts  
are within the south West growth centre and  
will provide around 16,000 new dwellings  
for about 51,000 people within the next  
20–30 years. these precincts straddle the  
south West rail link. 

the draft precinct planning package was 
exhibited from 26 october 2011 until 2 december 
2011. the usual four week exhibition period was 
extended to six weeks to cater for the larger than 
usual number of landowners (more than 900).

a significant proportion of landowners in the 
precinct did not speak english well (or at all).  
to maximise community awareness of the 
upcoming exhibition and proposed changes,  
a poster containing information about the 
exhibition period was translated into six key 
languages. 

the translated poster was distributed  
to key organisations within the community,  
while the phone number for a translation  
service was published on all communications. 
about 800 people attended nine drop-in 
sessions held at a local venue for community 
members, which represented 50 per cent  
of all properties in the precincts.  

Key agencies such as transport for nsW,  
sydney Water, roads and maritime services  
and camden and liverpool councils were also 
represented at the drop-in sessions, which gave 
landowners the unique opportunity to speak  
to a range of agencies at one time.

 consultation for austral and leppington north precincts.

Case study 
Edmondson Park South 
construction work is already underway at 
edmondson park south to provide new housing, 
following a planning approval supported by the 
department. edmondson park south covers  
413 hectares within the south West growth 
centre. it will ultimately provide for 3,530 
dwellings, a town centre, a regional park  
and infrastructure.

the department assessed a major concept  
plan application for housing within and around 
the edmondson park town centre (alongside  
the south West rail link currently under 
construction). the application also included 
35–45,000 square metres of retail, business  
and commercial floor space and a 150 hectare 
regional park and associated infrastructure. 

a project application to begin construction on the 
area’s first residential subdivision for 232 lots was 
also approved.

the concept plan and project approval was 
granted by the planning assessment 
commission on 18 august 2011. 

 construction work under way at edmondson park.

About 800 people attended 
nine drop-in sessions held  
for community members
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Strategic assessment

in february 2012, the federal minister for sustainability, 
environment, Water, population and communities,  
tony Burke and nsW minister for planning and 
infrastructure, Brad Hazzard jointly endorsed  
the sydney growth centres strategic assessment.  
this approval protects nationally listed threatened 
species in the growth centres and identifies the  
areas where urban development can take place.  
this removes the need for expensive and timely  
site by site assessments. 

streamlining approvals for at least 2,500 hectares  
of employment land and more than 180,000 new 
dwellings as well as identifying conservation  
outcomes up front is a win for the environment  
and housing delivery.

find out more  >>
www.growthcentres.nsw.gov.au

Electronic Housing Code
the department continues to lead the way in ensuring 
people can undertake online planning activities, rather 
than being forced to rely on a paper-based approach.  
We are achieving important outcomes in this area, 
although there is no doubt the amount of online 
planning activities will expand in coming years  
as part of the new planning system. an important part  
of our eplanning work is the electronic Housing code 
(eHc) project.

the eHc system provides builders and home owners 
with the ability to investigate and undertake online 
lodgement of complying development applications 
under the nsW housing code. the tool allows the 
applicant to find out the relevant planning provisions  
to enable them to get a fast-tracked ten day approval. 

in october 2011, the minister formally launched  
the eHc, at the site of the first home to be approved 
using the system. the system can be accessed  
at www.electronichousingcode.com.au.

other key eHc project outcomes for 2011–12 include:

 > in July 2011, the department was awarded  
$4.33 million for the expansion of the eHc project  
to include additional councils and to incorporate 
commercial and industrial complying development 
applications over a two-year period.  
this follows nearly $6 million in funding received  
from the commonwealth government to pilot the eHc.

 > the inclusion of an additional eleven councils  
in february 2012 – bringing the total number  
of councils involved in the project at the end  
of this financial year to 22.

 > Holding an expression of interest process for 
additional accredited certifiers who want to partner 
with the project in early 2012, resulting in 25 additional 
certifiers being invited to join the project in march 
2012. this brings the number of certifiers involved  
in the project to 32.

 > more than 4,000 investigations were made in the  
eHc portal – that is the eHc system was used to see 
whether a proposed development could be carried 
out without the need for an approval or be fast-tracked 
approval within the 10 local government areas 
operational on the system.

find out more  >> 
www.ehc.nsw.gov.au 

How we consulted 
Camden forum
the camden development coordination forum, 
consisting of nsW government agencies, 
camden council, landowners and developers 
aims to resolve impediments to housing supply 
across a range of areas. 

the forum, which meets several times a year, 
facilitates discussion about major greenfield 
development issues in the camden council area. 
By involving the key players, the department has 
gained a broader perspective of the matters 
influencing the delivery of the government’s 
objectives in this area has been gained.

“We are proud to have been selected 
as one of the councils to pilot the 
Electronic Housing Code and to be 
the first council to process an actual 
complying development certificate.”
dave Walker, general manager, Hills shire council
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Other initiatives 
Paper subdivisions

in february, the department sought comment  
on a proposed regulation to assist unlocking the 
dwelling potential of ‘paper subdivisions’ across nsW. 
these estates are known as ‘paper subdivisions’ 
because the only recognition of the lots is on paper,  
as these estates were not supplied with water, roads  
or other services. they date back as far as the 1800s. 

a proposed new process will help the landowners – 
some of whom have owned this land for generations  
– to finally build a home or sell their land. once 
established, the process could be used by a developer 
such as landcom to provide a subdivision layout  
to amalgamate smaller lots into more viable parcels,  
as well as allocate land for roads and infrastructure  
to enable development to proceed. the land’s zoning 
would need to be residential before subdivision  
could happen.

in regional areas, the department has continued to work 
with councils to resolve the planning issues associated 
with the fragmented land ownership and potentially 
conflicting environmental values of paper subdivisions.

Case study 
Online approval in three days 
When mcdonald Jones Homes employees 
chontelle lewis and steve Hearn attended  
an information session at the Hills shire council 
on 24 June 2011, they were greatly encouraged 
by the simplicity of the electronic Housing  
code (eHc). 

“We were very pleased to be invited to the launch 
of the eHc portal and could immediately see the 
benefits to us as a business in streamlining a 
process that at times can become quite labour 
intensive and time consuming,” ms lewis said. 

following the session, ms lewis returned to the 
office, signed into the system, followed the on 
screen instructions and easily completed the first 
application under the eHc for her clients, mr and 
mrs Wade, at Kellyville.

“the portal itself is very easy to use and  
to understand. it’s a fast and effective way  
to gather and lodge information for a particular 
building site.” 

and what was the end result? a three day 
approval for the complying development 
application from the Hills certifiers which 
reduced the overall approval time and will 
contribute to mr and mrs Wade being in their 
home earlier.

 left to right: steve Hearn, ann Wade, david Wade and 
chontelle lewis outside the site of the first home approved using 
the eHc.

find out more  >>
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/ 
review-of-potential-housing-sites 

Case study 
Jerberra Estate planning proposal 
the Jerberra estate is a paper subdivision  
of 152 urban sized lots in the Jervis Bay region. 
this was subdivided in 1922 and individual lots 
sold from 1986 without the ability to build  
a house. 

shoalhaven city council has been seeking  
to resolve the planning for the estate since 1992. 
the department has been working collaboratively 
with the council and the office of environment 
and Heritage to engage landowners and achieve 
a balanced outcome. the community has been 
involved through a number of ‘drop-in’ days  
to explain options available. a range of brochures 
have been also prepared to advise and seek 
feedback from all landowners on their preferred 
option, and to explain the key environmental and 
servicing issues.

the draft planning proposal for Jerberra estate 
which has been placed on public exhibition will 
provide housing for up to 83 landholders while 
still protecting high value conservation areas. 
the rezoning will also provide significant social 
and economic benefits including the provision  
of certainty for landowners and the broader 
community on the future uses of the lands  
and resolution of the status of numerous 
unauthorised structures.

the final planning proposal will provide a model 
for the resolution of five other outstanding paper 
subdivisions in the Jervis Bay region.
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State Significant Sites

during 2011–12, the department finalised rezonings  
for five state significant sites at edmondson park and 
north penrith in sydney’s west and middle camp,  
nords Wharf and gwandalan in the Hunter-central 
coast regions. 

these are major development sites with a combined 
capital investment value of $930 million and the 
potential to create some 5,465 homes.

Rural Housing Code

in January 2012, the department published a user guide 
to assist owners of rural property to understand how 
they can get planning approval for a home, shed or farm 
building in as little as 10 days.

the rural Housing code user guide sets out the steps 
to follow and the criteria for an application to qualify  
as complying development, which helps to walk rural 
landowners through the process. 

eligible rural landowners have been able to apply for 
fast-tracked planning approvals from their local council 
or a private certifier, rather than the usual development 
application process, since the rural Housing code 
came into operation in february 2011.

 rural Housing code brochure

find out more  >> 
housingcode.planning.nsw.gov.au

Affordable Housing Forum

the state’s first affordable Housing forum was held  
in november 2011. it brought together around  
200 stakeholders including community housing 
advocates, financial institutions, developers, academics, 
federal, state and local government representatives  
to discuss how affordable housing can best be 
delivered in nsW. the feedback from the forums  
will help inform the work of the affordable Housing 
taskforce, which was set up to drive new planning 
policies to deliver affordable housing.

following on from amendments made to the state 
environmental planning policy (affordable rental 
Housing) 2009 in may 2011, the nsW government 

The North Penrith decision 
was a good example of 
State and local government 
working together.

Guide to Complying Development 

under the Rural Housing Code

Case study 
North Penrith approval 
construction work is underway on the former 
north penrith army site which, in late 2011 
received planning approval to support  
up to 1,000 new homes, more than seven 
hectares of open space and 2,500 construction 
and ongoing jobs.

the minister approved a rezoning and concept 
plan submitted by landcom for the 40 hectare 
site that adjoins the penrith city centre.

the assessment was a good example of state 
and local government working closely together 
for good outcomes. penrith city council was 
keen for the department to assess the project, 
because of its ability to coordinate other state 
agencies with an interest in the site.

the site is surplus commonwealth defence land 
that formerly housed an army base until 1994. 
the majority of structures present during the 
base’s operation have already been demolished. 

 construction work underway at north penrith.
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announced the establishment of the affordable Housing 
taskforce . this was set up to help drive new planning 
policies for delivering affordable housing, that meet 
community needs and respects local character. 

the taskforce is made up of experts with a range  
of backgrounds, including academics, planners, 
development groups, local government and the nsW 
government. the taskforce is supported by technical 
reference groups, made up of representatives from local 
councils, government agencies, social housing experts 
and the private sector. 

the taskforce is continuing to develop initiatives  
to encourage a wide range of housing types. 

Potential home sites program

the department commenced a review of potential 
housing opportunities on sites nominated by 
landowners. this followed the minister’s general 
invitation to landowners to submit expressions of interest 
if they are interested in developing their land for housing. 

the purpose of the review is to identify sites,  
in appropriate locations with adequate service  
and infrastructure provision, that will increase dwelling 
production in the short term at no additional cost  
to government. the program applies to greenfield sites 
of 100 hectares or more proposed predominantly for 
housing. forty three submissions were received by the 
closing date. a further two sites outside the sydney 
region that are over 100 hectares are being reviewed  
by the department under the same general terms  
as the review.

 affordable Housing forum, november 2011.

Regional round-up 
the department’s regional and other planning teams 
work closely with local councils to produce on-the-
ground housing outcomes. a particular focus for the 
department is to approve new council-wide leps and 
planning proposals, to ensure they are consistent with 
state planning policies. Below is a summary of housing 
outcomes across the department’s regions.

1 Sydney Region East

the Harold park paceway was approved in december 
2011. the local environmental plan (lep) caters for 
about 1,250 new dwellings and some commercial 
development.

rockdale’s new council-wide lep, which has the 
capacity to deliver about 5,900 dwellings, was approved 
in december 2011.

marrickville’s new council-wide lep was approved  
in december 2011. the lep provides for an additional 
4,247 new dwellings. it targets new housing 
development around the council area’s existing 
commercial centres. 

 marrickville town centre.

“This is great news for councils and 
recognises the extensive planning 
and consultation with the community 
involved in creating the new Local 
Environmental Plan.”
morris Hanna, marrickville mayor, on the release  
of the marrickville lep in december 2011

1
2

3

4

5

6
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exhibited plans for additional residential uses  
at darling island in the city of sydney.

commenced strategic reviews with local councils  
for potential housing growth sites at lane cove,  
oxford falls Valley and Warriewood (see more details  
in the strategic planning chapter on pages 58 and 59).

a total of 13 comprehensive leps exhibited during 2012 
including for ashfield, Botany, Burwood, canterbury, 
city of sydney, Hunters Hill, Hurstville, Kogarah, 
randwick, strathfield, Waverley, Woollahra and 
Willoughby.

2 Sydney West Region

planning for 50,000 homes was accelerated  
in sydney’s growth centres (see more details  
at the start of this chapter).

parramatta’s new council-wide lep, which will increase 
housing density and diversity around public transport 
hubs was approved in october 2011. 

Began review of 43 landowner-nominated major 
housing sites which have the potential to supply  
more than 100,000 homes, with 31 of these sites  
in Western sydney.

released guidelines and a regulation to unlock 
potentially thousands of lots in century-old ‘paper 
subdivisions’ at riverstone.

secured approval from the commonwealth to remove 
the need for case-by-case environmental approvals  
in Western sydney’s growth centres.

3 Hunter-Central Coast Region

about 18 additional infill sites were zoned for residential 
development, providing land for around 250 additional 
homes in the maitland council-wide lep approved  
in december 2011.

an amendment to the maitland lep which rezones 
around 650 hectares of rural land at lochinvar  
to accommodate up to 5,000 new homes was  
approved in november 2011.

about 1,000 new homes supported by the cessnock 
council-wide lep, approved in december 2011. it zones 
land to provide more than 1,000 additional residential 
lots at eight sites across cessnock. 

new planning controls exhibited for the Warnervale  
town centre in november 2011.

a draft development control plan for the major Huntlee 
development site was exhibited for public comment. 
four separate villages are proposed within the site.

in april 2012, two draft policies were exhibited for 
proposed residential release areas near catherine Hill 
Bay, in the lower Hunter. the policies were finalised  
in July 2012.

about 900 new dwellings supported as part of the 
rezoning of sites at nords Wharf, gwandalan and 
middle camp in april 2012.

4 Northern Region

a new vision and planning controls for the coffs 
Harbour city centre, which supports the provision of 
housing for 5,000 additional residents and the creation 
of 2,000 jobs, was approved in november 2011. 

the liverpool plains lep, which zones new residential 
land for around 500 homes near Quirindi, approved  
in december 2011.

up to 150 hectares of land zoned for new rural 
residential housing in the moree plains shire  
council-wide lep, approved in november 2011.

planning proposals and local environmental plans  
were finalised for land releases totalling capacity for 
approximately 2,850 residential lots over nine local 
government areas (clarence Valley, port macquarie, 
coffs Harbour, Byron, tweed, richmond Valley, 
gunnedah, uralla and nambucca). 

the second far north coast Housing and land monitor 
(2011) was finalised. the monitor will inform local 
government and state agencies in the future planning  
of service provision and future infrastructure investment 
priorities in the region.

the department approved a local growth management 
strategy for the maclean urban catchment (clarence 
Valley), which provides an additional 1,200 dwellings.

5 Southern Region

the Kiama lep was finalised, providing an additional 
capacity of 1,400 dwellings in and around the Kiama 
and gerringong town centres.

new council-wide leps were approved for gundagai, 
Boorowa and Bombala, which create greater certainty 
for these council areas and update and modernise their 
planning controls.  in the case of gundagai, the lep 
represents the first set of comprehensive planning 
controls to apply to the lga.

planning proposals and leps were finalised for land 
releases in Wagga Wagga and Wollongong totalling just 
over 500 dwellings.

gateway determinations were issued for planning 
proposals to allow for the potential rezoning  
of up to 3,000 dwellings, including significant release 
areas at Yallah-marshall mount in Wollongong and 
along the riverina Highway in albury.

the 2011 update of the illawarra urban development 
program was authorised for released.

the first south coast Housing and land monitor  
(2011) was finalised.  

Work commenced on a joint project with the act 
government and councils in the region around the  
act on a strategic land use and infrastructure plan.  
When complete, the plan will assist with the 
identification of appropriate land release, infrastructure 
management and cross-border service provision.

local land use strategies were considered for 
cootamundra, Kiama and Yass Valley.
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6 Western Region

a new comprehensive planning framework for dubbo 
was put in place in november 2011, which earmarks 
additional land for housing and employment in the 
medium to long term. the dubbo lep zones  
an additional 1,620 hectares for residential use.

the coonamble lep, which introduces residential, 
business and industrial zones in the coonamble 
township, was approved in october 2011.

>> Looking forward
the new planning system (including new legislation)  
will have a stronger focus on facilitating orderly housing 
growth and removing unnecessary impediments  
to housing supply.

We will have a more prominent role in coordinating 
infrastructure to support housing, through new growth 
infrastructure plans.

We will rollout a series of urban activation precincts  
to provide housing easily accessible by public transport 
and serviced by infrastructure.

We will expand our regular monitor to include dwelling 
completions.

We will expand the use of eplanning initiatives which  
make it easier to use the planning system to build  
new housing.

We will introduce an urban feasibility model to test  
the financial feasibility of new planning controls.

“The assistance from the 
department [with our LEP] 
was very much appreciated” 
ray smith, Bland shire general manager,  
15 december 2011

Case study 
West Dapto 
West dapto is the priority land release in the 
illawarra and while development of the initial 
stages has commenced, the fragmented land 
ownership (approximately 140 land owners 
across the release area) has made the resolution 
of planning outcomes and the coordination  
of infrastructure and servicing across multiple 
development fronts challenging to manage. 

the department, in collaboration with 
Wollongong city council, has established  
a new governance framework to ensure that 
specific outcomes are identified and progressed. 
this being done under the oversight of a project 
control group of senior officers from the council 
and regional agencies. this structure provides  
a project management approach to the individual 
tasks requiring resolution to deliver housing  
at West dapto.

one of the main outcomes from the process  
so far has been the development of a new 
access strategy for West dapto. a road network 
has been generally agreed to by council and the 
state. Work is now focussing on the timing and 
design of individual road projects that will  
be required as development progresses.

 construction underway at West dapto.
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2
Employment 
outcomes

Highlights  
2011–12

supported the Barangaroo 
review and approved two 
commercial buildings with 
10,000 jobs at site.

more than 300 hectares  
of proposed new employment 
land exhibited in Western 
sydney.

construction underway  
on the vital erskine park link 
road to accelerate 
development in the Western 
sydney employment area.

approved development 
proposals will create  
up to 24,000 ongoing jobs.

How we did  
it differently

Held a forum on employment 
lands in Western sydney  
to explain our work and seek 
input from stakeholders.

commenced work on  
a structure plan for the  
broader Western sydney 
employment area.

Began an employment lands 
audit to discover the blockages 
stopping new land coming  
to market.

Began working with other 
agencies to boost employment 
in the ‘global economic arc’ 
through macquarie park.
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“Our planning approval 
will generate 60 long 
term positions with 
over 100 short term 
construction jobs and 
help us build a local 
waste solution for the 
northern beaches.”
 aaron Hudson, ceo, Kimbriki resource 
recovery project

find out how the department 
helped create new jobs in the 
northern beaches  >>
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While it is important to provide land for 
housing, it is equally important to ensure 
the planning system supports employment 
near this housing.

The department has an important role 
ensuring our cities and centres, and 
other employment land, can cater for 
the employment needs of our regions. 
We also have a particular role protecting 
employment areas which are vital for the 
State’s economy, including Sydney Airport 
and the major ports of Sydney, Newcastle 
and the Illawarra.

Employment 
outcomes

Case study 
Kimbriki resource recovery project
a concept plan and major project application for 
the Kimbriki resource recovery project was 
approved in april 2012. the project included the 
construction and operation of two purpose-built 
advanced waste sorting and treatment facilities 
at the existing Kimbriki resource recovery 
centre (the Krrc) in Warringah local 
government area. 

the two facilities include:

 > a materials recovery facility which would 
process up to 60,000 tonnes per annum  
of dry recyclable materials collected as part  
of the municipal kerbside collection services 

 > a resource recovery facility incorporating  
an alternative waste technology facility and  
a separate maturation building, which would 
process up to 100,000 tonnes per annum  
of source separated food and garden organics 
and mixed municipal wastes.

the $70 million project is expected to generate 
80–100 construction jobs and 59 operational 
jobs.

the project will increase resource recovery  
from municipal waste collected by mosman, 
manly, Warringah and pittwater councils and 
divert valuable materials from landfill. further,  
the project will enable the shore regional 
organisation of councils to better manage their 
waste management costs, reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions associated with landfilling, and 
provide a regional solution for the disposal  
of residual putrescibles due to the pending 
closure of the landfill at the Belrose Waste and 
recycling centre.

  aaron Hudson, Kimbriki ceo at the Kimbriki landfill site.

>>
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Monitoring our  
employment lands  

Employment Lands Development Program

the employment lands development program (eldp) 
is the nsW government’s key program for managing 
the supply of employment lands for the sydney region 
and assisting associated infrastructure coordination. 
employment lands are commonly defined as dedicated 
industrial areas, which support the economy’s freight 
and industry needs. While these traditionally 
accommodate heavy and light industry, repair, service 
and utilities, business and freight and distribution 
terminals, many also now include office-based and 
knowledge-based industries.

the eldp 2011 update report was released in June 
2012. it showed stocks of zoned employment land  
in sydney increased in net terms by over 205 hectares 
during 2010, which was largely due to the release of 
employment land at marsden park (north West growth 
centre).  this brought the total stocks of zoned 
employment lands to 15,584 hectares at January 2011.

of this total stock, 4,543 hectares was undeveloped 
and, of this, only 892 hectares was also serviced  
(in terms of water and sewer connections). take-up  
of employment land by new development was  
264 hectares in 2008, dropping to 205 hectares in 2009 
and 153 hectares in 2010, following the impact of the 
global financial crisis.

substantial stocks of employment land are available to 
meet future demand, including proposed employment 
land already identified in planning strategies and the 
plans for the growth centres. further employment lands 
are also currently being investigated as an extension  
to the existing Western sydney employment area.

the eldp 2011 update report identified that the priority 
area for action was to increase the stocks of 
employment land which are both zoned and provided 
with key services and therefore more ready for 
development. the department is currently finalising  
the eldp 2012 update report.

The big numbers for Sydney  
and the Central Coast

15,584 Hectares of existing 
employment land, both occupied  
and vacant

3,651 Hectares of undeveloped land 
without water and sewer services

892 Hectares of undeveloped land 
with water and sewer services

3 Years supply of available 
undeveloped and serviced land 
using a high take-up rate (300 ha pa)

How we consulted 
Employment Lands Taskforce
in february 2011, the nsW government 
established an employment lands taskforce  
to inform the work of the eldp. it comprises 
senior representatives of government agencies, 
local government, industry stakeholders and 
independent experts.

the purpose of the taskforce is to advise  
on strategies, policies and implementation 
actions to secure appropriate development  
of employment lands in nsW to underpin jobs 
and economic growth.

a report to the minister for planning and 
infrastructure, Brad Hazzard was prepared  
by the taskforce for 2011, outlining work 
undertaken and key issues for consideration  
in the future work program of the taskforce.  
a copy of the taskforce report, along with the 
department’s response, is publicly available  
on the department’s website.

the report makes suggestions to increase  
the supply of employment land, such as more 
flexibility for employment uses in industrial areas 
and progressing the structure plan for the 
broader Western sydney employment area.

the taskforce continues to meet quarterly  
and plays a valuable role in providing advice  
to the department in regard to planning for 
employment lands.

 sydney employment lands.
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Growth centres 
employment overview
the department worked to ensure that new housing  
in sydney’s growth centres was accompanied by new 
employment areas. in total, precinct plans which set 
aside more than 300 hectares of proposed new 
employment areas were exhibited for public comment 
during 2011–12.

in particular:

 > the Box Hill and Box Hill industrial draft precinct plans 
catered for 60 hectares of business park land and  
60 hectares of light industrial land

 > the austral draft precinct plan included 36 hectares  
of light industrial land

 > the leppington north draft precinct plan included  
75 hectares of business park land, 25 hectares  
of bulky goods retail land and 55 hectares of light 
industrial land with access to be supported by the 
new  leppington rail station.

How we consulted 
Employment lands in Western 
Sydney – forum
in may 2012, the department organised a forum 
on employment lands in Western sydney,  
as a part of the series of consultation sessions 
with stakeholders held to inform the preparation  
of a new metropolitan strategy.

it also arose from discussions by the 
employment lands taskforce on key issues  
for future employment land development and  
job generation.

the key purpose of the forum was to advise  
of the latest work being undertaken by the 
department on planning for employment lands, 
including the work in preparing a new 
metropolitan strategy and, to listen to key 
stakeholders about issues relevant to them 
concerning the ongoing development of 
employment lands in Western sydney and ideas 
for how to move forward.

find out more >> 
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/employment-lands 

find out more >> 
www.growthcentres.nsw.gov.au  

Case study 
Homes next to jobs  
at Marsden Park
in July 2011, the nsW government announced  
it was accelerating plans for the marsden park 
residential precinct, in the north West growth 
centre, which is next door to a major  
employment area.

the marsden park residential precinct adjoins  
a 551 hectare area where a business park  
is currently under development with capacity  
for 17,000 jobs.

marsden park is being brought forward  
for release under the precinct acceleration 
protocol, which allows growth centre precincts  
to be considered for rezoning earlier than 
scheduled, provided there is no additional cost  
to taxpayers for planning and forward delivery  
of infrastructure.

 marsden park industrial rezoned.

Audit of employment lands

the department is undertaking an audit of 20 key 
employment lands precincts which contain large 
amounts of undeveloped zoned land. of this,  
17 precincts are located in Western sydney and three 
are on the central coast. together, these precincts 
represent almost 80 per cent of all the undeveloped 
zoned employment lands in the sydney region.

the purpose of the audit is to assist in developing  
an enhanced understanding of the constraints, 
impediments and opportunities for development  
of already zoned land.

stage 1 of the audit was completed in 2011. this was  
a comprehensive geographic information system (gis) 
mapping exercise which looked in detail at development 
and servicing status for each precinct. the results  
of this work have been published with the eldp 2011 
update report.

in the first half of 2012, the department carried out work 
on the stage 2 of the audit, which is a significant 
qualitative research exercise involving consultation with 
key stakeholders and site visits. the stage 2 audit will 
highlight key constraints and opportunities for take-up 
within each of the 20 precincts. ultimately, it is intended 
that the findings of the audit will help to coordinate the 
servicing of these already zoned employment lands  
to enable the land to be developed.
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Case study 
Wet’n’Wild
the department has an important role in 
assessing many major employment-generating 
development types.

in total, approved proposals during 2011–12 have 
the potential to create 24,000 ongoing jobs. 

for instance, during 2011–12 approvals were 
given to allow work to proceed on the Wet’n’Wild 
theme park in Western sydney. the department 
gave major development approval for the park  
in late 2011 followed by approval of an 
accompanying complying development code  
in may 2012. 

the code will allow construction of rides and 
attractions to be carried out without a separate 
development application. the department 
considered issues such as traffic and 
accessibility, noise and heritage in assessing  
the proposal. 

the start of construction at the park was 
launched by nsW premier Barry o’farrell in 
september 2012. the park will create more than 
300 construction and operational jobs and 
generate more than $500 million for the state’s 
economy.

 proposed Wet’n’Wild theme park development.

Barangaroo
during 2011–12 the department played an important role 
continuing planning for Barangaroo – arguably sydney’s 
most important new employment precinct.

additionally, in may 2011, the minister announced  
a ‘short-sharp’ review of planning processes relating  
to Barangaroo. the review report was submitted  
to the government on 1 august 2011, and concluded 
that the planning processes followed, and the planning 
outcomes approved to date, were appropriate.

notwithstanding, the review recommended further 
review of the designs for major commercial buildings at 
the site. in response, the government agreed there must 
be a high-quality design for these buildings.

in april 2012, the department approved two of the main 
commercial towers known as c3 and c5 at Barangaroo 
south, which combined with commercial building c4 
approved in 2010–11, paves the way forward for the site 
to become sydney’s newest financial services hub. 

c3 is a 48-storey commercial building and c5  
a 39-storey commercial building, which will create  
some 1,120 construction jobs and provide sufficient 
floor space for 10,300 workers. the department 
considered that the buildings exhibited design 
excellence, due to their high-quality materials and 
finishes and their high level of articulation.

 proposed Barangaroo developments.

7_Pyrmont_(all towers feb2012) Rev A.jpg

How we consulted 
Macquarie Park corridor  
working group
in may 2012, nsW government agencies and 
ryde city council formed a working group to 
plan for the future development of the macquarie 
park corridor.

macquarie park is expected to employ 56,000 
people by 2036 and is serviced by the epping  
to chatswood rail link and macquarie university. 
department staff will join representatives from  
the council and transport for nsW on the 
working group.
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the road has been funded through state infrastructure 
contributions. the department provided funding to the 
roads and maritime service for the design, approval 
and construction processes. 

in october 2011, construction of the road commenced 
and it is expected to open in mid-2013. as of august 
2012, earthworks and drainage works were complete, 
with public utility and bridge works still to be completed.

 Work underway on the erskine park link road.

Regional round-up
the department’s regional and other planning teams 
work closely with local councils to produce on-the-
ground employment outcomes. a particular focus for 
the department is to approve new council-wide leps 
and planning proposals, to ensure they are consistent 
with state planning policies. Below is a summary  
of employment outcomes across our regions.

1 Sydney Region East

rockdale lep, which has the capacity to deliver  
15,500 jobs approved in december 2011. growth will  
be targeted in Wolli creek and in existing employment 
areas at turrella, rockdale, West Botany, Kogarah and 
Brighton-le-sands.

small-scale live/work development opportunities and 
creative industries encouraged in some industrial areas 
in the marrickville lep.

rezoning of gray street industrial area at Kogarah for 
retail and commercial purposes, which could generate 
up to 740 jobs, supported in november 2011.

lep, which creates a commercial core development 
zone for Hurstville city centre, to help meet the local 
council’s employment targets, approved in august 2011.

establishment of macquarie park corridor  
working group.

approval granted by the planning assessment 
commission to expansion of the marrickville metro 
shopping centre.

potential for 70 hectares of new employment land  
in plans exhibited for the West menai area  
in december 2011.

“I am very happy the NSW 
Government has been 
able to work cooperatively 
with the council to develop 
these plans” 
coffs Harbour mayor Keith rhoades

Other employment projects
Coffs Harbour city centre

in november a new vision for the coffs Harbour city 
centre which will support 2,000 jobs and housing  
for 5,000 additional residents, was approved  
by the department. 

the new local environmental plan (lep) for the cBd, 
Jetty precinct and park Beach areas will sit alongside  
a vision statement and development control plan  
to guide coffs Harbour’s future for the next 25 years.  
the vision statement is geared towards making coffs 
Harbour a regional hub for education and employment, 
and incorporates the city’s strengths in health, 
education, retail and tourism.

these plans were developed in close consultation with 
the local community, with more than 400 submissions 
received.

 proposed coffs Harbour city plan. 

Erskine Park Link Road

the department has been the lead agency for the 
delivery of the seven kilometre erskine park link road. 
this road is vital to assist the orderly expansion of the 
Western sydney employment area, which is strategically 
positioned near the corner of the m4 and m7 motorways 
and is expected to eventually accommodate some 
40,000 jobs. the road will also guide employment area 
heavy traffic away from residential areas and towards 
the motorways.

the department has coordinated various aspects  
of the project, from design and approvals  
to construction as well as land acquisition.
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2 Sydney Region West

detailed plans were unveiled for the first stage  
of the oran park town centre, home to 5,000 jobs  
and 300 dwellings.

about 350 hectares of new employment areas in sydney’s 
growth centres outlined in exhibited precinct plans.

the department called for public input on plans for  
an 83 hectare intermodal terminal at moorebank, which 
will have capacity for one million containers per year.  

approval of 14-storey commercial building at george 
street, parramatta, after an assessment by parramatta 
city council.

3 Hunter-Central Coast Region

new employment land, known as cessnock civic, 
approved as part of the new cessnock council-wide lep.

in november 2011, the department sought feedback  
on a proposed residential, hotel, commercial and retail 
precinct at the landing site at gosford.

a development control plan for the Huntlee site, where 
200 hectares of employment land is proposed, was 
exhibited in June 2012.

4 Northern Region

about 2,000 jobs supported as part of approval  
of coffs Harbour city centre plan.

planning proposals have been finalised for several land 
releases supporting 124 hectares of employment land  
in two local government areas (port macquarie-
Hastings and nambucca).

prepared a draft policy to better plan for marine-based 
industry in appropriate waterways for consultation.

a working waterfront zone introduced for sites  
of significant existing marine-based industries  
in the clarence Valley lep.

5 Southern Region

department approved a planning proposal to allow the 
construction of the shoalhaven cancer centre at nowra, 
which will help create nearly 40 health professional jobs.

continued to assist the minister for illawarra with the 
illawarra employment lands taskforce by maintaining 
the database of employment lands in the illawarra and 
south coast regions.

endorsed the exhibition of the proposed rezoning  
of the 210 hectare ‘poplars’ site in Jerrabomberra, 
Queanbeyan to establish a business park with 
associated neighbourhood shops, private recreation 
areas and the protection of significant native grasslands 
through an environmental conservation zone.  
the business park zoning will refresh the nearly 
exhausted supply of employment lands in Queanbeyan 
and is consistent with the Queanbeyan residential  
and economic strategy 2031.

Worked with roads and maritime services and Wagga 
Wagga city council to resolve the road infrastructure 
needed to allow the first employment land subdivisions 
of the 2,500 hectare Bomen industrial area, which was 
rezoned as part of the Wagga Wagga local 
environmental plan 2010.

assisted eurobodalla shire council through a planning 
reform fund grant of $40,000 to prepare the 
eurobodalla economic development and employment 
lands strategy, which was endorsed by the director-
general in march 2012.

6 Western Region

575 hectares of new industrial land and 98 hectares  
of business land rezoned as part of approval  
of dubbo lep.

identifying appropriate commercial and industrial zones 
for employment and economic growth in the new Bland 
shire lep.

tourism zoning supported around the famous dog  
on the tuckerbox at gundagai as part of the shire’s first 
comprehensive planning controls in its 122 year history.

>> Looking forward
continue the work of the employment lands 
development program and taskforce.

complete the second stage of the audit of the 20 key 
employment lands precincts containing significant 
amounts of undeveloped zoned lands.

further plan for employment lands as part of the  
review of sydney’s metropolitan strategy, particularly  
in Western sydney.

continue to work on the draft structure plan for the 
broader Western sydney employment area.

support planning which protects the ongoing operation 
of sydney airport and the state’s key ports.

deliver a planning framework which supports jobs at 
newcastle cBd, as the regional city of the lower Hunter.

“The assistance from the 
department has… 
accelerated the preparation  
of our new LEP” 
Weddin mayor maurice simpson, 7 december 2011

1
2

3

4

5

6
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3
Infrastructure 
outcomes

Highlights  
2011–12

established the department  
as a leader within the nsW 
government coordinating 
infrastructure required to 
support growth.

Helped coordinate major 
upgrades of roads to boost 
growth in the north West and 
south West growth centres.

We worked to gain more than 
$500 million in additional 
funding for infrastructure  
in the 2012–13 Budget.

coordinated more than  
$90 million worth of 
infrastructure and planning 
funding agreements with  
major developers.

How we did  
it differently

We worked closely with  
other agencies to progress 
infrastructure and policies 
which support housing  
and jobs.

We’ve obtained additional 
funding for local councils that 
support growth via the urban 
activation precinct scheme.

We placed all voluntary 
planning agreements online  
for transparency.
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“More roads and 
transport mean more 
housing and jobs”
noel clipsham, project engineer,  
roads and maritime services 

find out how the department 
worked with other agencies  
to accelerate the camden 
Valley Way upgrade  >>
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During 2011–12, the department 
established itself as a leader within the 
NSW Government coordinating the 
infrastructure needed to support growth.

It prepares long-term plans which link 
proposed new housing and employment 
areas to new or existing infrastructure.  
It also oversees the planning system which 
makes decisions on proposals which may 
have infrastructure impacts, along with 
coordinating major infrastructure funding 
agreements with developers and State 
infrastructure contributions.

The department’s role in planning and 
coordinating infrastructure for growth 
precincts will increase following major 
initiatives in the 2012–13 NSW Budget.

Infrastructure 
outcomes

Case study 
Camden Valley Way upgrade
during 2011–12, the department worked with 
roads and maritime services and transport for 
nsW to bring forward funding to achieve an 
earlier completion date for the camden Valley 
Way upgrade.

in July 2011 roads and maritime services (rms) 
had begun upgrades to the camden Valley Way 
from a two lane road to a four lane divided road 
however there was no end date for the works  
to complete the entire 25km length. in January 
2012, the nsW government announced the 
upgrade would be completed by 2016 and in 
June 2012 brought forward this completion date 
to 2015.

project engineer for roads and maritime 
services, noel clipsham said, “Working with the 
department and transport for nsW has ensured 
an early completion of the camden Valley Way 
upgrade, which will bring vital infrastructure to 
sydney’s south West to align with the south West 
rail link. more roads and transport mean more 
housing and jobs.”

previous delays associated with delivering this 
project had the potential to slow down the 
delivery of housing in the south West growth 
centre, in particular the early release precincts  
of oran park and turner road.  

the road will now be completed to align with the 
completion (and first train) of the south West rail 
link, thus achieving broader public transport 
objectives for the south West of sydney, and 
assist housing and employment land releases. 

 noel clipsham and Waal asmar, project engineers at roads 
and maritime services at the camden Valley Way upgrade site.

>>
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Better linking infrastructure 
and growth
in the past, major infrastructure upgrades generally 
responded to the need to relieve congestion or increase 
capacity in a particular corridor or area without this 
necessarily being linked to expected growth. in other 
words, infrastructure funding often reacted to existing 
problems rather than supporting new communities.  
a key focus of the department’s work in 2011–12  
was to begin to work with other agencies to elevate 
housing and employment growth as drivers  
of infrastructure spending.

this process was assisted by the cabinet taskforce  
on Housing supply, which was established in late 2011 
to develop and coordinate a whole-of-government 
response to improve housing supply in nsW. the 
taskforce comprises key ministers with a direct portfolio 
responsibility for the delivery of zoned and serviced land 
to the market to facilitate the development of new 
housing and housing choices. further details about  
its work are available in the Housing outcomes chapter 
on page 11.

in 2011–12, the taskforce oversaw major 
announcements which will result in accelerated 
upgrades to the camden Valley Way and  
richmond road.

Major 2012–13 Budget initiatives

the department coordinated an important budget 
announcement which delivered major increased  
funding for growth infrastructure projects in the  
2012–13 nsW Budget. 

as part of the Budget, the government announced  
a $481 million Housing acceleration fund (Haf)  
to be invested in infrastructure needed to support 
housing across the state, particularly in greenfield 
areas. it also announced a $50 million fund for a new 
urban activation precinct program to unlock infill 
development opportunities.

as part of the Haf, some $181 million in funding  
for an initial list of 10 infrastructure projects was 
announced in major housing growth areas across  
nsW including sydney, the illawarra, Wyong and port 
macquarie. these projects will support the delivery  
of up to 76,000 new homes to boost housing supply 
across the state and are listed below.

the urban activation precincts support scheme will 
offer councils infrastructure support payments linked  
to increased housing supply in key urban areas  
close to jobs and transport. the government’s aim  
is to unlock housing supply in infill areas where they  
are needed most.

the Budget also includes $5 million to improve 
infrastructure planning and delivery including 
implementing growth infrastructure plans, engaging 
release area delivery managers and reviewing 
development contributions. 

find out more >> 
www.budget.nsw.gov.au

Case study 
Richmond Road
the nsW government has decided to bring 
forward the upgrade of richmond road  
to support the release of new housing estates 
and the creation of around 10,000 jobs in north 
Western sydney. 

it was announced in June 2012 that the upgrade 
of richmond road between townson road  
and grange avenue had been brought forward 
by four years. construction will start this year 
rather than 2016–17 as originally planned,  
and is expected to be completed by 2014. 

this significant investment in western sydney 
demonstrates the nsW government’s 
commitment to improving infrastructure.  
the upgrade of richmond road is critical to 
support the new housing and employment areas 
which are rapidly developing along richmond 
road. it is a crucial piece of supporting 
infrastructure for the marsden park employment 
area, which is already under construction and 
has the potential to accommodate 10,000 jobs.

richmond road passes through the north West 
growth centre and forms the main north south 
corridor connecting the proposed industrial and 
residential developments around marsden park 
to the m7 motorway.  

 current condition of richmond road.

The upgrade of Richmond Road 
is critical to support the new 
housing and employment areas 
which are rapidly developing 
along Richmond Road.
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Collecting and organising 
infrastructure funding
Planning agreements

planning agreements between the government and 
developers are used to deliver infrastructure to support 
development, usually in an urban release or growth 
area. such infrastructure may include affordable 
housing, transport, roads, utilities, and can also  
include some town planning costs.

during 2011–12, the department prepared three 
standard planning agreements. these template 
agreements are suitable where the developer proposes 
to make a monetary contribution towards designated 
state public infrastructure. these templates have been 
successfully used in a number of instances and have 
reduced legal drafting costs and delays. 

during 2011–12, seven agreements were executed  
and four further agreements were exhibited.

find out more >> 
vparegister.planning.nsw.gov.au

Special Infrastructure Contributions and  
works-in-kind agreements

the special infrastructure contribution (sic)  
is a financial payment made by the developer during  
the development process to help fund regional 
infrastructure, such as roads and open space.

in 2011–12 contributions were collected by the 
department’s infrastructure planning and coordination 
branch for the south West and north West growth 
centres, and the urban development areas of elderslie, 
spring farm and Balmoral road (Kellyville). for 2011–12 
a total of $4.2 million was collected in sic contributions.

the dedication of land or construction of capital works  
or other services may be accepted in lieu of a monetary 
sic (known as works-in-kind). in 2011–12 the department 
secured approximately $42 million of works-in-kind within 
the growth centres alone. in this way, the private sector 
can provide essential infrastructure ahead of when the 
government may be able to.

Case study 
Googong township, Queanbeyan
the googong urban release area is a new 
township to be built on 780 hectares of former 
grazing land. it is anticipated that the 
development will take approximately 20–25 years 
to create and include approximately 5,550 homes 
of varying types and sizes to house about  
16,000 people. it is one of two development 
fronts identified in the Queanbeyan residential 
and economic strategy 2031 to meet the housing 
needs of the rapidly growing Queanbeyan area.

on 15 september 2011, a planning agreement 
was entered into by the minister for planning and 
infrastructure, Brad Hazzard and googong 
development corporation pty ltd to secure 
developer contributions towards the delivery  
of state public infrastructure for the new 
googong township. 

the agreement confirms that the developer will 
make monetary contributions towards the costs 
of acquisition of land for the purposes of a fire 
station (2,000 square metre site), two primary 
schools (one site being 2.81 hectares and the 
other three hectares in size) and a high school 
(six hectare site). alternatively, the developer may 
elect to dedicate all 12.01 hectares of land for the 
above sites. 

the execution of this agreement marked  
a significant milestone in the progress and 
development of the new googong township.   

 club googong will provide recreation facilities and a place  
to meet your neighbours.

How we consulted 
Interaction with other agencies
the department played a key role in the 
development of major infrastructure plans  
across government. 

for instance, we worked closely with transport 
for nsW in the creation of its long-term 
transport masterplan and with infrastructure 
nsW as it developed its state infrastructure 
strategy.

the director-general, sam Haddad, is on the 
board of infrastructure nsW and also was  
the co-chair of a Joint study on aviation  
capacity in the sydney region presented  
to the commonwealth and nsW governments.
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Table 3.1: Initial projects funded via Housing Acceleration Fund

Project and location Local government area Homes

Camden Valley Way upgrade (various projects) Camden/Liverpool Up to 41,500

Richmond Road upgrade (Townson Road to grange Avenue) Blacktown Up to 12,000

Schofields Road construction (Railway Terrace to Veron Road) Blacktown Up to 2,000

first Ponds Creek – construction of wastewater infrastructure Blacktown Up to 5,000

North Kellyville – construction of wastewater infrastructure The Hills Up to 2,000

epping town centre – road/intersection upgrade Hornsby/Parramatta Up to 4,000

Land acquisition at green Square town centre City of Sydney Up to 2,400

West Dapto Stages – wastewater extensions Wollongong Up to 1,000

Warnervale town centre – Sparks Road intersection upgrade Wyong Up to 1,600

Thrumster release area – water reservoir Port Macquarie – Hastings Up to 4,500

Table 3.2: Executed planning agreements

Location Purpose Value Date 
executed

Camden Lakeside Contributions towards designated State public infrastructure. estimated at 
$9 million

26/4/2012

Shone Avenue, West Dapto Contribution towards designated State public infrastructure  
in accordance with the draft determination for the Illawarra 
Special Infrastructure Contribution (SIC)

$405,386 21/12/2011

Light Horse Interchange, 
eastern Creek Waste facility

Contributions for the provision of regional transport infrastructure 
and services (including the erskine Park Link Road network), for 
land at Old Wallgrove Road, eastern Creek

$8,202,000 11/4/2012

North Cooranbong 
(amendment)

Payment of monetary contributions towards the cost of public 
facilities, conservation, and vegetation offsets, the dedication  
of land for education facilities and, if agreed, the carrying out  
and handing over of works for the purpose of public facilities

estimated at 
$25 million

22/12/2011

Radford Park, Branxton The provision of designated State public infrastructure,  
in connection with a development application lodged with 
Singleton Council for residential subdivision

estimated at 
$1.2 million

17/5/2012

Kurri Kurri (Heddon greta) The provision of designated State public infrastructure within the 
meaning of clause 6.1 of the Cessnock City Local environmental 
Plan 2011

$130,659 25/6/2012

googong Costs of acquisition of land for the purpose of a fire station,  
two primary schools and a high school

$3 million 15/9/2011

Total $46.9 million

disclaimer: the value of these agreements is very much indicative only, and in most cases, the total value of the pa will be based on the future actual 
development yield (as contributions are usually based on rates which are calculated against net developable area per subdivision as development 
progresses). Where there is land to be dedicated, the value of the pa is therefore based on land value which fluctuates.

Table 3.3: Notified planning agreements

Location Purpose Value Notification 
period

Australand development, 
Western Sydney 
employment Area

Designated State public infrastructure within the 
meaning of clause 29 of the State environmental 
Planning Policy (SePP) (Western Sydney 
employment Area) 2009

$2 million (rate of $180,000 
– based on net developable 

area and progressive 
subdivision plans)

25/7/2012  
– 24/8/2012

Bellbird North  
(Tennant Street)

State designated infrastructure, in connection with 
a development application lodged with Cessnock 
Council for residential subdivision

estimated $462,000 7/3/2012  
– 9/4/2012

Bingara gorge (Wilton) Replaces existing State Development Agreement estimated at $40 million 24/7/2012  
– 24/8/2012

east Leppington fund certain costs associated with precinct 
planning

Unknown until costs are 
incurred – max offset is  

$3 million

25/7/2012  
– 5/9/2012

Total $45.5 million

disclaimer: the value of the pas is very much indicative only, and in most cases, the total value of the pa will be based on the future actual development  
yield (as contributions are usually based on rates which are calculated against net developable area per subdivision as development progresses).  
Where there is land to be dedicated, the value of the pa is therefore based on land value which fluctuates.
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Infrastructure funding 
schemes
Local Infrastructure Fund

the nsW local infrastructure fund (lif) was 
established in 2009 as an interest free loan scheme 
 to facilitate local infrastructure projects which could 
assist growth, including housing and employment. 

the program provided some $179 million in funding  
for local roads, sewerage and drainage projects,  
as well as water supply projects. the lif is separate  
to the local infrastructure renewal scheme, which  
is a fund to assist local councils with backlog 
infrastructure managed by the division of local 
government.

in 2011–12, councils had confirmed that ten lif projects 
were completed.

Priority Infrastructure Fund

the priority infrastructure fund (pif) is a temporary 
measure to fund councils where the cost of delivering 
essential infrastructure exceeded the amount they could 
collect from local developer contributions.

the independent pricing and regulatory tribunal (ipart) 
makes the decision if a council is eligible for the funding 
by determining if the cost of delivering the essential 
infrastructure is greater than the cap imposed on local 
contributions. ipart reviewed three development areas 
where the developer contribution was found to exceed 
the cap – the riverstone development in the Blacktown 
council area and the Balmoral road and north Kellyville 
developments in Hills shire council.

in June 2012, the Hills shire council received  
$17.4 million and Blacktown city council received 
$560,000 in funding. the program ran for a two year 
period over 2010–11 to 2011–12. the pif is no longer 
active however councils are still able to receive funding 
under the Housing acceleration fund.

Precinct Acceleration Protocol

the precinct acceleration protocol (pap) allows 
developers to release a precinct within the growth 
centres, ahead of the government’s planned land 
release program. this process is subject to a key 
condition being that there will be no additional cost  
to government as a result of accelerating a precinct 

in the past year the department released two additional 
precincts through the pap process – the marsden park 
precinct and part of the catherine field precinct.  
this decision will allow the release of approximately 
10,000 future homes in the marsden park precinct and 
3,000 additional homes in the catherine field precinct. 
approximately $3.5 million in precinct planning was 
undertaken to support the release, which was funded 
through planning agreements with developers.

Assessments

during 2011–12, some 71 infrastructure projects were 
approved with a potential value of more than $4.6 billion, 
following a departmental assessment. the department 
also established a new assessment system which 
specifically catered for state significant infrastructure 
proposals. 

>> Looking forward
coordinating the major 2012–13 nsW Budget initiatives 
to support the infrastructure needed for housing growth.

examining a new regime for local and regional 
infrastructure funding as part of the creation  
of a planning system.

rolling out urban activation precincts in areas well-
serviced by infrastructure.

implementation of growth infrastructure plans to better 
coordinate infrastructure delivery in growth areas.

Table 3.4: Progress on Local Infrastructure Fund projects

Council Project LIf funding (million) Completion date

Albury City Council Hamilton Valley Urban growth area road network 
upgrade and rehabilitation

$3.78 March 2012

Ballina Shire Council Wollongbar urban expansion area link road $2.8 November 2011

Clarence Valley Council Clarence Valley Stormwater management project $1.01 March 2012

gloucester Shire Council Reeve Subdivision – urban services $1.2 Confirmation of date of 
completion pending

gosford City Council Replace sewer pump station at Point frederick,  
near gosford CBD

$1.5 January 2012

goulburn Mulwaree Council Upgrade of Marys Mount Road and stormwater $1.5 April 2012

great Lakes Council Myall Way upgrade $1.22 December 2011

griffith City Council Yambil Street drainage upgrade and diversion $1.8 June 2012

guyra Shire Council Manse Street subdivision urban services $1.6 December 2011

Hawkesbury City Council Upgrade existing south Windsor sewer infrastructure $4.0 June 2012

Muswellbrook Shire Council Traffic Infrastructure supporting urban development  
in Muswellbrook

$1.56 December 2011

Narrabri Shire Council Shannon estate Subdivision – urban services $3.0 Confirmation of date of 
completion pending

Total $24.97
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Case study 
Local Infrastructure Fund  
– Albury City Council
in march 2012, albury city council completed 
about 1.8km of road works funded by the lif  
to assist growth in the Hamilton Valley residential 
area. up until this funding was made available 
albury city council was not able to complete  
the upgrade due to lack of funds as it was 
required to upgrade other essential infrastructure 
in the area. 

this lack of funds was delaying the delivery  
of new land for housing within the local market, 
however with the support of the nsW 
government the local area is now able to provide 
land for further housing developments.  
the funding supports safe access and improved 
connectivity throughout the valley, which will in 
turn attract investment in residential development 
in this area.   

 completed road works on Hanna street in Hamilton Valley.

How we consulted 
Infrastructure consultation
the department liaises regularly with various 
agencies, both at state and federal level, and also 
with local councils throughout the state, regarding 
the planning and delivery of infrastructure.

the department also works closely with 
infrastructure nsW (insW), in order to ensure  
that the planning and provision of infrastructure  
is carried out in a well planned and prioritised 
manner.

the director-general is a member of the board  
of insW. the infrastructure planning and 
coordination Branch of the department, supports 
the director-general in his role with insW. 

Case study 
Pacific Highway upgrade  
– Oxley Highway to Kempsey
in february 2012, approval was granted for  
the pacific Highway upgrade – oxley Highway  
to Kempsey project.  the project is to provide  
37 kilometres of four-lane divided carriageway 
between the oxley Highway at port macquarie 
and stumpy creek to the south of Kempsey.

the key components of the project include major 
bridge structures for the Hastings river and 
Wilson river crossings and a bypass of 
telegraph point. it also includes major cuttings 
through cooperabung Hill and new light and 
heavy vehicle rest areas near mingaletta road.

the oxley Highway to Kempsey project is one  
of a number of upgrade projects that together 
form the pacific Highway upgrade program.  
the pacific Highway upgrade program is a joint 
commitment of the federal and nsW 
governments to upgrade the pacific Highway 
between Hexham and the Queensland border  
to a four lane divided road.

the roads and maritime services committed  
to prepare and implement a biodiversity offset 
strategy to offset the ecological impacts of the 
project, consistent with the offset requirements  
of other sections of the pacific Highway upgrade. 
the approval also requires roads and maritime 
services to undertake operational noise 
monitoring within 12 months of the opening  
of the project and implement additional noise 
mitigation measures where required.

 cooperabung Hill.
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4
State significant 
development 
decisions

Highlights  
2011–12

repealed the part 3a system 
and implemented the new 
transparent state significant 
assessment system.

more than $10 billion worth  
of approvals.

Benchmarks met for timely 
decisions on state significant 
development (ssd) proposals.

$24 billion worth of development 
proposals lodged for new state 
significant assessment system.

more than 150 compliance 
actions against approved 
projects for consent condition 
breaches – an increase  
of nearly 30 per cent.

How we did  
it differently

removed politics from the 
decision making process.

93 per cent of major approvals 
made by independent experts 
at the department or planning 
assessment commission.

returned planning powers  
to local government through 
regional planning panel and 
part 3a reforms. 

allowed people to read the 
department’s assessment 
reports before final decisions 
were made.

required agricultural impact 
statements for all mining and 
coal seam gas proposals  
with the potential to impact 
agricultural land and water 
resources.

guidelines for wind farm 
assessments placed on  
public exhibition.
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“The thorough planning 
and execution…has 
delivered a world 
class precinct for our 
employees and the 
broader community.”
Jennifer saiz, Head of group property, 
commonwealth Bank 

find out how southern  
darling Harbour was 
transformed into a jobs  
and leisure hub  >>
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The department has a long-standing role 
assessing the State’s most significant  
and complex development proposals. 
These projects typically have potential 
major economic benefits but also potential 
environmental and amenity impacts  
and therefore need to be subjected  
to a rigorous decision-making process. 
2011–12 was a year of major policy change 
in the department’s assessment role, with 
the former Part 3A system closed for new 
projects and a new more transparent State 
significant assessment system introduced.

State significant 
development 
decisions

Case study 
Darling Quarter
in september 2011, premier Barry o’farrell 
officially opened the outdoor area of the  
$500 million darling Quarter development,  
at south darling Harbour. this area includes  
a 4,000 square metre public playground  
(the largest in sydney) and a community green.

the precinct also includes two eight-storey office 
buildings, bars and restaurants and a youth 
theatre. the commonwealth Bank moved into  
the buildings in June 2011, while the theatre was 
opened by deputy premier andrew stoner  
in september 2012.

the department strongly supported moves  
to create a high-quality urban renewal outcome 
in this area. Buildings were carefully designed 
with a sloping roof to complement the nearby 
public domain and integrate with the city skyline.

a new pedestrian link through the site, referred  
to as the civic connector, creates a gateway  
to darling Harbour that connects to town Hall 
station, chinatown and the darling Harbour 
waterfront.

“the thorough planning and execution of the 
darling Quarter development, and our new home 
at commonwealth Bank place, has delivered  
a world class precinct for our employees and the 
broader community,” said Jennifer saiz, Head  
of group property at commonwealth Bank.

a major part of the project, commonwealth  
Bank place, comprises two commercial office 
buildings with around 58,000 square metres  
of office space. some 6,300 employees have 
moved into the building as of early 2012. 

 Jennifer saiz, Head of group property in the atrium  
at commonwealth Bank place

>>
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Assessment outcomes

Overview

In 2011–12, a total of 403 major development  
proposals were approved and nine were refused.  
Those approved had a combined capital investment 
value of approximately $10.5 billion with the potential  
to generate more than 24,000 ongoing jobs and more 
than 34,000 construction jobs.

The 2011–12 refusal rate of 2.2 per cent is broadly  
in line with the refusal rate in the local development 
assessment system (2.8 per cent in 2010–11).

Table 4.1: Approvals by assessment system 2011–12

Approvals 1Construction jobs Operational jobs Capital investment value

Part 3A concept plans

Minister 1 1,700 770 $424,000,000

Department 8 3,521 7,995 $1,058,822,791

Planning Assessment Commission 12 20,851 7,723 $1,693,966,594

Sub total 21 26,072 16,488 $3,176,789,385

State significant development applications

Department 3 352 105 $63,804,976

Planning Assessment Commission 1 $2,354,000

Sub total 4 352 105 $66,158,976

Part 3A project applications2

Minister 6 2,790 22 $3,320,000,000

Department 44 1,962 3,270 $1,155,724,660

Planning Assessment Commission 29 2,993 3,898 $2,540,766,772

Sub total 79 7,745 7,190 $7,016,491,432

Part 4 developments

Department 38 93 102 $16,707,550

Planning Assessment Commission 1 9 104 $1,000,000

Sub total 39 102 206 $17,707,550

Modifications

Part 3A modifications

Minister 2 3 0 $300,000

Department 184 242 30 $312,442,125

Planning Assessment Commission 50 175 110 $5,150,000

Sub total 236 420 140 $317,892,125

Part 4 modifications

Department 19 11 0 $3,677,000

Planning Assessment Commission 5 7 2 $5,700,000

Sub total 24 18 2 $9,377,000

Grand total 403 34,709 24,131 $10,604,416,468

1 Full Time Equivalent resources. 2 excludes Capital Investment Value and jobs for project application approvals where a previous or concurrent concept  
plan has been approved. Jobs/FTE Resources and Capital Investment Value provided by proponent.

Assessment timeframe benchmarks

During 2011–12, the department completed its 
assessment of four State significant development (SSD) 
projects all within four months. 

This outcome exceeded the benchmarks set in the NSW 
2021 plan released in September 2011, which required 
85 per cent of SSD and State significant infrastructure 
(SSI) projects to be assessed and determined within 
four months. This four month period includes a 30-day 
exhibition period and three months after the developer 
has responded to submissions. No SSI projects were 
determined in 2011–12.

A total of 106 Part 3A projects were determined during 
2011–12. The department completed its assessment of 
41 per cent of these projects within four months. In June 
2012, the NSW Government announced $13 million  
in additional funding to the department to accelerate  
the assessment of all outstanding Part 3A projects  
by June 30, 2013 (12 months earlier than scheduled).  
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De-politicising the system 

during 2011–12, independent experts at the planning 
assessment commission (pac ) had an increased role 
determining major development proposals. this 
followed the minister of planning and infrastructure, 
Brad Hazzard, signing new development decision 
delegations in september 2011.

the pac makes decisions on the most contentious 
proposals, including where 25 or more public objections 
have been lodged, a reportable political donation has 
been made or where the local council has objected  
to the project.

in 2011–12, the pac was responsible for 40 per cent  
of approvals given to new part 3a and state significant 
development projects (excluding modifications and 
relatively minor part 4 projects). this compares to just 
21 per cent of these major approvals in 2010–11.

the department was responsible for 53 per cent  
of major approvals in 2011–12, which was generally 
consistent with 2010–11.

the increased workload by the department and pac  
is part of an ongoing move to de-politicise the planning 

How we consulted 
Community and council 
consultation
the state significant assessment system 
generally deals with the largest and most 
complex development proposals in nsW. it is 
imperative, therefore, that the system enables 
local communities and councils to have their say.

at the start of the process, the department seeks 
council input on director-general’s requirements 
(dgr) and will also require the developer to 
expressly consult with the local community and 
the relevant council in preparing its application.

 the application is also referred to the relevant 
local council at a number of subsequent stages 
in the assessment, including prior to public 
exhibition and once the developer has 
responded to issues raised in submissions.

the views received from local councils and 
communities are given considerable weight  
in the department’s assessment of any project. 

if approval is being recommended,  
the department continues to seek the input  
of relevant local councils even at this final stage  
of the process through the preparation of draft 
approval conditions. and if a local council 
objects to a project, then it cannot be determined 
by departmental staff under delegation and must 
be determined by the planning assessment 
commission.

How we consulted  
Online lodgement and project 
delivery
the department has introduced an online 
lodgement system to streamline the processing 
of state significant development proposals. 

director-general’s requirements (dgrs) outline 
the key issues which need to be addressed  
by the proponent in any plans to be placed  
on public exhibition.

during the calendar year of 2011, it took 79 days 
for the department to issue dgrs in response  
to newly lodged proposals. 

the online system, along with monitoring and 
management by the department’s project 
delivery unit, helped cut the average turnaround 
time to 23 days by the middle of 2012. it has also 
made it easier to publish information on the 
website in a timely manner.

the previous paper-based system was causing 
delays because of the administrative time spent 
sending the material to different stakeholders  
for comment.

the project delivery unit’s project managers work 
with assessment teams to resolve conflicts and 
issues to enable delivery of projects within 
benchmark timeframes.

the next step is to expand the program to 
include online lodgements of environmental 
impact statements and preferred project reports.

 online lodgment for state significant assessments.

system by having independent experts, rather than 
elected officials, determining applications.

the minister’s role determining projects has reduced 
from 31 per cent of major approvals in 2010–11 to just 
seven per cent in 2011–12. the minister’s determination 
role during 2011–12 covered projects lodged by a public 
authority other than a local council.  

find out more  >>
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/delegated-decisions
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Table 4.2 Percentage of major approvals by determining authority in 2011–12

Decider 12008–09 12009–10 12010–11 12011–12

Minister 94% 53% 31% 7%

Department 5% 34% 48% 53%

Planning Assessment Commission 1% 13% 21% 40%

1 Figures are based on new Part 3A and State significant development approvals but do not include modifications or the relatively minor Part 4 approvals

Table 4.3: Refused projects

Name of project Date refused

Residential development, Allengrove Road, North Ryde 3 May 2012

Kemps Creek logistics project, Kemps Creek 5 June 2012

Dolans Bay marina 20 April 2012

Residential subdivision, Hastings Point 9 February 2012

Mixed use development, Crown Street, Wollongong 21 September 2011

Calderwood residential subdivision project application, Calderwood 17 April 2012

Proposed modification to approved Valla subdivision regarding dog and cat restriction 3 May 2012

Modification to amend condition regarding car parking at Killeaton Street, St Ives 1 December 2011

Proposed modification to Southern Highlands Regional Shooting Complex Hill Top 7 May 2012

Table 4.4: Approvals by region 2011–12

Region Approvals 1Construction Jobs Operational Jobs Capital Investment Value

Sydney 237 29,544 20,035 $4,829,412,569

Hunter 39 951 1,833 $1,263,485,000

Illawarra 28 818 1,641 $686,566,000

Mid-North Coast 13 1,997 124 $2,542,090,702

Richmond-Tweed 15 15 115 $12,820,797

North Western 2 0 0 $21,000,000

Central West 9 195 92 $93,189,000

Murrumbidgee 6 15 16 $179,500,000

Murray 2 1 2 $75,000

Far West 1 2 0 $6,600,000

South Eastern 44 516 117 $277,573,400

Northern 10 655 156 $692,104,000

Grand Total 2403 34,709 24,131 $10,604,416,468

1 Excludes Capital Investment Value and jobs for project application approvals where a previous or concurrent concept plan has been approved.  
Jobs/FTE Resources and Capital Investment Value provided by proponent 

2 Includes three projects crossing regional boundaries – in these instances, the projects are counted in both regions, and the jobs and CIV are divided 
between the regions involved

Table 4.5: Approvals by sector 2011–12

Sector Approvals 1Construction Jobs Operational Jobs Capital Investment Value

Industry 104 2,677 6,953 $2,256,589,000

Tourism and recreation 26 289 307 $226,708,157

Infrastructure 71 4,550 1,116 $4,658,008,301

Coastal projects 31 347 264 $327,352,702

Residential, commercial and retail 133 26,773 15,343 $3,123,066,908

Other 38 73 148 $12,691,400

Total project approvals 403 34,709 24,131 $10,604,416,468

1 Full Time Equivalent resources. Counts exclude Capital Investment Value and jobs for project application approvals where a previous or concurrent concept 
plan has been approved. Jobs/FTE Resources and Capital Investment Value provided by proponent.
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Case study 
Frank Gehry building
in march 2012, the department approved a 
landmark new $125 million educational building, 
designed by pritzker architecture prize winning 
architect frank gehry for the university  
of technology sydney campus in ultimo. 

Based in los angeles, mr gehry is famous  
for designing many major projects including the 
Bilbao guggenheim museum in spain, the Walt 
disney concert Hall in los angeles and the 
dancing House in prague.

up to 1,256 students and 326 academic staff will 
study and work in the building once completed. 
the project was approved by the department 
after a comprehensive exhibition and 
consultation process, and rigorous assessment, 
which included working closely with the city  
of sydney council. the department was  
satisfied the new building would provide  
a new educational facility of the highest  
design standards.

the department’s assessment concluded  
that the design and scale of the building is 
appropriate for the campus and demonstrates 
design excellence, making it likely to become  
an iconic building in the ultimo-pyrmont area. 
the approval of this project is also consistent 
with the implementation of the university’s 
campus masterplan.

 proposed education building at the university of technology 
sydney campus.

Case study 
Shoalhaven cancer centre
in march 2012, a proposal for an integrated 
cancer care facility at shoalhaven was approved. 
the facility will service the south coast region 
and provide treatment for 580 radiotherapy 
patients and 220 chemotherapy patients 
annually. 

it was the second project approved under the 
new state significant development assessment 
system. additionally, the proposal included 
eighteen patient and carer units accommodation.

the $33.9 million project is expected to generate 
352 construction jobs and 452 flow-on jobs 
whilst the operational centre would directly 
accommodate 37 health professionals.

it was the second project approved under the 
new state significant development assessment 
system. additionally, the proposal included 
eighteen patient and carer units accommodation.

the proposal will be a modern facility that 
replaces existing cancer care services provided 
at the shoalhaven Base Hospital in nowra,  
and will provide for two linear accelerators,  
two radiotherapy bunkers, eight additional 
chemotherapy chairs and medical diagnostic 
equipment.

the department considered the following  
key issues during its assessment: heritage 
conservation, traffic and parking, radio/chemical 
pollution and the retention of trees on site.  
it imposed a range of conditions to ensure  
the construction and operations of the facilities  
are appropriately managed.

 proposed shoalhaven cancer centre
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State significant assessment 
system new features
 > no longer includes residential, commercial  
or retail projects outside of key urban renewal 
sites, nor marinas or coastal subdivisions.

 > de-politicised decision making with 
contentious private proposals referred to 
planning assessment commission for final 
decision and less contentious proposals 
decided by departmental officers.

 > limitations on minister’s power to call-in 
projects to be obtained including requirements  
for advice from the planning assessment 
commission.

New State significant 
assessment system created
While the vast majority of development applications  
in nsW are assessed and determined by local councils, 
there are a small number of projects whose scale, 
significance or potential impacts mean they are  
of state significance.

on 1 october 2011, a new assessment system  
for projects of genuine state significance commenced.  
this system replaced the former part 3a assessment 
system, which closed for new projects in april 2011.

the state significant assessment system established 
two separate assessment pathways, ssd and ssi. 
projects that fall into these categories are assessed  
by the department, with most determined by the pac  
or department. the minister determines a small number 
of state public infrastructure projects.

the ssd assessment system generally deals with 
large-scale industrial, resource and other proposals  
in 24 different development classes and development  
in precincts identified as important for the state  
by the nsW government.

the ssi assessment system has been established  
to allow planning decisions on major infrastructure 
proposals, in particular linear infrastructure (such  
as roads, railway lines or pipes which often cross  
a number of council boundaries) or development which 
doesn’t require consent but which could have a 
significant environmental impact (such as a port facility).

these systems will be reviewed as part of the ongoing 
review of the nsW planning system. more than  
$24 billion worth of projects were lodged during  
2011–12 using the state significant assessment system.

Table 4.6: Lodgements to State significant assessment 
system 2011–12

Application type Number CIV

State significant developments 
(SSD)

81 > $11 bill

State significant infrastructure (SSI) 10 > $13 bill

SSI modification 1  

Total 92 > $24 bill

find out more  >>
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/ 
development-assessment-systems 

Part 3A system 

the nsW government has repealed the former  
part 3a system. the system is only continuing to be 
used to finalise projects which were advanced in the 
assessment process at the time the state significant 
assessment process was introduced in october 2011. 

Between april 2011 and october 2011, which is when 
the new state significant assessment system 
commenced, approximately 160 projects were removed 
from the part 3a system. many of these were residential, 
retail or commercial projects which had not significantly 
progressed in the assessment process.

in June 2012, the nsW government announced  
its intention to finalise all remaining part 3a projects  
by June 2013 and provided additional funds  
to the department to achieve this outcome. 

Agricultural impact statements

as of march 2012, all state significant mining and coal 
seam gas proposals with the potential to impact 
agricultural land and water resources were required  
to submit an agricultural impact statement as part  
of their development application. this requirement was 
introduced as part of moves to provide better protection 
for high-quality agricultural land.

the department issued a guideline for the preparation  
of agricultural impact statements in march 2012.
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How we consulted 
Online reforms
during 2011–12, the department introduced  
a number of important online reforms to improve 
the transparency and efficiency of our 
assessment process. this includes:

 > allowing people to view our assessment 
reports, before the planning assessment 
commission makes a decision (now extended 
to departmental and ministerial determinations)

 > a rss feed to make it easier to get updates 
 > a flowchart alongside each state significant 
application, which provides a visual indicator 
as to where the project is up to in the 
assessment process

 > publishing details of projects on the major projects 
website earlier in the assessment process

 > additional search functions
 > allowing applicants to lodge projects online.

Regional development 
overview 
Joint regional planning panels determined 306 
development applications (das) (270 approved and  
36 refused) in 2011–12, with approved projects worth  
a total of $6.096 billion. notably, 93 per cent of 
determinations were in accordance with the council 
officer recommendation, reflecting consistency in 
decision making for regionally significant development.

the overall average assessment time for das 
determined by the regional panels was 222 days.  
the average time for das over $20 million was 241 days. 
in 2008–09, the last year before the commencement  
of the regional panels, the statewide average for council 
determinations of das over $20 million was 324 days.

since regional panels commenced operation, 
determinations have been made by the regional panels 
for 101 councils out of a total of 151 councils. this 
includes all councils within the metropolitan area.

find out more  >> 
www.jrpp.nsw.gov.au

Table 4.7: Submissions by assessment system 2011–12

Assessment type Total exhibitions Total number of submissions1

State significant developments (SSD) 6 37

State significant infrastructure (SSI) 1 351

SSI modification 1 7

Part 3A 78 25,787

Part 3A modifications 72 515

Part 4 27 97

Part 4 modifications 9 119

State Significant Site 3 2,005

Total 197 28,918

1 submissions common to concurrent exhibitions of concept plans and project applications counted once only 

Model conditions

during 2011–12 the department drafted standard  
and model conditions, by industry sector, to assist  
the development industry, community, councils  
and government agencies to understand the types  
of conditions that are likely to be applied to state 
significant development projects should they be 
approved. these are available on the department’s 
website. these conditions will be reviewed and finalised 
during 2012–13 following consultation.

find out more  >> 
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/ 
standard-and-model-conditions
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Regional panels
the regional panels provide independent, 
merit-based decision making on regional 
development. applications for regional 
development are notified and assessed by the 
local council and then determined by the relevant 
regional panel. six panels operate throughout 
nsW: northern, Western, Hunter and central 
coast, southern, sydney east and sydney West.  
each of the six regional panels is comprised of 
five members, three appointed by the minister 
and two appointed by the relevant local council.

Table 4.8: Regional panel decisions and assessment times by capital investment value 2011–12

Capital Investment 
Value (CIV)

Approved Refused Average DA 
assessment (days)

Capital Investment Value  
of approvals 

CIV < $5M 33 1 198 $18,338,354

CIV $5–20M 125 23 211 $1,541,878,028

CIV > $20M 112 12 241 $4,535,793,625

Total 270 36 222 $6.096bn

Table 4.9: Regional panel decisions and assessment time by region 2011–12

Region Approved Refused Average DA 
assessment (days)

Capital Investment Value  
of approvals

Hunter & Central Coast 24 8 244 $480,521,614

Northern 21 1 189 $328,212,800

Southern 22 1 238 $298,500,000

Sydney east 91 15 166 $2,732,080,035

Sydney West 105 11 270 $2,236,016,558

Western 7 0 204 $20,679,000

Total 270 36 222 $6.096bn

How we consulted 
Regional panel users group
during the year the department established  
a regional panel ‘users group’. the group 
consists of the six regional panel chairs,  
the local government and shires associations 
(lgsa) and key stakeholders who act as  
a reference group to advise on regional panel 
operations. the first regional panel users’ group 
meeting was held on 18 april 2012 and  
the group provided input into the review of the 
operational procedures, code of conduct and 
complaints handling policy following the 
exhibition of those documents.
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Compliance 
the department has an important role in monitoring  
and enforcing compliance with any conditions attached 
to state development approvals. it investigates potential 
breaches and takes enforcement action, if necessary.

to assist in its compliance functions, the department 
has specialist compliance teams based in its sydney 
head office and singleton office (for coal mining in  
the Hunter Valley). additionally, the department’s  
alpine resorts team at Jindabyne also carries out 
compliance functions.

the department’s compliance teams conduct 
inspections and audits of approved projects,  
respond to reports and complaints received from  
other state agencies, local councils and the public, 
investigate potential breaches and carry out 
enforcement action where breaches are confirmed.  
enforcement action may range from negotiated 
outcomes, warning letters, penalty notices and  
in the most significant cases, criminal prosecutions.

during 2011–12, the number of enforcement actions 
increased by 27 per cent, from 124 to 157.

the department has published a compliance policy  
and associated guidelines for breach management, 
prosecutions and penalty notices to assist authorised 
officers in exercising their powers in a fair, consistent 
and equitable manner. the documents also help the 
community and other stakeholders understand how  
the department goes about its work. 

the department’s compliance teams also: 

 > review compliance reports and independent audits 
where they are required to be provided by proponents 
of approved projects, and take follow-up action  
in response to potential breaches 

 > maintain effective working networks with  
all relevant stakeholders including other state 
regulatory agencies, local councils, communities  
in the vicinity of approved projects and proponents  
of approved projects

 > investigate broader policy responses to key emerging 
compliance issues.

find out more >>  
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/compliance 

Table 4.10: Compliance activities by sector 2011–12

Sector           Compliance inspections and audits      enforcement actions

Sydney Singleton Jindabyne Sydney Singleton Jindabyne

Coal mines 0 159 0 4 101 0

Quarries/extractive 5 0 0 3 0 0

Manufacturing/rural 5 0 0 8 0 0

Resources/waste 10 0 0 3 0 0

Infrastructure 4 0 0 6 0 0

Commercial/residential 2 0 9 10 0 22

Subtotal 45 159 9 34 101 22

Total 213 157

Amendment of regional development criteria 

in october 2011, as part of the government’s reform of 
the nsW planning system, the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (the act) was amended and 
certain classes of development previously determined 
by regional panels were returned to councils  
for determination. 

the capital investment Value (ciV) threshold for the 
general development category was increased from  
$10 million to $20 million. However, a new provision  
in the act allows for the referral by the applicant or 
council of a da with a ciV of $10–20 million where that 
da is not determined by the council within 120 days.

the department has provided guidance to councils  
and has developed a referral form for applicants  
and councils to keep the referral process simple  
and consistent.  

Appointment of regional panel members

amendments to the act in october 2011 require  
the concurrence of the lgsa for the appointment  
of a chair from one of the members appointed  
by the government.

in June 2012, the state-appointed regional panel 
members, and alternate members, were reappointed  
by the minister for a period of 12 months until the  
end of June 2013.

the reappointment of the panel chairs was made 
following the concurrence of the lgsa as required  
by the new provisions of the act.

Review of operational procedures, code of conduct  
and complaints handling policy

in early 2012, the regional panels’ operational 
procedures, code of conduct and complaints handling 
policy were reviewed and draft revisions of the policy 
documents were exhibited for public comment. these 
three guideline documents have been subsequently 
amended following the receipt of public submissions, 
and have since been finalised.

the amended operational procedures, code of conduct 
and complaints handling policy will provide better 
guidance to the regional panel members, council and 
the community.
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Fines and orders issued

 > a fine was issued to the Wambo mine, near 
Warkworth, on 12 June 2012 following an investigation 
into significant dust emissions on friday 4 may 2012. 
the department found that the mine had failed  
to minimise wheel-generated dust from haul trucks. 

 > a fine was issued on 13 January 2012 to the integra 
mine, near camberwell, for a blast which exceeded 
the relevant decibel limits on 29 december 2011.  

 > a fine was issued on 24 february 2012 to the integra 
mine, near camberwell, for excessive dust. the fine 
was in response to an incident on 18 January 2012 
where the department observed the mine pushing soil 
over a wall, allowing it to fall some 100 metres to the 
ground below.  

 > a fine was issued on 18 may 2012 to the mount 
thorley-Warkworth mine near singleton following  
an investigation by the department into significant 
dust emissions on 13 may 2012. 

 > on 6 september 2011, the department issued  
an order to coal and allied operations, requiring  
the company to install measures to stop its trucks 
transporting coal sediment out of its coal loading 
point at liddell, on to pikes gully road. 

 > a fine was issued to the mangoola mine near 
muswellbrook in november 2011 following a blast 
which recorded an excessive ground vibration, which 
had the potential to affect a nearby power line pylon. 

 excessive dust at integra mine, camberwell

Significant actions

Singleton office

General activities

following the opening of the singleton compliance 
office in october 2010, the office completed its first full 
year of operations in 2011–12. the singleton compliance 
office monitors the performance of 18 coal mines  
in the Hunter Valley for compliance against their 
approval conditions.   

in the 2011–12 year it took one mining company to court 
over the construction of a waste rock dump that was  
up to 10m higher than allowed in its approval, issued 
seven penalty infringement notices (fines) and took 296 
complaints from the public. it also met with all the open 
cut mines in its area to discuss better ways to reduce 
the incidence of blast fume resulting from blasting.  

the office also oversaw a program of conservation 
works for the Wambo Homestead complex by Wambo 
coal. on 19 april, the office inspected the homestead 
complex to confirm progress on the 2011–12 works 
program. it was found the works had been completed  
to a high standard and within the scheduled timeframe.

Being based in the coal fields the compliance officers 
are able to quickly survey the local mines or respond  
to complaints, and discuss issues face to face with  
mine operators. the officers conducted almost  
500 compliance monitoring activities, including  
159 site inspections, 106 off-site surveillances and  
189 meetings with mines concerning potential 
compliance issues.

in march 2012 the office took over the reviewing  
a number of post-approval mine management plans 
formerly conducted by the sydney office.

 coal-sediment contaminated mud along pikes gully 
road, liddell

During 2011–12, the number 
of enforcement actions 
increased by 27 per cent
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Head office

Illawarra international health precinct

in may 2012, the land and environment court ordered 
the developer of private medical precinct to remove  
a large stockpile of dirt and a rock retaining wall 
constructed directly behind homes in penrose  
in the illawarra region. 

the dirt stockpile and retaining wall had been 
constructed without permission close to existing homes, 
raising concerns from residents about their aesthetic 
impact and dust and drainage impacts. 

the outcome follows legal action by the department 
against la Vie developments pty ltd, which is 
developing the illawarra international Health precinct.

Wind farm audits

the department is conducting compliance audits of  
the cullerin range, capital and Woodlawn wind farms  
to measure the compliance of wind turbine operations 
against conditions of consent, with a particular focus  
on noise.

specialist noise consultant renzo tonin & associates 
pty ltd was engaged by the department in april 2012, 
following a tender process. the audit will be  
completed shortly.

Fines and orders issued

 > on 11 october 2011, the department issued 
shoalhaven starches with fines for breaching ethanol 
production levels, along with unauthorised building 
extensions. the company self-reported the issue and 
had installed the necessary odour controls. 

 > a fine was issued to pacific national in november 
2011 after the department observed trucks entering 
and leaving its train support facility using an 
unauthorised road.

 > a fine was issued to one of the proponents of the 
eastern creek waste project on 22 december 2011, 
after buildings were installed at the project’s 
construction site without obtaining required 
construction certificates.

 > a fine was issued on 24 february 2012 to the operator 
of the Wilpinjong coal mine, near mudgee, for 
disturbing a known aboriginal archaeological site 
during road construction. 

 > an enforceable direction was issued to ausgrid  
on 31 october 2011 to follow specified procedures  
for rehabilitation of seagrass beds and burial  
of the cables as part of the Botany Bay electricity  
cable project.

 > a fine was issued to goulburn mulwaree council for 
breaches related to its Highlands source project.

Jindabyne office
the department is responsible for all development 
assessment within the nsW Kosciuszko national park 
alpine resorts. these areas are unique for their natural, 
cultural and recreational values. the Jindabyne office 
undertakes development assessment, performs  
a development certification role, and is continually 
monitoring development within these alpine resort 
areas. over the 2011–2012 year, the Jindabyne office 
has conducted an audit of development within 
environmentally sensitive areas to monitor compliance 
with conditions of consent, issued a total of three 
penalty infringement notices (fines) for unauthorised 
development, and negotiated three outcomes for other 
compliance-related matters. 

Examples of fines and orders issued

 > the department issued an order to the lessee  
of a perisher ski lodge to ensure upgrades to  
building entries to comply with relevant standards  
are completed by 1 June 2013. the work will include 
installing structural awnings to prevent snow and ice 
falling from above and obstructing the building exits. 

 > an order was issued on 30 march to the lessee of  
a perisher ski lodge to direct that work to remove three 
redundant diesel fuel tanks and remediate the site  
is completed and validated by 30 december 2012.  

Ski resort inspections

 > the department conducted inspections at a number 
of thredbo, perisher-smiggins and charlotte’s pass 
ski resorts for compliance matters. the perisher-
smiggins and charlotte’s pass resorts were found  
to be compliant. further inspections of thredbo 
resorts will be conducted at the end of the ski season.

 dirt and rock retaining walls near homes in penrose

nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–1250



Draft wind farm  
guidelines released
in december 2011 the nsW government released  
its draft planning guidelines for Wind farms for public 
feedback. the draft guidelines offer a balance between 
providing opportunities for investment in renewable 
energy and ensuring local communities are protected 
from unreasonable impacts from wind farm 
developments.

a central feature of the draft guidelines is a rigorous 
gateway assessment for wind farms where proposed 
turbines are located within 2km of existing residences. 
the guidelines introduce an innovative assessment 
approach which ensures upfront consultation between 
wind farm developers and local communities.

the government recognises community concerns  
about visual amenity and noise and is proposing the 
most rigorous noise controls for wind farms in australia. 

the government is also proposing to strengthen 
auditing and compliance measures, giving neighbours 
the ability to seek an independent noise review if a wind 
farm is built. 

the guidelines will be finalised in 2012–13.

 Windfarm guidelines

>> Looking forward
 > finalise wind farm planning guidelines and wind  
farm audit.

 > determine remaining part 3a projects  
by 30 June 2013.

 > continue to improve online access to development 
proposal information.

 > Better align the assessment process with long-term 
strategic planning as emphasised under the new 
planning system.

 > implement actions to reduce blast fume impacts  
in the upper Hunter.

f 

Draft

A resource for the community, applicants and consent authorities

December 2011
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5
Managing 
growth

Highlights  
2011–12

Began consultation on a new 
metropolitan strategy which  
is integrated with transport  
and infrastructure planning.

developed two regional  
land-use plans which protect 
high-quality farming land from 
inappropriate coal and coal 
seam mining.

updated and modernised  
the state’s planning system  
by approving a record number  
of major new local plans.   

acquired $62 million worth  
of land, comprising land for 
north West and south West  
rail corridors and regional  
open space land in metropolitan 
sydney including for the  
Western sydney parklands.

How we did  
it differently

We took a lead role within 
government to resolve  
complex policy issues.

We used social media  
to engage well over 100,000 
people in the review of our 
metropolitan strategy.

We held joint reviews with our 
partners in local government  
to investigate strategic planning 
for contentious sites.

We held a major public talk 
which attracted nearly 1,000 
people to promote debate  
on city planning.

We went on the road  
to discuss our population 
projections work.
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“[The department] 
has been diligent in 
reviewing the project’s 
key metrics and like  
us, are very excited  
and engaged with the 
new suburb we are 
building together”
camille abbott, development  
director, landcom 

find out how the department  
has worked to deliver a new 
sustainable community  >>
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The department has an important role 
undertaking medium and long-term 
planning for our cities and regions.  
This planning creates certainty for investors 
and the community about where new 
development will be supported and how 
infrastructure will support this growth.  
Our role includes preparing over-arching 
NSW Government regional land-use plans 
along with assisting councils to create  
new local plans. This is broadly known  
as strategic planning.

The department’s strategic planning 
function is expected to be substantially 
strengthened in coming years with the 
introduction of a new planning system.

Managing 
growth

Case study 
Bunya development
the department’s office of strategic lands  
(osl) is playing a key role in the delivery  
of Bunya, an 800 lot residential precinct in the 
suburb of Bungarribee adjacent to Western 
sydney parklands. 

this site was acquired by the osl in 2000  
and then rezoned for residential uses. 

the site represents good strategic planning  
in that it can take advantage of nearby established 
schools, shops, doonside railway station and the 
Western sydney parklands.  
the site also has a significant amount of open 
space and community facilities.  

the site also includes cutting-edge water sensitive 
urban design with stormwater filtered  
to deliver cleaner water to Bungarribee creek.

construction commenced in 2010 including first 
stage roads, lots, heritage and parks. the osl 
has engaged landcom to develop the land and 
offer land to the market, with 97 lots sold during 
2011–12. 

the osl is responsible for the sale of certain 
lands at the interface with Western sydney 
parklands. these include sites at Bunya at 
Bungaribee and West Huntingwood. money 
earned by the osl on these sales can be used  
to assist in further land purchases across the 
metropolitan area for good strategic planning 
reasons, such as new open space or infrastructure. 

the osl transfers 25 percent of net sales revenue 
to the Western sydney parklands trust to assist 
with capital expenditure and operational expenses 
at Western sydney parklands.

a further 180 lots are expected to be offered  
for sale in financial year 2012–13. 

 Homestead park over looking Bunya housing estate.

>>
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Strategic Regional  
Land Use Plans
during 2011–12, the department took a lead role within 
government coordinating the preparation and release  
of draft strategic regional land use plans for the upper 
Hunter and new england north West regions. these 
plans were part of a move to strengthen upfront, 
regional planning for major mining and coal seam gas 
proposals. previously, individual mining development 
application decisions were being made in the absence 
of any broader regional planning framework. 

across both regions, some 1.35 million hectares  
of high-quality agricultural land was identified for 
protection, including the black soils of the liverpool 
plains, the horse breeding industry near scone and 
vineyards near cessnock. this mapping was a historic 
exercise which represented the first time that highly-
fertile farming and other important agricultural land was 
given heightened protection from the resources industry.

development of the plans was a complex exercise 
which involved close consultation with other nsW 
government agencies, particularly the department  
of primary industries, office of environment and 
Heritage, trade and investment nsW and the office  
of Water.

under the plans, major mining and coal seam gas 
production proposals on this high-quality land, would 
have to go through a stringent ‘gateway’ process.

in september 2012, the department released final  
plans which have identified and since protected  
a total of 2 million hectares of land in these regions.

How we consulted 
Strategic Regional  
Land Use Plans
the department undertook extensive consultation 
in the preparation and exhibition of the strategic 
regional land use plans. 

a stakeholder reference group consisting  
of peak industry and conservation groups was 
established to partner with nsW government 
agencies in the drafting process and ensure  
a comprehensive and balanced approach. 

the plans were exhibited for more than  
two months from march 2012. nearly 1,600 
submissions were received, while around  
1,000 people attended two public forums  
(one in gunnedah and another in singleton)  
and nine drop-in sessions across the upper 
Hunter and new england north West regions. 
online discussion forums received more than 
5,700 page views.

 gunnedah consultation session on the strategic regional  
land use plan.

1.35 million hectares 
protected under draft 
regional land use plans

find out more >>  
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/slurp 
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Metropolitan planning

Metropolitan Strategy discussion paper

a new metropolitan strategy is in the process of being 
prepared. this new strategy will integrate with the  
long term transport master plan, being developed  
by transport for nsW, and the state infrastructure 
strategy, which is being prepared by infrastructure nsW. 

as a first step in the update process, a discussion paper 
titled sydney over the next 20 Years was released  
in may 2012 for an eight week exhibition period.  
to accompany this exhibition, some 16 community  
‘drop in’ sessions were held across the metropolitan 
area which enabled members of the community to meet 
with department planners working on the strategy. over 
250 people visited these sessions, resulting in extensive 
community feedback which has been captured. 

the sessions included a travelling discussion board 
where people could write a comment and read what 
other people have said. in particular, people were 
invited to provide comments on what they wanted  
for their home, job and lifestyle.

 marketing photo to support metropolitan strategy  
discussion paper.

How we consulted 
Metropolitan Strategy social media
the department used social media to promote 
community discussion about sydney’s future.

a Youtube video was published which involved 
‘on-the-street’ community interviews and an 
animation that highlighted opportunities and 
challenges facing sydney. this video received 
well over 100,000 views.

a facebook page and twitter account were 
developed to generate followers and feedback 
and these will continue to be updated throughout 
the strategy development period. additionally,  
it was possible to take part in an online debate 
about sydney’s future using the nsW 
government’s Have Your say site.

 metropolitan strategy video viewed by over 100,000 people  
on Youtube and the internet.

find out more >> 
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/ 
sydney-over-the-next-20-years 

“We’ve got a beautiful harbour… 
why don’t we use it” 
speaker in metropolitan strategy video
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How we consulted 
Local councils and LEPs
the department’s head and regional offices have 
developed a close working relationship with local 
councils to assist the process of updating of the 
state’s leps. for instance, over the reporting 
period the department produced the lep maps 
for 12 councils that had no geographical 
information system resources.

How we consulted 
Demography roadshow
demographers from the department,  
in partnership with the australian Bureau  
of statistics, travelled to ten regional and 
metropolitan centres across the state to discuss 
population trends, demographic processes and 
the development of population estimates and 
projections. these trips helped build 
understanding about how the department went 
about its population projection work and also 
ensured the department’s staff heard first-hand 
the views of council staff and other professionals.

the regional visits, which began in Wollongong 
on 29 march 2012 and continued in may, were 
held ahead of the release of the 2011 census 
data later this year. the census data will inform 
updated population projections to be used  
for local and regional planning.

New local plans 
local environmental plans (leps) are the bedrock  
of the state’s planning system. through controls such 
as land-use zones and controls on subdivision size, 
height and building bulk, they guide decisions on  
tens of thousands of individual development proposals 
each year.

the department is working with all councils across  
the state and assisting them to update and modernise 
their leps, using a standard template. this updating 
program is helping create new areas for jobs and 
housing in these leps, as councils review their long-
term planning goals and reference relevant nsW 
government regional plans. the use of a standard 
template also means all councils are for the first time 
using the same development definitions and planning 
terminology, which makes the plans easier to access 
and understand. 

during 2011–12, the nsW government approved  
32 council-wide and one major precinct lep  
(for coffs Harbour city centre) and supported another 
36 to proceed to public exhibition. this represents  
the highest number of council-wide or precinct leps 
approved in any single year since a standard template 
was introduced in 2006. almost half of the 152 local 
government areas in the state now have modern, 
contemporary leps in place.

at the end of the 2011–12 financial year, there were  
16 metropolitan sydney councils with contemporary 
council-wide planning controls and in the past year 
there have been five lep approvals in metropolitan 
sydney for marrickville, mosman, parramatta, rockdale 
and Warringah. 
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Case study 
Gundagai
the iconic dog on the tuckerbox was  
protected and celebrated under the first  
set of comprehensive planning controls  
in gundagai council’s 122-year history.

gundagai, in south-western nsW, had been  
the only local council in nsW to not have any 
local planning controls or zones to guide future 
growth and development. However, during 
2011–12, the council and department worked 
together to develop a planning framework  
for gundagai as part of a state-wide program  
to update and modernise leps. 

in recognition of the important tourism  
role of the dog on the tuckerbox, the lep  
establishes the area surrounding this  
landmark with a tourism zoning.

 the iconic dog on the tuckerbox of gundagai.

there has also been significant work to update planning 
controls in rural and regional areas of the state, 
including some council areas that now have their first 
ever set of comprehensive council-wide planning 
controls, like gundagai and Boorowa in the state’s 
south.

across nsW, at the end of 2011–12 financial year there 
were 47 regional councils with standard instrument 
leps, with 28 of those approved in the past year.

Amending Local Environmental Plans

the department continues to assess whether proposals 
to amend existing leps – known as planning proposals 
– can proceed past the initial ‘gateway’ stage (typically 
to public exhibition). the department (under delegation 
from the minister for planning and infrastructure, Brad 
Hazzard) also typically makes the final decision on 
whether these amending leps should be approved. 

during 2011–12, some 263 planning proposals were 
lodged with the department, 254 ‘gateway’ notices 
issued and 184 leps approved. moves are underway 
for the department to divest some of these amending 
lep functions back to local government, particularly 
leps which are consistent with agreed government 
regional or subregional plans. 

the department took on average 29 days to make  
these ‘gateway’ decisions in 2011–12.

Joint housing reviews  
with local councils 
during 2011–12, the department took a new approach  
to planning for housing growth by forming joint expert 
reviews with local government. these reviews, all in the 
department’s sydney east region, have combined state 
and local planning expertise to resolve difficult local 
issues. to date, these reviews have proved successful 
and this model may be expanded to other parts of nsW. 

Mowbray Road Strategic Review, Lane Cove 

in 2011, the department and lane cove council jointly 
undertook a strategic review of the mowbray road 
precinct, in particular to examine planning controls  
in the final lane cove lep.

the process involved close collaboration between  
the department and council, who jointly commissioned 
expert advice on issues such as bushfire hazards, traffic 
impacts and best urban design solutions. this advice 
led to recommendations for amendments to the controls 
that applied to the area. the result will be reduction  
of development potential for areas likely to fall within  
a hazard protection area and new standards for the area 
suitable for redevelopment that could yield 
approximately 970 extra dwellings within this precinct.

this strategic review report, and the consultant reports 
by JBa planning pty ltd and smec australia pty ltd, 
were considered by lane cove council on monday  
5 december 2011. the council resolved to prepare  
a planning proposal to amend the zones across  
the precinct. 
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Warriewood Valley Strategic Review

in may 2011, pittwater council and the department 
jointly undertook a review of potential residential 
development in Warriewood Valley. the review also 
looked at the potential for a new mixed use centre  
in the area.  independent reports on traffic and 
transport, urban design, water management, flooding 
and economic feasibility have now been completed. 
over 250 submissions were received in response to the 
public exhibition undertaken in may 2012. a final report 
will be prepared for the consideration of the director-
general and the new pittwater council later this year.

the findings of the review will be used to determine  
the most appropriate form of residential development  
for the undeveloped land in Warriewood Valley.  
the findings may lead to council preparing a planning 
proposal to seek to change the zoning or development 
controls for some or all of this undeveloped land.

Oxford Falls Valley and Belrose North strategic 
review, Warringah

in July 2012 the department and Warringah council 
began a strategic review to identify the most appropriate 
zoning and land use controls for oxford falls Valley  
and Belrose north.

the review will consider the range of existing land uses 
within oxford falls Valley and Belrose north. it will  
also focus on existing environmental constraints  
and infrastructure, in order to recommend the most 
appropriate land use, zoning and development controls 
to be applied to the area.

How we consulted  
Urban Conversations event
a world-renowned urban economist showed  
how well-planned cities can make us ‘richer, 
smarter, greener, healthier and happier’  
in the department’s inaugural urban 
conversations event.

Harvard university professor edward glaeser 
addressed nearly 1,000 people at the city recital 
Hall on June 20. professor glaeser was later 
joined on a discussion panel featuring senior 
department staff norma shankie-Williams and 
giovanni cirillo, nsW government architect peter 
poulet and planning institute of australia nsW 
president sarah Hill. 

the event was designed to promote feedback  
on sydney’s metropolitan strategy review and 
further discussion about the role of urban 
renewal in city planning. a video of the event  
has been made available on the department’s 
Youtube channel.

 ed glaeser speaking at the urban conversations event.
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Case study 
White’s Creek Valley, Leichhardt 
the White’s creek Valley park is an open space 
oasis among sydney’s densely populated 
inner-west subregion. the park forms a boundary 
between the suburbs of lilyfield and annandale. 
the office of strategic lands has had a long-
standing role acquiring some of the land parcels 
in the park which had been designated  
as regional open space.

during 2011–12, a total of 19 previously acquired 
parcels of land at Whites creek Valley were 
transferred to leichhardt council. funding  
of approximately $400,000 accompanied the 
transfer to assist council with costs for council’s 
demolition of several houses and minor 
remediation works to create additional regional 
open space. 

 White’s creek Valley park.

Office of Strategic Lands 

General

the office of strategic lands (osl) operates  
on behalf of the minister for planning and infrastructure 
to identify, acquire, manage (on an interim basis) and 
transfer to other government agencies, land required for 
planning purposes throughout the sydney region.

the osl acquires land for public purposes which  
are required for regional open space, public transport 
corridors and land for strategic planning projects such 
as the rouse Hill regional centre.

the osl administers the ministerial corporation  
(known as the corporation sole) which owns over  
$1 billion worth of government land in sydney. using  
the minister’s delegated powers, it also operates the 
sydney region development fund (srdf) which  
is the fund used to buy and sell land parcels to achieve 
good strategic planning outcomes. 

Land purchases

in 2011–12, the srdf acquired open space land  
to the value of $43.9 million in Blacktown, liverpool, 
penrith, pittwater and sutherland. the majority of open 
space land (29 hectares) acquired was purchased  
for addition to the Western sydney parklands. 

some 68 other small parcels of land were purchased  
for environmental conservation purposes in riverstone 
and marsden park in addition to small parcels of land 
adjoining coastal and riverine environments purchased 
in pittwater and sutherland local government areas.

negotiations for purchase of further bridge and access 
construction lands in the south West rail link (sWrl) 
continued in 2011–12.

acquisition responsibility for land in the north West rail 
corridor has reduced with the creation of transport  
for nsW and its increased role in land acquisition.  
By agreement with transport for nsW, one parcel with  
a value of $4.75 million was acquired in 2011–12  
by the corporation sole.

Land sales

land sales and development generated $62.4 million  
for the srdf in 2011–12 , which includes project 
development agreement participation payments by 
development partners. a total of 189 residential lots 
were sold to the sydney market, including 97 lots in 
Bunya at Bungarribee (doonside), 85 lots and built 
houses at rouse Hill town centre and seven lots  
across seaforth, south strathfield, campsie, earlwood, 
Hassall grove and macquarie park. some 14.5 hectares  
of employment/industrial land was also sold. 

the osl also provided grant funding to the roads  
and maritime services of $6.2 million to commence  
the construction of the erskine park link road to service 
the erskine park and Western sydney employment 
areas (see more details in the employment chapter).

find out more >> 
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/office-of-strategic-lands  
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Funding for open space

Metropolitan Greenspace Program

the metropolitan greenspace program (mgp)  
is a partnership initiative between state and local 
government to support and enhance sydney’s trails, 
waterways and open space. the annual and 
administrative funding for the mgp is provided  
by the sydney region development fund.

funding available through the mgp is open  
to all councils within the greater sydney region 
(including the central coast). the program’s funding  
is currently focussed on projects which contribute to the 
concept of building a regional recreational trails network 
across sydney.

in 2011–12, some $2.5 million from the mgp was 
allocated to 23 projects. examples of significant projects 
funded include the:

 > mount annan Botanic garden recreational trail – 
which will contribute towards providing a new cross 
regional cycling connection between campbelltown 
and camden

 > ettalong Beach foreshore reserve – providing public 
domain improvements and a new shared pathway 
between town Beach and south Beach on the  
central coast

 > great river Walk – emu plains section  
– the continuation of funding for a series  
of recreational pathway improvements along  
the banks of the nepean river near penrith.

 coal loader site is at Balls Head, Waverton on sydney Harbour.

find out more >> 
www.planning.nsw.gov.au/funding-programs

Sharing Sydney Harbour Access Program

the sharing sydney Harbour access program (ssHap) 
allocates grants to councils, registered clubs and state 
agencies to assist with the implementation of capital 
works projects that improve public access to and along 
the foreshores of sydney Harbour and its tributaries for 
walking, cycling and recreational boating. the sydney 
region development fund makes a contribution  
to the ssHap grants funding up to $500,000 per year.

in 2011–12, grants worth over $1.1 million were 
committed to 17 projects across the sydney Harbour 
catchment to improve access around the harbour 
foreshore.

examples of significant projects funded through  
the ssHap in 2011–12 include:

 > loop walking track, goat island, sydney Harbour 
national park

 > Harbour scenic walk upgrade and establishment  
– on the northern and southern sides of the harbour.

 > lake parramatta reserve education and Water  
access precinct.

 sharing sydney Harbour access plan

>> Looking forward
elevate the importance of strategic planning  
in the proposed new planning system.

dramatically improve community feedback  
and engagement on strategic planning projects.

undertake further development of an urban feasibility 
model to assess the economic feasibility  
of development under proposed planning controls.

seek to complete the updating of all councils’ local 
environmental plans.

consider providing councils with greater delegations  
to process planning proposals.Since 1989, the greenspace program  

has provided over $32 million to 539 
projects across the metropolitan area
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6
Improving 
the planning 
system

Highlights  
2011–12

Began the most 
comprehensive review  
of the state’s planning  
system in 30 years. 

independently-chaired panel 
appointed to review rollout of 
standard template local plans.

nearly $20 billion worth of local 
development approved across 
the state, according to our 
report-card.

returned planning powers  
to local government by 
disbanding council-specific 
planning panels.

How we did  
it differently

more flexible approach  
by department to rollout  
of local plans, helping  
speed-up outcomes.

two major ministerial planning 
forums held and more than 
2,000 attend public forums  
to discuss a new planning 
system.

dramatic increase in exhibitions 
by department of draft policies 
and plans. 

lobbyist contact transparency 
improved.
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“Berala was a complex  
project and Woolworths 
recognised the 
important role of the 
[department] in helping 
resolve and facilitate 
solutions”
aidan murphy, regional development 
manager, Woolworths ltd

find out how the department’s 
new approach meant this 
supermarket could open  
for business  >>
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Whether lodging an application for a new 
home extension, or making a submission 
to a neighbour’s plans, most people 
have interaction with the planning system 
during their lifetime. The department has 
broad oversight over the State’s planning 
system, although the majority of individual 
decisions are carried out by local councils 
or accredited certifiers.

Improving 
the planning 
system

Case study 
Woolworths at Berala
on 8 august 2011, representatives from the 
department attended a sod-turning event on the 
site of the planned new Woolworths supermarket 
at Berala in sydney’s west. the site includes  
a supermarket, liquor store and five additional 
specialty shops.

officers from the department’s project delivery 
unit worked closely with other government 
agencies and auburn council to resolve issues  
in regard to the close proximity of the adjacent 
rail corridor and storm water easements. 

Woolworths acquired the site from receivers 
appointed for the former owner/developer  
in January 2010. the site was an unsightly  
‘hole-in-the-ground’ and residents were keen for  
a retail centre to be approved and constructed. 

given the complexity of developing the site,  
the department and auburn city council worked 
to provide approval for the development site after 
lengthy negotiations between railcorp and 
Woolworths. an agreement was reached to allow 
a vehicular tunnel to be built under the pedestrian 
walkway owned by railcorp. 

aidan murphy, regional development manager 
of Woolworths ltd said, “Berala was a complex 
development project, and Woolworths 
recognised the important role of the department 
of planning and infrastructure in helping resolve 
and facilitate solutions between other agencies 
including railcorp to ensure the successful 
delivery of this important project for Berala and 
its local community.” 

the site opened for business in august 2012 and 
Woolworths has 108 staff currently employed. 

 Woolworths staff celebrating the opening of the new  
Berala store

>>
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Planning system  
overhaul begins
in July 2011, the minister for planning and infrastructure, 
Brad Hazzard announced the most comprehensive 
review of the state’s planning system in 31 years.  
this review was based on a number of concerns about 
the existing system, including that it was excessively 
confusing and legalistic, did not champion consultation 
particularly when planning for the ‘big picture’ and was 
focussed on prescriptive controls rather than enabling 
good outcomes.

two independent planning review co-chairs,  
tim moore and ron dyer, were appointed to begin  
the review process. during the second half of 2011,  
the department helped organise public forums at 
regional and metropolitan locations for the co-chairs. 
these forums attracted about 2,000 people who 
provided suggestions about how the system could  
be improved. the co-chairs also held more than  
70 stakeholder consultation meetings around  
the state along with nearly 20 meetings with members 
of parliament.

the review co-chairs released an issues paper  
in december 2011. more than 600 submissions were 
received in response to this paper. the co-chairs then 
began assembling their review report.

in July 2012, outside of the reporting period after  
the completion of the independent report, the nsW 
government released its green paper in response  
to the review report. the green paper includes  
23 transformative ideas for the planning system and 
represented the first time the government had put 
forward its proposals. a comprehensive report on the 
outcomes of the green paper consultation and moves  
to create a new planning system will be outlined  
in the department’s 2012–13 annual report.

How we consulted 
Planning forums
two major planning forums were hosted  
by minister for planning and infrastructure,  
Brad Hazzard, during 2011–12 to encourage 
feedback on the creation of a new  
planning system.

a forum held in July 2011 at sydney olympic 
park launched the review process and attracted 
more than 220 people. Key themes raised at the 
forum included the need for more effective 
community and stakeholder engagement,  
a stronger focus on outcomes and improved 
governance and infrastructure arrangements  
in the planning system.

a second forum was held in february 2012  
in sydney’s cBd and attracted more than  
230 planning stakeholders. the feedback was  
an opportunity to workshop ideas on the issues 
paper released in december 2011 by the system 
review co-chairs.

 minister for planning and infrastructure Brad Hazzard  
at the July 2011 forum.
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Local planning issues
Local Planning Panel

in october 2011, tony mcnamara from canada Bay city 
council was appointed to chair a new local planning 
panel, set up to engage with councils and industry 
groups about how the flexibility of the standard 
instrument local environmental plan (lep) could be 
improved. the standard instrument was first introduced 
in 2006 as a template to form the basis of all new 
comprehensive leps, however councils and other 
stakeholders had raised a number of concerns about  
its format and implementation. 

glennys James, of Blacktown city council, and melissa 
Watkins, of dubbo city council, were also appointed to 
the panel, alongside the department ’s representatives 
tom gellibrand and neil selmon. 

the panel held a stakeholder forum to seek feedback 
on the implementation of the standard instrument  
(also known as standard template), along with surveying 
local councils. 

the panel made recommendations to the director-
general in relation to issues such as sex service 
premises, rural subdivision and environmental zones. 
the director-general has responded to some of these 
recommendations and deferred a decision on others. 

the panel’s work has helped contribute to a more 
flexible approach by the department to the rollout  
of new standard instrument leps during 2011–12, which 
included the department being more receptive to local 
council recommendations. this has helped speed  
up the rollout of these leps. 

 l to r: local planning panel members neil selmon, glennys James, 

tony mcnamara, tom gellibrand and melissa Watkins

Planning panels disbanded

in January 2012, the minister disbanded the state’s last 
government-appointed council-specific planning panel 
at cessnock. this followed moves in 2010–11 to remove 
similar panels from Wagga Wagga and Ku-ring-gai.

these panels had been previously appointed to control 
some part of the council’s planning functions.  
the termination of the cessnock panel was part  
of a new approach to return planning powers to local 
government, where possible.

Reporting on local 
development
the department has an important role in monitoring  
the performance of the local development assessment 
system. this system is responsible for the processing  
of the vast majority of development proposals in nsW 
(about 100,000 per year) and is how most people come 
into contact with town planning. either councils or 
accredited certifiers assess local development 
proposals.

in february 2012, the department released the 2010–11 
local development performance monitoring report.  
it found development worth $19.9 billion was approved 
by nsW councils during 2010–11, a seven per cent 
increase on the previous year, despite a fall in the 
number of approvals.

it took councils an average of 68 days to determine 
development applications during 2010–11, compared  
to 67 days in 2009–10. However, in 2010–11 for higher-
valued developments, the average processing time was 
much higher – some 229 days in the case of 
development worth $5–20 million. murrumbidgee shire 
council had the lowest average determination time in 
nsW (11 days), while ashfield had the lowest average 
determination time (38 days) in metropolitan sydney. 

the department will seek to continue reducing 
processing times for all forms of local development 
through the introduction of a new planning system.

 local development performance monitoring 2010–11
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How we consulted 
Lobbyist contact
the department recognises the need  
for planning and development decisions  
to be made in an open and transparent manner. 
as such, during 2011–12, the department 
updated and strengthened its publication  
of lobbyist contact information.

lobbyists were required to request all meetings 
with department officers in writing, using a new 
online form, to assist in record keeping.

furthermore, records of contacts with lobbyists 
were published on a central website register 
within 10 days of the meeting, and again with  
the relevant assessment report.

Consultation and 
communication 
an increased focus on consultation and communication 
during 2011–12 helped build community confidence  
in the planning system. 

during 2011–12, the department sought feedback  
on 31 draft policies and plans, including new proposed 
state planning policies or guidelines. this represented 
the highest number of exhibitions in at least five years. 
additionally, the department began publishing 
submissions lodged in response to these draft policies 
and plans.

Figure 6.1: Number of Draft Policies and Plans exhibited  
in each financial year

Case Study 
Davis Cup
in august 2011, the department assisted  
the davis cup tie against switzerland to go 
ahead during september, by working closely  
with Woollahra council, tennis australia and 
other nsW government agencies to streamline 
planning approvals. this ensured smooth 
running of the event and minimised any potential 
impacts on local residents, including developing 
strategies to control traffic and parking. 

due to the short time frame available for the 
erection of temporary grandstands at royal 
sydney golf club, the department facilitated  
a minor, event-specific amendment to the 
temporary structures state environmental 
planning policy (sepp). this amendment 
ensured that the grandstands could qualify for  
a fast-tracked complying development approval.

the rose Bay match held on 16–18 september 
2011 attracted tennis superstar roger federer 
and put sydney and its harbour on the world 
stage. the royal sydney golf club is the second 
oldest club in australia and is home to 13 grass 
courts. the last time it played host to a major 
tennis event was in 2001 when alicia molik and 
nicole pratt led the fed cup to a 4–1 victory  
over switzerland.

 temporary grandstands erected at the royal sydney gold club 
for 2011 davis cup.

2008–092007–08 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

26
24

14

17

31
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Information delivery
during 2011–12, the information centre dealt with a total 
of 22,705 queries (that’s phone calls and counter 
enquiries combined) for the financial year. additionally, 
the media unit prepared responses to 957 media 
inquiries and issued 100 departmental media releases. 

in July 2011 the department launched a new-look 
enewsletter, which incorporated extra features including 
a list of major projects on exhibition, upcoming public 
events and an index of items in the edition. the 
department will continue to publish its enews each 
month and news flashes for major announcements. 

during 2011–12, a total of 24 monthly enews bulletins  
or enewsflash messages were sent to subscribers.  
the department began sending enewsflash messages 
to subscribers to announce the start of exhibition 
periods for draft policies or plans, rather than relying 
solely on traditional newspaper advertisements  
or media releases.

additionally, during 2011–12, there were some  
602,727 visits to the main planning website,  
www.planning.nsw.gov.au.

 new design of Enews launched in July 2011 

 old design of Enews in the previous reporting period.

Satisfaction with  
planning system
during 2011–12, the department invited stakeholders  
to record their satisfaction with the planning system  
and suggest improvements. this survey was undertaken 
in line with the nsW 2021 plan which requires the 
department to monitor system satisfaction.

some 10.5 per cent of the 516 respondents stated  
they were satisfied with the existing planning system. 
customers generally said they were unhappy with the 
planning system because it was inefficient and slow  
with complex policies and processes. 

this feedback confirms the need to create a new 
planning system (see item at the start of this chapter).  
a green paper was released in July 2012 just outside  
the reporting period outlining a number of options for 
this new system. the above survey will provide a useful 
benchmark to track satisfaction levels over time.

Improved ranking 

during 2011–12, nsW improved its ranking in a national 
report card on state-based development assessment 
systems.

the report card from the residential development 
council, which represents major residential developers 
and investors, commented on the review of the nsW 
planning legislation, the roll-out of standard format 
planning schemes and the establishment  
of independent assessment panels. 
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How we consulted 
World Planning Schools Congress
around 90 delegates participated in a planning 
forum and sydney study tour sponsored  
by the department in July 2011. the event was 
organised for delegates in australia for the World 
planning schools congress in perth.

leading academics from around the world  
spoke at the forum held at the museum  
of sydney. in the afternoon, the delegates were 
taken on a tour past key sydney landmarks  
and urban renewal sites around sydney Harbour 
and the parramatta river. 

Other changes
Rezoning reviews

councils will be given greater powers to approve leps 
under a draft proposal released during 2011–12 to make 
the planning system more transparent and accountable. 

public comments were invited by friday 4 may 2012  
on the draft policy statement that proposed changes 
such as giving councils final approval of many leps, 
and providing opportunities to request an independent 
review into decisions on whether or not to progress  
a rezoning proposal.

Cost of development

the accuracy of cost estimates accompanying 
development applications (das) will be improved under 
a proposal by the department. the estimated cost  
of a development is typically used to calculate da fees, 
and the department has prepared a draft guideline 
specifying which development activities and work must 
be included in the calculation. the public were invited  
to comment on the proposed guideline, also by friday  
4 may 2012.

>> Looking forward
 > seek approval for new planning legislation from  
nsW parliament.

 > continue to seek to drive down processing times  
for local development proposals.

 > complete review of rezoning processes.
 > respond to all recommendations of the local 
planning panel.

How we consulted 
Stakeholder engagement
the department increased its consultation with 
stakeholders during 2011–12, to help add value  
to the policy-making process. the department 
held dozens of events, forums and meetings 
throughout the year for stakeholders to discuss 
issues such as coal and coal seam gas mining, 
the planning system review, planning for urban 
renewal, affordable housing and sydney’s 
metropolitan plan. these events attracted over 
6,600 attendees. 

Key events included:

 > a state-wide forum to keep local councils 
informed of the latest plans by the  
department and to receive feedback  
from senior council staff.

 > two major ministerial planning forums  
to encourage feedback on the creation of  
a new planning system, along with 45 forums 
for the planning system review.

 > two public meetings and nine community  
‘drop-in’ sessions to support the release  
of draft strategic regional land use plans.

 > twenty-two metropolitan strategy community 
‘drop in’ sessions from may to June 2012 to get 
feedback on the strategy discussion paper.

 > two housing industry roundtable events that 
discussed impediments to housing supply  
in nsW and how they can be overcome.

 > an affordable housing forum about how to 
facilitate the development of more affordable 
housing in the right places in nsW.

 > three environmental advisory group meetings 
with the total environment centre, nature 
conservation council and environmental 
defender’s office to advise the department on 
key environment issues in new south Wales. 

 > an industry stakeholder group meeting  
that updated key industry groups about 
planning priorities.

 online lodgement launch, tuesday 15 november 2011.
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7
Our people

Highlights  
2011–12

Bumper year for staff and 
department awards, including 
being named the most cycle-
friendly workplace in nsW.

staff mentoring program 
expanded.

sustainability plan released 
which resulted in improved 
waste reduction results.

How we did  
it differently

updated our secondary 
employment program  
followed icac advice.

We continued to improve  
our processes for interaction 
with lobbyists.
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“The Bridge Street 
office is surrounded  
by a great network  
of cycle paths,  
so it’s great to have  
the end-of-trip  
facilities to match.”
Keiran p thomas, keen cyclist  
and staff member

find out how the department 
won a major award for 
promoting cycyling among  
its staff >>
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The department aims to provide  
an environment where people are valued  
and developed, personal achievement  
is recognised, and employees understand 
how their work contributes to broader 
government and community goals.  
As at 30 June 2012, the department 
employed 577 full-time and part-time staff.

Our people

Case study 
Wheelie Awards
in october 2011, Bicycle nsW named the 
department the most cycle-friendly workplace  
in nsW at the inaugural Wheelie awards. 

the Wheelies recognise individuals, groups, 
businesses and governments who have made  
a significant contribution to improving the 
opportunity for more people to make use  
of a bicycle in nsW. 

“the Bridge street office is surrounded by a great 
network of cycle paths, so it’s great to have the 
end-of-trip facilities to match. the department  
is very supportive of cyclists and holds a number 
of cycling-related events throughout the year  
to encourage more staff to hop on a bike” said 
Keiran p thomas, keen cyclist and staff member.

danijela Karac, from the department’s plan 
making and urban renewal office, appreciates the 
facilities the department offers. “We have special 
side entrance access to the building, which leads 
directly to the secure bicycle storage area. 
combined with our locker and shower facilities 
mean that we can start the day fit and fresh.” 

the award acknowledged the department’s 
efforts to promote cycling amongst its employees 
through initiatives like providing secure bike 
parking, changing rooms, lockers, showers,  
bike safety checks and cycling maps. 

 left to right: nigel riley, chris aston, natalie mitchell,  
Bianca lewis, danijela Karac, matt riley and tom fehon

>>

nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–1272



Awards
the department had a bumper year 
when it came to staff receiving awards. 

to acknowledge excellent 
performance and significant 
contributions to the department, the 
minister presented the annual staff 
awards in december 2011. forty-one 
nominations were received and  
25 awards presented for outstanding 
individual and team performances. 

 minister Brad Hazzard presenting an award  
to neil mcgaffin

in september 2011, the department 
won a public sector risk management 
association award for its registered 
lobbyist contact protocol. the online 
system, which guides staff in their 
communications with registered 
lobbyists on specific planning matters 
or development proposals, won the 
innovation in enterprise risk 
management award. the benefits  
of the system include improved 
transparency and mitigation of risks 
associated with lobbying activities.

 innovation award in enterprise risk management 
from 2011 treasury managed fund risk 
management awards

in october 2011, the department 
finished in second place in a sydney-
wide cycling contest, with 20.7 per 
cent of the department’s sydney and 
parramatta staff jumping on their 
bikes during the three-week sydney 
rides challenge. the challenge, 
entered by more than 200 workplaces 
in the sydney cBd and north sydney 
cBd, ranked workplaces based on 
the percentage of staff that rode for  
at least 10 minutes. the department 
finished in 2nd place for the 500+ 
employees category, with 114 of the 
550 staff across the two sites clocking 
up a total of 6352 km during the 
challenge.

 l to r: michael andon , chris forrester, sina 
mavaddati, Yolande miller and natalie mitchell

in october 2011, the department won 
an award as the most cycle-friendly 
workplace in nsW at the annual 
Wheelie awards from Bicycle nsW. 
the award acknowledge the 
department’s efforts to promote 
cycling amongst its employees 
through initiatives like providing 
secure bike parking, changing rooms, 
lockers, showers, bike safety checks 
and cycling maps.

 secure bike parking area at the Bridge  
street office

in november 2011, the sharing 
sydney Harbour access program won 
the from plan to place award at the 
planning institute of australia nsW 
awards for excellence. since 2003, 
the program has committed more 
than $10.5 million to deliver 42 km  
of walking/cycling paths and public 
domain improvements at more than 
50 locations. 

 John Brockhoff, principal policy advisor  
and peter rigg, partner at norton rose

the awards for excellence program 
recognises innovation, leadership and 
excellence in the planning profession, 
stimulates the public awareness of 
excellent projects and emphasises 
the importance of good planning  
in the community. a planner at the 
department, sebastian tauni, was 
also recognised at the awards, 
winning the award for ‘outstanding 
achievement by a Young planner’. 

the BasiX five-year performance 
monitoring program was a finalist in 
the sustainability section of the nsW 
premier’s public sector awards, 
presented earlier this month. 

 sebastian tauni with his ‘outstanding 
achievement by a Young planner’ award
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Our executives
the department has both a planning board and  
a planning executive. the board comprises the  
director-general, deputy directors-general, executive 
director of corporate governance and policy and  
the general counsel (marcus ray). 

Board meetings are held each month with the executive 
meeting scheduled for every third month. the director-
general invites all executives to attend Board meetings, 
where agenda items warrant consideration by the 
executive.

in september 2012, the department announced  
an executive position restructure, to better align our 
structure to proposed outcomes. this restructure will  
be reported for the 2012–13 annual report.

 left to right: planning executive 
members chris Wilson, andrew 
Jackson, robert Black, susan Budd, 
ian reynolds, sam Haddad, richard 
pearson, marcus ray, neil mcgaffin, 
giovanni cirillo. 

< liam mcKay

Planning executive as at 30 June 2012

Sam Haddad Director-general

Ian Reynolds Deputy Director-general Strategies and 
Land Release

Richard Pearson Deputy Director-general Development 
Assessment and Systems Performance

Susan Budd Acting executive Director Corporate 
governance and Policy

Marcus Ray executive Director Assessment Systems, 
general Counsel

Chris Wilson executive Director Major Projects 
Assessment

Andrew Jackson executive Director Strategy  
and Infrastructure Planning

Robert Black executive Director Land Release 
(Planning and Delivery)

Liam McKay Director Community and Stakeholder 
engagement

Neil Mcgaffin executive Director Planning Operations

giovanni Cirillo executive Director Urban Renewal  
and Major Sites

People
Mentoring 

the department has an ongoing mentoring program 
designed to support the personal and professional 
growth and development of staff. the program was 
expanded in march 2012 to 15 mentoring pairs. a wide 
range of staff enrolled in the program, including staff 
from the sydney Harbour foreshore authority and the 
central coast regional development corporation.  
Both mentees and mentors reported significant benefits 
from the program at the mid-point review workshop 
including confidence building, networking, sharing 
management challenges, and relationship building 
opportunities across the department.

Student planners

ten students from the university of nsW succeeded  
in gaining places in the department’s 12 month student 
planner program. supported by a buddy (senior 
planners from across the department) the students 
undertook six month placements in two different areas 
and participated in a variety of professional 
development opportunities.  

for the second year, the department hosted four 
students from macquarie university on a six week 
voluntary work-experience placement program.
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Corporate induction

over 80 new staff attended this comprehensive program 
designed to welcome and orient new employees to the 
department. Held in the Bridge street office, highlights 
of the one day program included meeting the executive 
team, presentations by senior staff on the department’s 
structure, functions and governance, and the building 
tour, walking participants through the Bridge street 
building’s complexity and historical significance.

Professional development

the department’s corporate learning and development 
calendar provided over 20 programs to 300 staff, 
including:

 > plain english workshops
 > planning for non-planners
 > ethics in planning
 > management/leadership essentials
 > introduction to property development for planners
 > cost-benefit analysis
 > presentation skills.

Employee networks 

staff are encouraged to participate in a range  
of networking groups to promote information sharing, 
professional development and working relationships. 
groups that were particularly active during the year 
include:

 > Young planning professionals group
 > green group
 > Women in planning
 > Work Health and safety committee
 > Joint consultative committee.

Waste reduction
the department published a sustainability plan  
in october 2011. the plan recognises that while the 
department has an important strategic and regulatory 
role to create a sustainable future for nsW, the 
department can also contribute to a sustainable future 
through the way we conduct our affairs.

implementation of the plan has led to significant waste 
reduction outcomes at our Bridge street head office.  
in the last financial year we have:

 > reduced our energy consumption from 5,826 
gigajoules in 2010–11 to 5,492 gigajoules in 2011–12  
at the Bridge street office. this equates to a reduction 
of 95 tonnes in emissions. this is on top of the  
127 tonnes reduction in emissions between 2009–10  
and 2010–11.

 > continued to improve our waste management 
practices in Bridge street leading a substantial 
increase in the amount of paper, cardboard and 
comingled containers recycled. during 2011–12,  
the Bridge street office recycled 19.5 tonnes of paper  
(6.7 last year), 4.4 tonnes of cardboard (4.2 last year) 
and 1.6 tonnes of comingled containers (1.4 last year), 
effectively saving 340 trees (compared with  
140 last year).

these outcomes have achieved a naBers energy 
rating of five stars and water rating of 4.5 stars  
(out of a possible 6) for the Bridge street office.  
this is an exceptional result for a heritage building. 
naBers is the national australian Built environment 
rating system which rates buildings on the basis of their 
measured operational impacts on the environment. 

Governance
governance, transparency and accountability have 
strengthened in the department through a number  
of policies, programs and initiatives including:

Secondary and Private Employment Policy

during 2011–12, the secondary and private  
employment policy was reviewed and updated.  
the review of the department’s existing policy was 
influenced by the findings and recommendations  
of an icac report in september 2010. the policy and  
its incorporated procedures has significantly expanded, 
providing more detail, definitions and examples as  
a resource to more effectively support managers when 
assessing an application for secondary and private 
employment, in particular where a conflict of interest  
or potential for conflict is identified. approvals of 
applications are for a maximum of 12 months only. 
applicants must re-apply after 12 months.

Review of boards and committees

the director-general requested an extensive review  
of significant external committee participation with  
a view to rationalising representation on these 
committees. this review was undertaken in february 
2012 resulting in a 20 per cent reduction of 
departmental staff on external significant committees, 
including those the department chairs with external 
representatives and other agencies’ committees with 
departmental representation.

Code of conduct and ethics

Work was undertaken to implement the code  
of conduct and ethics released in late 2010–11.  
all staff have now signed the compliance declaration 
requirement.

>> Looking forward
 > departmental restructure to realign the business  
and staff to meet future goals.

 > as part of the restructure, there will be a significant 
focus on learning, capability development and culture 
change to meet the challenges of creating a new 
planning system.

 > increasing the strategic planning role of the 
department’s regional offices.
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Office of the Director-General 

the Hon Brad Hazzard mp
minister for planning and infrastructure
minister assisting the premier  
on infrastructure nsW
governor macquarie tower
1 farrer place 
sydney nsW 2000 

31 october 2012

dear minister 

Subject: Annual Report of the Building Professionals Board

i have pleasure in submitting the annual report of the Building 
professionals Board for the year ended 30 June 2012, for 
presentation to the parliament of new south Wales in accordance 
with the Annual Reports (Departments) Act 1985.

this report is part of the department of planning and infrastructure’s 
annual report.

Yours sincerely

 
richard pearson
acting director-general

Letter to 
the Minister
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Annual report 
2011–12

The Building Professionals Board 
works to improve the quality 
of building construction and 
subdivision in NSW.

 existing Board members: l to r: margaret Hole, michael Wynn-Jones, 
robert marinelli, tone Wheeler, geoffrey douglass, sue Holliday,  
alison mccabe, michael Whelan

8
Building 
Professionals 
Board
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the Building professionals Board (the Board) works  
to improve the quality of building construction and 
subdivision in nsW by regulating the activities of 
accredited certifiers under the Building Professionals Act 
2005 (Bp act) and the Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Act 1979 (ep&a act).

accredited certifiers comprise building surveyors, 
engineers in a range of specialist areas, and land 
surveyors. these certifiers issue complying 
development certificates, construction certificates, 
compliance certificates, occupation certificates and 
subdivision certificates for development under the  
ep&a act, and strata certificates under the Strata 
Schemes (Freehold Development) Act 1973 and the 
Strata Schemes (Leasehold Development) Act 1986.

certification during the design and construction phases 
of a development helps to ensure that building and 
engineering works meet national building standards  
and codes, are fit to use and safe to occupy. 

the Board is a nsW government authority established 
in 2007 under the Bp act to: 

 > promote and maintain standards of building  
and subdivision certification in nsW

 > provide information to the public about how projects 
are certified and help consumers find certifiers

 > facilitate education and training for accredited 
certifiers

 > investigate complaints about accredited certifiers  
and discipline certifiers for unsatisfactory  
professional conduct

 > audit accredited certifiers and councils in their 
building certification role

 > advise the minister for planning and infrastructure 
on policy development relating to the administration  
of the Bp act.

1 the Board has two investigations units dealing with complaint and audit-type investigations

Minister

Building Professionals Board

ADT

Director Board Committees (x4)

Accreditation 
Unit

Investigations 
Unit1

Investigations 
Unit1 Policy Unit Legal Unit

Figure 8.1 Building Professionals Board organisational chart 2011–12

Structure

four committees assist the Board: the disciplinary 
committee, the accreditation committee, the policy 
committee, and the access advisory committee.  
the committees comprise Board members and external 
members with specialist expertise in professions critical 
to the Board’s operations. 

the Board is also supported by an expert technical 
reference group to advise on proposed legislative 
changes and policy proposals. 

the organisational chart above  shows the Board’s 
structure. 

Board members are appointed by the minister  
for planning and infrastructure. current Board members, 
appointed until november 2012, are:

 > sue Holliday (president) – former director-general  
of planning nsW and former national president  
of the planning institute of australia

 > michael Wynn-Jones (deputy president) – conjoint 
professor university of newcastle and building 
regulation and fire safety expert

 > geoffrey douglass – an experienced building surveyor 
currently employed at newcastle city council

 > margaret Hole – property law specialist and member 
of the administrative decisions tribunal and Board  
of surveying and spatial information

 > alison mccabe – a town planner with extensive 
experience in local government

 > tone Wheeler – award-winning architect specialising 
in environmental architecture and sustainable design

 > michael Whelan – acting commissioner to the land 
and environment court and qualified mediator  
and land surveyor

 > robert marinelli – a building surveyor and private 
accredited certifier, experienced in certifying  
all classes of buildings.

the Board is supported by staff seconded from  
the department of planning and infrastructure to carry 
out its operational functions.
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Key achievements  
2011–12
Key milestones the board achieved in 2011–12:

 > determined 156 new applications for accreditation, 
1052 applications for renewal of accreditation,  
and 35 new applications for accreditation under  
the Mutual Recognition Act (1243 in total)

 > conducted advisory reviews of 52 councils, mostly 
from country areas, and 17 private accredited 
certifiers, which included monitoring for potential 
conflicts of interest. formal investigations  
of nine accredited certifiers were also conducted

 > determined 130 complaints lodged against  
accredited certifiers

 > embarked on a strategic review of the scope  
of the nsW building certification and accreditation 
systems to determine how to improve building 
compliance, accountability of key practitioners  
and consumer protection

 > contributed submissions to the nsW planning  
system review on issues pertaining to certification 
and building regulation

 > facilitated the establishment of an inter-agency 
working party, at the minister’s request, to consider 
existing policies, systems and responsibilities  
for building regulation in nsW

 > published new style practice advice on critical 
certification issues for practitioners, including  
advice on the interpretation of the disability  
(access to premises – Buildings) standards

 > published a suite of template certification forms  
for use by councils and individual private  
accredited certifiers

 > secured strategic skills program funding for training 
places for 20 building surveyors to undertake  
diploma Building surveying

 > recognised the Bachelor of construction  
management (Building) at the university of newcastle 
as a qualification recognised for accreditation  
in categories of accreditation a1-a4 (building 
surveying categories)

 > commenced the development of a competency 
based diagnostic assessment tool to test the 
knowledge, skills and experience of building certifiers

 > facilitated arrangements with apprenticeship centres 
and councils for building surveyors to enrol  
in traineeships

 > instigated steps toward national harmonisation  
in building certification as a member of the 
australasian Building certification forum  
(the national building certifying regulators’ group). 

Relationship with the State Plan

the Board carries out its functions and sets its priorities 
so as to enable nsW to meet the objectives of the nsW 
state plan. in analysing proposals for legislative change, 
the Board is conscious of minimising additional 
regulatory burden on building applicants and  
certifying authorities. 

the Board facilitated increased access to knowledge 
and skills by recognising qualifications towards 
accreditation, working to develop a competency based 
diagnostic assessment tool to test knowledge, skills  
and experience of building certifiers, and facilitating 
arrangements for building surveyors to enrol  
in traineeships. this work will ensure a sound future  
for the building surveying profession in nsW.

the Board adopts an inclusive approach to consulting 
stakeholders on proposals for change to the nsW 
certification process, engaging with various industries, 
agencies, local government and the community.

the Board supports efficient planning decisions  
by offering advice on complying development and 
certification requirements and maintaining guides and 
checklists on the state environmental planning policy 
(exempt and complying development codes) 2008.

 glazing must comply with BasiX requirements.

“I would like to take this opportunity  
to congratulate you on the effort you  
have put into promoting the Access  
to Premises legislation into our industry… 
I believe the way you have presented  
in the various locations around the country 
will go a long way in achieving consistency 
with most building surveyors and certifiers. 
It is not often that seminars in our industry 
warrant positive acknowledgement, 
however I consider the effort put into yours 
is an exception.”
private accredited certifier
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“The building and certification industries  
are critical to the NSW and national 
economies, as well as to the business  
and personal lives of the members of its 
communities. Building certifiers delivered 
almost 59,000 [58,679] construction 
certificates and over 47,000 [47,114] 
occupation certificates last year,  
supporting $18.6 billion worth  
of approvals across NSW.” 
sue Holliday, president, Building professionals Board,  
address to the annual conference of the association  
of accredited certifiers, 16 september 2011.

Performance

Policy 

a strategic review of the scope of the nsW building 
certification and accreditation systems was undertaken 
to determine how to improve building compliance, 
accountability of key practitioners and consumer 
protection, encompassing:

 > 13 state-wide consultation sessions with nearly  
500 attendees

 > 31 one-on-one meetings with representative 
stakeholder organisations

 > online surveys of issues arising from the consultation 
sessions and proposed responses.

an inter-agency working party was established  
at the minister’s request to consider existing policies, 
systems and responsibilities for building regulation  
in nsW, issues arising, options to improve building 
regulation outcomes and the potential benefits  
and costs of those options.

several applications were considered by the access 
advisory committee to assess unjustifiable hardship 
under the disability (access to premises – Buildings) 
standards 2010 (premises standards) made under the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (commonwealth).

a number of presentations on the premises standards 
were provided to certifiers, councils, building designers, 
access consultants and others.

a two year extension to the review of the Building 
Professionals Act 2005 was obtained. 

new information sheets were published on certification 
statistics and the status of the Bachelor of construction 
management (Building) at the university of newcastle 
and six information sheets were updated.

eight new practice notes were published on issues 
including component certificates, fire safety schedules, 
tenure of principal certifying authorities and site 
inspections. five speciality practices notes on the 
interpretation of the disability (access to premises – 
Buildings) standards were also published.

a suite of certification forms was published  
for use by councils and individual private accredited 
certifiers as templates or to review existing forms.

an electronic fortnightly newsletter was published  
for all accredited certifiers and key stakeholders, 
providing updates on key legislative changes, industry 
news and lessons learned from the Board’s auditing 
and complaints investigation programs.

Education and training
in 2011–12, the Board:

 > worked to recognise the Bachelor of construction 
management (Building) at the university of newcastle 
as a qualification recognised for accreditation  
in categories of accreditation a1-a4 (building 
surveying categories).

 > secured strategic skills program funding for training 
places for 20 building surveyors to undertake  
the diploma of Building surveying

 > facilitated the upgrade of building certifiers  
with unrecognised qualifications in the Board’s 
accreditation scheme

 > commenced the development of a competency 
based diagnostic assessment tool to test knowledge, 
skills and experience of building certifiers

 > facilitated arrangements with apprenticeship centres 
and councils for building surveyors to enrol  
in traineeships

 > instigated steps toward national harmonisation  
in building certification as a member of the 
australasian Building certification forum  
(the national building certifying regulators’ group) 

 > initiated discussion for the review of the national 
training package (cpc08) for building surveying

 > developed strategies to increase the supply  
of building surveyors in nsW.
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Accreditation
the overall number of accredited certifiers in nsW 
increased by 39 to a total of 1380 in 2011–12,  
from 1341 at the end of 2010–11.

in 2011–12, the Board processed 1243 accreditation, 
renewal and mutual recognition applications. 

Table 8.1: Number of certifiers accredited in each category of accreditation1 2007–08 to 2011–12

Category of accreditation 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

A1 – Accredited certifier – building surveyor grade 1 119 128 150 629 633

A2 – Accredited certifier – building surveyor grade 2 112 94 100 292 288

A3 – Accredited certifier – building surveyor grade 3 11 17 27 155 174

A4 – Accredited certifier – building inspector 1 119 129

B1 – Accredited certifier – subdivision certification 23 18 13 17 18

C1 – Accredited certifier – private road and drainage design 
compliance

165 72 71 71 141

C2 – Accredited certifier – private road and drainage construction 
compliance

132 72 71 71 67

C3 – Accredited certifier – stormwater management facilities design 
compliance

132 76 76 75 72

C4 – Accredited certifier – stormwater management facilities 
construction compliance

132 76 77 76 73

C5 – Accredited certifier – subdivision and building (location of works 
as constructed)

132 44 26 22 19

C6 – Accredited certifier – subdivision road and drainage construction 
compliance

132 70 68 69 65

C7 – Accredited certifier – structural engineering compliance 181 85 81 78 75

C8 – Accredited certifier – electrical services compliance 8 4 3 3 4

C9 – Accredited certifier – mechanical services compliance 10 5 4 4 7

C10 – Accredited certifier – fire safety engineering compliance 27 39 43 51 64

C11 – Accredited certifier – energy management compliance (classes 
3, 5 to 9)

6 3 3 3 3

C12 – Accredited certifier – geotechnical engineering compliance 127 60 54 50 46

C13 – Accredited certifier – acoustics compliance 7 3 2 2 2

C14 – Accredited certifier – building hydraulics compliance 133 43 23 18 16

C15 – Accredited certifier – stormwater compliance 132 76 76 75 72

C16 – Accredited certifier – specialty hydraulic services compliance 133 62 55 51 49

D1 – Accredited certifier – strata certification 19 19 20 24 24

1 accredited certifiers are often accredited in more than one category of accreditation

Table 8.2: Number of accreditation applications determined 2008–09 to 2011–12

Type of application 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

New applications 46 98 938 2156

Standard renewal applications 270 275 579 1052

Renewal applications elect to be assessed against the core performance criteria  
in the Board’s accreditation scheme and retain current conditions

27 80 69 0

Renewal applications elect to be assessed against the requirements of the Board’s 
Accreditation Scheme

49 23 4 0

Mutual recognition applications 18 17 27 35

Total 410 493 1617 1243

2 of the 156 new applications determined in 2011–12: 101 were from council building surveyors; 55 were from private persons, including  
existing certifiers applying for a higher accreditation category.
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Complaint investigations
in 2011–12, 103 complaints were received by the Board 
in relation to the conduct of 49 accredited certifiers.

in 2011–12, 130 complaints were determined.

at the end of the 2011–12 financial year, 34 complaints 
remained outstanding. 

72 per cent of complaints were either dismissed, 
withdrawn or no further action was taken, mainly  
on grounds that the conduct complained of did  
not constitute unsatisfactory professional conduct.

Figure 8.2: Complaint investigations 2002–03 to 2011–12

Table 8.3: Complaint determinations by decision type 2011–12

Type of decision    Number %

Dismissed 76 72%

No further action (section 22 BP Act) 10

Withdrawn 7

Terminated complaint (certifier’s current address unknown) 1

Caution 7 28%

Reprimand 5

Reprimand and fine 22

Reprimand, fine and suspension of accreditation 1

Penalty Infringement Notice 1

Total 130 100%

Table 8.4: Complaint decision type by complainant 2011–12

Decision type Neighbour Owner Council Other

Dismissed 26 22 26 2

No further action (section 22 BP Act) 10

Withdrawn 2 2 2 1

Terminated investigation 1

Caution 7

Reprimand 2 3

Reprimand and fine 2 3 16 2

PIN 1

Total 32 27 66 5

the decisions that resulted in disciplinary actions 
related to the conduct of only 18 accredited certifiers.

the majority of the complaints that were determined  
in 2011–12 were received from councils (51 per cent), 
neighbours (24 per cent), owners (21 per cent), and 
others (4 per cent clients, owner’s corporation  
and strata committee).
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Investigations

in 2011–12, 69 advisory reviews were conducted  
of accredited certifiers and local councils, aimed  
at monitoring and improving the practices and 
procedures of accredited certifiers. this included  
52 advisory reviews of regional councils and  
17 accredited certifiers in building surveyor  
categories of accreditation a1, a2 and a3.

nine formal investigations were also conducted  
of accredited certifiers.

the Board monitored accredited certifiers  
for potential conflicts of interest through  
the advisory review process. 

Challenges and resolutions

one of the major challenges for the Board during 
2011–12 was undertaking extensive consultation with 
industry, agencies and the community on the future  
of the nsW building certification system. a model  
to expand the system to include practitioners who 
undertake critical elements of building work, as well  
as proposals to improve regulatory requirements,  
has resulted from the consultation.

a single accreditation system is due to be introduced  
for all private and council certifiers in 2013. the Board  
is working with local government to streamline  
the transition to the requirements of this system.

the Board is also developing strategies to ensure  
the continuing viability of the building surveying industry, 
which makes up the majority of accredited certifiers  
and which is of ageing membership.

the Board resolved to develop insurance options  
for greater consumer protection. 

“Approximately 35 per cent of all building 
certifiers in NSW are over 50. In the next  
10 years many [certifiers] will retire...  
The Board is concerned about these 
numbers for the long term sustainability  
of the industry. We need to do more  
to push the issue of available and properly 
qualified staff...Any action to improve the 
attraction of the certification industry and 
the attraction of working in regional areas 
fundamentally needs partnership between 
industry, the Board and others.” 
sue Holliday, president, Building professionals Board, address  
to the annual conference of the association of accredited certifiers,  
16 september 2011

Performance measures

advisory reviews of the work and activities  
of 69 certifying authorities were conducted, providing 
independent checks/validation of operations and 
direction for remedial action and clarity of issues  
to certifying authorities, as well as identifying to the 
Board education gaps and required improvements  
to legislated certification processes.

the Board worked closely with newcastle university  
to have building surveying undergraduate courses 
recognised for accreditation in nsW.

the Board secured funding for the placement  
of 20 students in the diploma of Building surveying.

the Board worked closely with industry, local 
government, agencies and consumers to identify issues 
with building regulation and certification  
and proposed changes.

a comprehensive review of the Board’s complaints 
investigation process was completed, resulting  
in a significant reduction in outstanding complaints.

the Board continued to provide advice to certifiers and 
councils on good certification practices through regular 
e-bulletins, practice advice and template forms.  
the Board switched to fortnightly delivery of its e-bulletin 
during 2011–12 and as at 30 June 2012, 2,347 people 
were subscribed to the bulletin. 

the Board welcomed opportunities to address  
industry at annual conferences, Board meetings  
and public forums. 
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Case studies
Educating for good certification practices

in early 2012, four Board officers visited nearly 70 private 
certifiers and councils to conduct advisory reviews of 
their work and practices. the reviews provide certifying 
authorities with advice on good practices  
and how to achieve compliance with regulatory 
requirements. the outcomes of the reviews enable  
the Board to:

 > provide direction for training and advice  
needed to improve practices

 > establish baseline data for reviews, and 
 > show how ensuing strategies result  
in improvement overtime.

Engaging with the community on certification  
and accreditation proposals

in early 2012, the Board conducted 13 consultation 
sessions around the state with a wide range  
of stakeholders to discuss the future of building 
certification in nsW. the sessions provided nearly  
500 stakeholders with an opportunity to consider how  
to overcome building defects, how to ensure the better 
certification of construction before work commences 
and how to ensure the final building product complies 
with the approval granted and with the Building code  
of australia.

following the sessions, the Board met one-on-one  
with 31 stakeholder organisations on the outcomes  
of the consultation and conducted four surveys  
on critical changes arising from the sessions.  
this important work will continue during 2012–13  
in a move to an improved model of building regulation 
that will result in better practices, better accountability, 
better documentation and better buildings.

Electronic service delivery
Building Professionals Board website 

the Building professionals Board website  
(www.bpb.nsw.gov.au) provides information to certifying 
authorities on professional certification practice and  
the operation of the certification system, practitioners 
seeking to apply for accreditation and consumers 
looking to appoint certifiers for their developments. 

the Board’s website features an online register  
of all accredited certifiers in nsW as well  
as a disciplinary register. publications for practitioners 
and the public are also provided, including dedicated 
pages on critical issues.

during 2011–12, the Board’s website was used  
to complement the Board’s consultation process,  
and included a dedicated webpage with links  
to background papers, feedback summaries,  
online surveys and issues papers.

in 2011–12, the website received 337,124 hits.

Work in progress
in addition to its daily activities of accreditation, 
education and investigations, the Board is continuing to:

 > finalise amendments to the environmental planning 
and assessment regulation 2000 to implement the 
disability (access to Buildings – premises) standards

 > consult on an expanded certification model for better 
buildings in nsW

 > seek amendments to the building certification system 
to address industry and consumer concerns

 > work with country certifiers and councils to assist  
in monitoring and improving their certification 
practices and procedures

 > work with universities and the vocational education 
and training (Vet) sector to promote the provision  
of building surveying courses in nsW

 > review the certification short course run  
by the university of technology sydney

 > review industry accreditation schemes for possible 
recognition in the Board’s accreditation scheme.

Going forward
for 2012–13, the Board has identified the following 
priorities:

 > introduce a single system of accreditation  
for all accredited certifiers.

 > expand the accreditation system to include 
practitioners involved in the design and construction 
of buildings and critical building elements.

 > improve insurance protection for consumers 
undertaking construction.

 > develop an alternative assessment tool  
for accreditation, in partnership with the  
university of newcastle.

 > implement a revised continuing professional 
development program for all accredited certifiers.

 > finalise the statutory review of the Building 
Professionals Act 2005.

 > implement measures to increase the supply  
of accredited certifiers.

 > increase public awareness of the role of building  
and subdivision certifiers.

“I would like to thank you for your 
presentation on Tuesday I feel it was 
beneficial to both certifiers and members 
of the BPB. I am very happy to hear that 
changes may be on the horizon in relation 
to accreditation which could largely benefit 
practicing certifiers like myself.”
private accredited certifier
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9  
Appendices

Information in this section 
represents a joint report  
for both the Department  
of Planning and 
Infrastructure and Building 
Professionals Board (BPB). 
The Board is serviced by 
staff from the department.
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1 Charter, aims and objectives

Department of Planning and Infrastructure charter, 
aims and objectives

the department of planning and infrastructure was 
created in april 2011 as a public sector division in the 
nsW government. from 2005 to 2011, the department 
was known as the department of planning.

the department is australia’s premier planning agency. 
it facilitates and manages the state’s sustainable growth 
and employment in new south Wales. our values are:

 > leadership – we will lead and deliver the best 
planning system in australia. 

 > outcomes – we will achieve balanced and sustainable 
planning and development outcomes.  

 > integrity – we will be transparent, honest  
and accountable for our actions. 

 > professionalism – we will act professionally, efficiently 
and treat everyone with respect. 

 > delivery – we will deliver what we promise. We will 
seek to exceed expectations. We will foster a ‘can do’ 
service delivery culture.

 > innovation – We will promote, nurture and value 
innovation, problem solving and an outcomes based 
culture.

the department’s principal governing legislation  
is set out in the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979. 

the department is the lead government agency 
responsible for advising the minister of planning  
and infrastructure, Brad Hazzard, and government  
on strategic land use planning, including increasing 
housing supply, state significant development and 
infrastructure projects and land for employment 
opportunities.

the department works in partnership with local 
government, other nsW government agencies and  
the community to develop and deliver strategies  
and policies for local environment plans, land use 
planning, infrastructure projects and major 
developments, and assessments and approvals, 
increasing the involvement and consultation of local 
communities and stakeholders in local and regional 
decision making.

We continue to improve the planning system so that it is:

 > clear – easier to understand 
 > transparent – open to scrutiny 
 > rigorous – all relevant issues are considered  
and decisions are merit-based 

 > efficient – decisions are made in a timely manner 
 > accountable – the community can have confidence  
in the planning system.

our objectives are:

 > sustainable growth in the right locations 
 > improved investor and community confidence 
 > efficient and effective management of natural  
and cultural resources

 > diverse, equitable and pleasant neighbourhoods  
that reflect community needs and aspirations

 > integrated delivery of regional infrastructure  
and government activities.

in september 2011, the nsW government released  
the state plan nsW 2021. the department has 
responsibility for two of the plan’s goals, which are to:

 > build livable centers by encouraging jobs growth  
in centres close to where people live. actions to 
support this goal are detailed in the metropolitan, 
regional and subregional strategic and

 > restore confidence and integrity in the planning 
system, including by developing a new planning 
system for introduction to parliament by  
november 2012. 

the department will also have a role in other priority 
actions, such as:

 > the delivery of strategic regional land use plans  
by 2014

 > restoring confidence in the planning system
 > increasing the availability of zoned and serviced 
greenfield residential lots and overall dwellings,  
for sydney.

Building Professionals Board charter,  
aims and objectives

the Building professionals Board is established under 
the Building Professionals Act 2005 (Bp act) and works 
to improve the standard of building and subdivision 
certification in nsW by regulating the activities  
of accredited certifiers under the Bp act and the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
(ep&a act). the Board’s functions are set out in the  
Bp act, namely to:

 > accredit certifiers to issue construction, occupation, 
subdivision, strata, compliance and complying 
development certificates under relevant nsW 
legislation 

 > promote and maintain standards of building  
and subdivision certification in nsW 

 > facilitate education and training for accredited 
certifiers 

 > provide information to the public about how projects 
are certified and assist consumers in locating  
a certifier  

 > investigate complaints and audit accredited certifiers 
and councils in their certification role to help improve 
the system and assist the efficiency of certifiers’ 
processes 

 > advise the minister for planning and infrastructure  
on policy development and review matters relating  
to the Bp act.
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2 Management, structure  
and organisational chart
a description of the department’s management and 
structure as at 30 June 2012 is outlined in the our 
people chapter. the applicable organisational chart  
for this date is shown below.

a more detailed description of the Building 
professionals Board’s management and structure  
is outlined in the Building professionals Board chapter.

3 Funds granted to non-government community organisations

Name of 
organisation

Amount Program Purpose funds  
granted by

glebe Rowing Club $132,790 (funded 
by Roads and 
Maritime Services)

Sharing Sydney 
Harbour Access 
Program

glebe Rowing Club received funds for 
a new pontoon facility. This will improve 
public access to Sydney Harbour

Department  
of Planning and 
Infrastructure

Concord and Ryde 
Sailing Club

$10,000 (funded 
by Roads and 
Maritime Services)

Sharing Sydney 
Harbour Access 
Program

funding provided to Concord and Ryde 
Sailing Club to investigate improved beach 
access at Bennelong Park, which  
is affected by severe erosion and is used 
by the club for launching small vessels

Department  
of Planning and 
Infrastructure

Nature Conservation 
Council 

$96,877 Planning System 
Review 

funding provided to support research 
and activities to support environmental 
and community consultation issues being 
integrated into a new planning system

Department  
of Planning and 
Infrastructure

Director General

Offi ce of Corporate 
governance & Policy

Sydney Harbour 
foreshore 
Authority

Hunter 
Development 
Corporation

Central Coast 
Regional 

Development 
Corporation

Offi ce of the 
Director general

project delivery 
unit

administrative 
services

governance

metropolitan 
& regional 
strategies

employment 
& residential 

releases

land release 
(planning)

community & 
stakeholder 

relations

planning 
operations 

coordination

northern 
region

strategic 
assessments

centres & 
urban renewal

compliance
metropolitan 
& regional 

projects south

metropolitan 
& regional 

projects north

mining & 
industry 
projects

infrastructure 
projects

assessment 
systems & 
strategies

planning 
assessment 
commission 
secretariat

legal services

legislation & 
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4 Legal change

Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure legislative changes

table of legislative change

Acts

the following acts were repealed  
by the Statute Law (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 2011:  

 › Blue Mountains Land Development 
(Special Provisions) Act 1985

 › Botany and Randwick Sites 
Development Act 1982

 › Clyde Waste Transfer Terminal 
(Special Provisions) Act 2003

 › Kooragang Coal Terminal (Special 
Provisions) Act 1997

 › Port Kembla Development (Special 
Provisions) Act 1997

 › State Environmental Planning 
(Permissible Mining) Act 1996.

The Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Act 1979 was 
amended by:

 › Environmental Planning and 
Assessment (Abolition of Wagga 
Wagga City Council Planning 
Panel) Order 2011

 › Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Amendment  
(Part 3A Repeal) Regulation 2011

 › Statute Law (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act (No 2) 2011

 › Environmental Planning and 
Assessment (Cessnock City 
Council Planning Panel Repeal) 
Order 2012

 › Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Amendment (North 
West Rail Link) Regulation 2012.

 › Statute Law (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 2012

 › Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Amendment 
(Miscellaneous) Regulation 2012.

 › Redfern–Waterloo Authority Repeal 
Act 2011 No 61.

Regulations 

Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Act 1979 – 
environmental planning and 
assessment further amendment 
(part 3a repeal) regulation 2011 

environmental planning  
and assessment amendment  
(part 3a repeal) regulation 2011

environmental planning  
and assessment amendment 
(transitional) regulation 2011

environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (Wagga 
Wagga relevant planning authority) 
regulation 2011

environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (existing 
mining leases) regulation 2012

environmental planning  
and assessment amendment 
(miscellaneous) regulation 2012

environmental planning and 
assessment further amendment 
(existing mining leases) regulation 
2012

Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Act 1979  – 
environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (north West 
rail link) regulation 2012 

Statute Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 2012 amended the environmental 
planning and assessment regulation 
2000

sydney Harbour foreshore authority 
regulation 2011 (repealed sydney 
Harbour foreshore regulation 2006)

state environmental planning policies

state environmental planning  
policy (exempt and complying 
development codes) amendment 
(miscellaneous) (no 2) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
amendment (north penrith) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(edmondson park south) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy (major development) 
amendment (edmondson park south) 
(no 2) 2011 

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(uts Ku-ring-gai campus) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy (sepp 53 transitional 
provisions) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy (state and regional 
development) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy (repeal of site compatibility 
provisions) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy amendment (standard 
instrument) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
(repeal of state environmental 
planning policy 53 – metropolitan 
residential development) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(redfern and Waterloo authority sites 
2012)

state environmental planning policy 
amendment (miscellaneous) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
amendment (middle camp) 2012

state environmental planning policy 
amendment (gwandalan) 2012

state environmental planning policy 
(nords Wharf) 2012

state environmental planning policy 
(sydney region growth centres) 
amendment (area 20 precinct) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
(sydney region growth centres) 
amendment (marsden park industrial 
precinct) 2011

state environmental planning policy 
(temporary structures) amendment 
(davis cup play-off) 2011

state environmental planning  
policy (sydney region growth centre) 
amendment (schofields precinct) 
2012

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(Vincentia coastal Village site) 2012

state environmental planning  
policy (exempt and complying 
development codes) amendment 
(general Housing code) 2012

state environmental planning  
policy (infrastructure) amendment 
(educational establishments) 2012 

state environmental planning  
policy amendment (penrith lakes 
scheme) 2012 

state environmental planning  
policy (sydney region growth 
centres) amendment (schofields 
precinct) 2012 

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(sydney olympic park) 2012 

state environmental planning policy 
(major development) amendment 
(Vincentia coastal Village site) 2012 
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Local Environmental Plans

albury local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 4) 

albury local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 5) 

auburn local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 2) 

Bankstown local environmental plan 
2001 (amendment no. 44) 

Bathurst regional (interim)  
local environmental plan 2005 
(amendment no. 5) 

Bathurst regional (interim)  
local environmental plan 2005 
(amendment no. 6) 

Baulkham Hills local environmental 
plan 2005 (amendment no. 25) 

Bellingen local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 1) 

Bellingen local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 2)

Bankstown local environmental plan 
2001 (amendment no 44)

Blacktown local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 227) 

Blacktown local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 231)

Blacktown local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 228) 

Blacktown local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 230) 

Bland local environmental  
plan 2011

Blue mountains local environmental 
plan 2005 (amendment no. 21) 

Blue mountains local environmental 
plan 2005 (amendment no. 23)

Blue mountains local environmental 
plan 2005 (amendment no. 24) 

Bogan local environmental  
plan 2011

Bombala local environmental  
plan 2012 

Boorowa local environmental  
plan 2012

Burwood local environmental  
plan no. 73

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 50)

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 152)

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 142) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 143) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 144) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 145) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 146) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 147) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 148) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 149) 

Byron local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 150) 

camden local environmental  
plan 2010 no. 1

camden local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 4) 

camden local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 10)

campbelltown (urban area)  
local environmental plan 2002 
(amendment no. 23)

campbelltown (urban area)  
local environmental plan 2002 
(amendment no. 24)

canterbury local environmental plan 
no. 138 – canterbury precinct 
(amendment no. 10) 

canterbury local environmental plan 
no. 210 

canterbury local environmental plan 
no. 211 

cessnock local environmental  
plan 1989 (amendment no. 131) 

cessnock local environmental  
plan 1989 (amendment no. 126) 

cessnock local environmental  
plan 2011 

clarence Valley local environmental 
plan 2011

clarence Valley local environmental 
plan 2011 (amendment no. 2)

cooma-monaro local environmental 
plan 1999 – (rural) (amendment  
no. 7) 

cooma-monaro local environmental 
plan 1993 – (urban) (amendment  
no. 8) 

corowa local environmental  
plan 2012

coffs Harbour local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 48)

coffs Harbour local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 49)

coffs Harbour city local 
environmental plan 2000 
(amendment no. 34)

coffs Harbour city local 
environmental plan 2000 
(amendment no. 46)

coffs Harbour city local 
environmental plan 2000 
(amendment no. 38)

coffs Harbour city local 
environmental plan 2000 
(amendment no. 46)

coffs Harbour city centre local 
environmental plan 2011

coolamon local environmental  
plan 2011

coonamble local environmental plan 
2011

coonamble local environmental plan 
2011 (amendment no. 1)

culcairn local environmental  
plan 1989 (amendment no. 3)

dubbo local environmental  
plan 2011

dungog local environmental  
plan 2006 (amendment no. 16) 

fairfield local environmental  
plan 1994 (amendment no. 126) 

fairfield local environmental  
plan 1994 (amendment no. 127) 

forbes local environmental  
plan 1986 (amendment no. 16)

gilgandra local environmental  
plan 2011

gloucester local environmental plan 
2010 (amendment no. 1) 

gosford local environmental  
plan no. 468 

gosford local environment  
plan no. 470

gosford local environmental  
plan no. 471

grafton local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 50) 

great lakes local environmental plan 
1996 (amendment no. 46) 

great lakes local environmental plan 
1996 (amendment no. 70) 

great lakes local environmental plan 
1996 (amendment no. 81) 

gundagai local environmental  
plan 2011

gundagai local environmental  
plan 2011 (amendment no. 1)

gunnedah local environmental plan 
1998 (amendment no. 21) 

gunnedah local environmental plan 
2012

gunnedah local environmental plan 
1998 (amendment no. 23)

Hawkesbury local environmental 
plan 1989 (amendment no. 158) 

Hay local environmental plan 2011
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Hornsby shire local environmental 
plan 1994 (amendment no. 99) 

Hornsby shire local environmental 
plan 1994 (amendment no. 102) 

Hurstville local environmental  
plan 1994 (amendment no. 70) 

Jerilderie local environmental  
plan 2012

Kempsey local environmental  
plan 1987 (amendment no. 108) 

Kempsey local environmental  
plan 1987 (amendment no. 117)

Kiama local environmental  
plan 2011 

Kogarah local environmental  
plan 1998 (amendment no. 49) 

Ku-ring-gai local environmental plan 
no. 216

Ku-ring-gai local environmental plan 
no. 217 

Kyogle local environmental  
plan no. 18  

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 46) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 47) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 52) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 53) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 54) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 56) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 57) 

lake macquarie local environmental 
plan 2004 (amendment no. 62) 

leeton local environmental  
plan no. 50 

leichhardt local environmental plan 
2000 (amendment no. 18) 

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 8) 

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 9)

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 11) 

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 12)

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 15) 

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 16)

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 18) 

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 19)

liverpool local environmental  
plan 2008 (amendment no. 21)

liverpool plains local environmental 
plan 2011

liverpool plains local environmental 
plan 2011 (amendment no. 1)

maclean local environmental  
plan 2001 (amendment no. 24) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 110) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 111) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 112) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 113) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 114) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 115) 

maitland local environmental  
plan 2011

manly local environmental  
plan 1988 (amendment no. 82) 

marrickville local environmental plan 
2011

mid-Western regional interim  
local environmental plan 2008 
(amendment no. 1) 

moree plains local environmental 
plan 2011 

mosman local environmental  
plan 2012

mosman local environmental  
plan 2012 (amendment no. 1)

murray local environmental  
plan 2011

muswellbrook local environmental 
plan 2009 (amendment no. 5) 

muswellbrook local environmental 
plan 2009 (amendment no. 7)

nambucca local environmental plan 
2010 (amendment no. 1) 

nambucca local environmental plan 
2010 (amendment no. 2) 

nambucca local environmental plan 
2010 (amendment no. 3) 

nambucca local environmental plan 
2010 (amendment no. 9)

narrabri local environmental  
plan amendment (land uses 2012)

narrabri local environmental  
plan no. 51 

narrabri local environmental  
plan no. 52 

narromine local environmental  
plan 2011

newcastle local environmental  
plan 2012

newcastle city centre local 
environmental plan 2008 
(amendment no. 3) 

north sydney local environmental 
plan 2001 (amendment no. 44) 

north sydney local environmental 
plan 2001 (amendment no. 45) 

north sydney local environmental 
plan 2001 (amendment no. 46) 

north sydney local environmental 
plan 2001 (amendment no. 47) 

north sydney local environmental 
plan 2001 (amendment no. 48) 

orange local environmental  
plan 2011

parramatta city centre local 
environmental plan 2007 
(amendment no. 4) 

parramatta local environmental plan 
2011 

pittwater local environmental  
plan 1993 (amendment no. 95)

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 2) 

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 3) 

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 5)

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 6) 

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 7) 

port macquarie Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 8)

port macquarie Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 9)

port macquarie-Hastings  
local environmental plan 2011 
(amendment no. 13) 

port stephens local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 34) 

port stephens local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 35) 

port stephens local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 36) 

port stephens local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 37) 

Queanbeyan local environmental 
plan 1998 (amendment no. 48) 
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randwick local environmental  
plan 1998 (consolidation) 
(amendment no. 43) 

randwick local environmental  
plan 1998 (consolidation) 
(amendment no. 44) 

richmond Valley local environmental 
plan 2012 

rockdale local environmental  
plan 2011

ryde local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 2)

ryde local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 3)

shellharbour local environmental 
plan 2000 (amendment no. 15) 

shoalhaven local environmental plan 
1985 (amendment no. 191) 

shoalhaven local environmental plan 
1985 (amendment no. 239) 

shoalhaven local environmental plan 
1985 (amendment no. 240) 

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 43)

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 68) 

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 72) 

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 74) 

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 80) 

singleton local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 81)

snowy river rural local 
environmental plan 2007 
(amendment no. 2)

south sydney local environmental 
plan 1998 (amendment no. 21)

sutherland shire local environmental 
plan 2006 (amendment no. 9)

sutherland shire local environmental 
plan 2006 (amendment no. 11)

sydney local environmental  
plan (glebe affordable Housing 
project) 2011

sydney local environmental  
plan (Harold park) 2011

temora local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 1)

tweed local environmental  
plan 2000 (amendment no. 88) 

uralla local environmental  
plan 2012

urana local environmental  
plan 2011 (amendment no. 1)

Wagga Wagga local environmental 
plan 2010 (amendment no. 1)

Wakool local environmental plan 
1992 (amendment no. 6) (east 
Barham, part lot 1 dp 1094360)

Wakool local environmental  
plan 1992 (amendment no. 7)

Wakool local environmental  
plan 1992 (amendment no. 8)

Warringah local environmental  
plan 2011

Waverley local environmental  
plan (Bondi Junction centre) 2010 
(amendment no. 2)

Waverley local environmental  
plan (Bondi Junction centre) 2010 
(amendment no. 3)

Waverley local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 33) 

Waverley local environmental  
plan 1996 (amendment no. 34) 

Weddin local environmental  
plan 2011

Wentworth local environmental plan 
1993 (amendment no. 27) 

Wentworth local environmental plan 
1993 (amendment no. 28) 

Wentworth local environmental plan 
2011

Wingecarribee local environmental 
plan 2010 (amendment no. 3) 

Wingecarribee local environmental 
plan 2010 (amendment no. 4)

Wollondilly local environmental plan 
2011 (amendment no. 2)

Wollongong local environmental plan 
2009 (amendment no. 7) 

Wollongong local environmental plan 
2009 (amendment no. 9) 

Wollongong local environmental plan 
2009 (amendment no. 10) 

Wollongong local environmental plan 
2009 (amendment no. 11)

Woollahra local environmental  
plan 1995 (amendment no. 66) 

Woollahra local environmental  
plan 1995 (amendment no. 69) 

Wyong local environmental  
plan 1991 (amendment no. 178) 

Wyong local environmental  
plan 1991 (amendment no. 180) 

urana local environmental  
plan 2011

Young local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 2) 

Young local environmental  
plan 2010 (amendment no. 3)

Orders

Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 – Joint regional 
planning panels amendment (Wagga 
Wagga city) order 2011 (2011-498) 
gazette no. 90 of 16 september 2011,  
page 5511

environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (canterbury 
planning scheme ordinance) order 
2011 (2011-436) lW 19 august 2011

environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (marrickville 
local environmental plan 2001) order 
2011 (2011-178) lW 4 march 2011

environmental planning and 
assessment amendment (state 
environmental planning policy (major 
development) 2005) order 2011 
(2011-406) lW 5 august 2011

Environmental Planning  
and Assessment Act 1979 – 
environmental planning and 
assessment (cessnock city council 
planning panel repeal) order 2012 
(2012-26) lW 27 January 2012

Building Professionals Board 
legislative changes 

notices of amendment of the 
Building professionals Board 
accreditation scheme under section 
4(7) of the Building Professionals 
Act 2005 (gazetted 2 september 
2011 and 13 december 2011)
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Department of Planning and Infrastructure summary 
of significant judicial decisions

Huntlee Pty Ltd v Sweetwater Action group & Ors; 
Minister for Planning and Infrastructure v Sweetwater 
Action group Inc  [2011] – Huntlee New Town Site 
– SePP Amendment – Court of Appeal

this is an appeal from a judgment of the land and 
environment court which held that a zoning of 
approximately 1702 hectares of the Huntlee new town 
site, near Branxton, for housing and employment lands 
under the major development state environmental 
planning policy (sepp) by the former minister was 
invalid on two procedural grounds. 

the owners of the land and the minister successfully 
overturned the land and environment court’s judgment 
in the court of appeal. as a result, the zoning of the 
Huntlee new town site was held to be valid. the 
judgment provides important guidance for the making 
of other sepps and also for the type of security the 
minister may require for voluntary planning agreements.

Haughton v Minister for Planning and Delta electricity; 
Haughton v Minister for Planning and Macquarie 
generation [2011] – Bayswater B and Mount Piper 
Power Stations – Land and environment Court 

this case involved a challenge to the validity of two 
concept plan approvals granted for the Bayswater  
B power station and the mount piper power station 
extension. the proposals are to develop new 2000 
megawatt capacity power stations fuelled by either gas 
or coal, adjacent to existing power stations in the Hunter 
Valley and lithgow. 

the validity of the critical infrastructure declaration  
for facilities generating more than 250mW of electricity 
per year was challenged and it was asserted that the 
minister failed to consider the principles of ecologically 
sustainable development and anthropogenic climate 
change when granting the approvals.

Justice craig of the land and environment court held 
that mr Haughton did not need the minister’s approval 
before commencing the challenge and then dismissed 
all grounds of challenge. 

Hunter environment Lobby v Minister for Planning  
& Ulan Coal Mines Ltd [2011] – Land and environment 
Court

this was a merit appeal by a community group 
challenging the validity of a project approval for the ulan 
coal continued operations project. the approval 
allowed ulan coal mines to expand its existing 
underground mining operations, recommence open cut 
mining operations and increase its production rate to  
20 million tonnes of coal a year (from 10 million tonnes 
per annum). the proposal has a capital investment 
value of $881 million.

the issues on appeal included the impacts  
on groundwater, biodiversity and greenhouse gas 
emissions, as well as consistency with the principles  
of ecologically sustainable development.  

the court held that impacts on climate change, 
biodiversity and groundwater did not warrant refusal  
of the project, subject to further refinement of conditions 

of approval. the court held that it was unnecessary  
to impose a condition to offset greenhouse gas impacts  
as the national carbon pricing scheme passed by the 
commonwealth in november 2011 addresses emissions 
from individual large emitters of greenhouse gas.

Mansfield v Minister for Planning and Hanson 
Construction Materials Pty Ltd [2012] – easy guyong 
Quarry – Land and environment Court

these were merit appeals commenced by an objector 
against the project approval for a basalt quarry in east 
guyong. the applicant contended that the project 
should be refused on the basis that the full extent of the 
possible naturally occurring asbestos on the site is not 
known and that the project is inconsistent with the 
principles of ecologically sustainable development 
(particularly the precautionary principle).  

the court concluded that the project should  
be approved, subject to amendments to the proposed 
asbestos management plan and related conditions  
of approval.

Coffs Harbour City Council v Minister for Planning  
and Infrastructure, Sandy Shores Developments Pty 
Ltd and Director-general of the Department of 
Planning and Infrastructure – Court of Appeal

coffs Harbour city council is challenging the validity  
of the minister’s concept plan approval for a residential 
subdivision at sandy Beach north near Woolgoolga.  
the land and environment court dismissed the 
challenge in January 2012 and council has appealed 
that decision in the court of appeal. 

the issues on appeal include whether a valid 
environmental assessment was lodged for the project, 
whether the concept plan approval is uncertain and 
whether it was granted to a non-legal entity or an entity 
other than the proponent.

the matter is listed for hearing on 7 november 2012.

Robert Lester v Minister for Planning and 
Infrastructure and Ashton Coal Operations Ltd  
– Court of Appeal

this case involved a challenge to a modification  
to an approval for the ashton coal mining project.  
the challenge related to the approval for installation  
of 15 gas drainage wells facilitating the venting of gas.

a number of grounds of challenge to the validity of the 
approval were raised including failure to comply with 
s.75W of the environmental planning and assessment 
act and the environmental planning and assessment 
regulation, failure to consider aboriginal heritage  
and to make the appendices to the environmental 
assessment publicly available and failure to consider 
the public interest having regard to the quantity  
of greenhouse gases resulting from the approval.

acting Justice moore dismissed all the grounds  
of the appeal. an appeal in the court of appeal is listed 
for hearing on 20 february 2013.
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Building Professionals Board summary of significant 
judicial decisions

Dix v Building Professionals Board [2011] NSWSC 926 
(15 August 2011) NSW Supreme Court review of a 
Board finding – procedural fairness

an accredited certifier, who was the subject of adverse 
findings by the Building professionals Board, sought  
a declaration, and consequential relief, from the nsW 
supreme court that the certifier was not afforded 
procedural fairness. the Board had imposed  
a reprimand, suspension for six months and a fine  
of $10,000 on the certifier.

Details

the complaints against the accredited certifier involved 
the issue of an interim occupation certificate (oc) 
without ensuring compliance with the Bca, principally  
in respect to the provision of ventilation, fire safety, 
egress, balustrades in fire stairs, and the provision  
of toilet facilities, including those for people with  
a disability.

the certifier was advised by the Board about the 
complaints and that these were under investigation.  
the certifier provided further information to the Board  
in relation to the complaints and the Board subsequently 
prepared a report detailing the findings of its investigator 
in relation to the complaint. the report was sent to the 
certifier for response to any matters contained therein. 
the certifier sent a submission to the Board in response 
to the report on the day the Board made a decision  
on the matter.

the Board considered the allegations proven and found 
the certifier guilty of professional misconduct.

findings and outcome

the court established that the findings by the Board  
of professional misconduct on the part of the certifier 
were based on the investigator’s report but that the 
investigator did not seek response from the certifier 
concerning material allegations contained in the report.

there was also nothing in the statement of decision 
given by the Board that suggested the submission 
made by the certifier was actually considered, although 
it was available to the Board at the time of its meeting.  
it was considered not satisfactory for the Board to omit 
giving at least some explanation for rejecting  
a submission, either of fact or law, made by a person 
under investigation.

further, it was declared that the Board did not afford  
the certifier reasonable opportunity to be heard on 
whether the certifier’s conduct constituted unsatisfactory 
professional conduct or professional misconduct and 
on the appropriate orders to be made. the court ruled 
that the collapsing of the process that occurred in the 
case effectively denied the certifier procedural fairness.

the court voided the orders of the Board and quashed 
the decision that the certifier was guilty of professional 
misconduct. the matter was remitted to the Board  
to be determined according to law and for the Board  
to consider allowing the certifier to make further 
submissions on its findings of fact in relation to the 
complaints in the interest of fairness. the Board  
was also directed to pay the certifier costs.

5 Economic or other factors
the department and the Building professionals Board 
are not aware of any economic or other factors affecting 
the achievement of operational objectives.

6 Management and activities
the department and Building professionals Board  
did not undertake any reviews which were completed  
by the end of the 2011–12 reporting period.

7 Research and development

Department of Planning and Infrastructure research 
and development

the department from time-to-time undertakes  
or commissions research to assist its work.

Centre for Water Sensitive Cities – cities as water 
supply catchments 

this is a five year initiative that commenced in 2010  
in cooperation with monash university, the university  
of Queensland and university of melbourne. it focuses 
on examining how water sensitive urban design can  
be used to improve the liveability of urban environments.

the department has committed $60,250 cash over five 
years and approximately ten hours every three months 
of staff time. in 2012 the program will become a 
commonwealth funded cooperative research centre.

Centre for International economics

this research project is examining the cost and benefits 
of alternative growth paths for sydney’s existing urban 
areas. this project (and resulting evidence) will underpin 
aspects of the new metropolitan strategy.

Research for a new planning system

the department provided funding assistance 
(mentioned above) to support research by the nature 
conservation of council of nsW, total environment 
centre and environmental defenders’ office into how 
environmental and community consultation issues 
should be best integrated into a new planning system. 
this resulted in the publication of a report our 
environment, our communities which is available  
at www.nccnsw.org.au. the report includes a number  
of case studies and suggestions, which were 
incorporated into the planning system review green 
paper released in July 2012.

the department also commissioned a review  
of international Best practice in planning law to inform, 
and provide a reference for, the preparation of the green 
paper. the review was conducted by leslie stein, 
scholar in residence, centre for environmental legal 
studies, pace university school of law, new York.

Building Professionals Board research  
and development

the Building professionals Board occasionally 
commissions research to assist its work.

continual leading research and development is being 
conducted with the university of newcastle in the 
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flowing on from the introduction of the nsW public 
sector Wages policy 2011, the industrial relations 
(public sector conditions of employment) regulation 
2011 no. 294, was enacted guaranteeing minimum 
conditions of employment and equal remuneration  
for men and women doing work of equal or comparable 
value in the nsW public service.

Industrial relations policies and practices 2011–12

the department and the public service association 
(psa) continued their strong commitment to 
consultation throughout the year with five (5) meetings 
held over the year. the Joint consultative committee 
(Jcc) ensures any workplace issues that arise are 
resolved quickly, effectively and discussion on how  
to avert or prevent future concerns is ongoing.

Jcc employee representatives:

Jim clark (chair), Jonathon lynch, louise Wells, marilyn 
fuazadeen, Brook scarlett, geo papas and paul James 
(psa industrial officers), gary o’rourke, Jason 
saunders and latu sailosi (psa organisers).

Jcc management representatives:

sam Haddad, donna rygate, tim north,  
damian furlong, Barrie green and gloria nicol.

this year saw the introduction of psa organisers  
invited to present to new staff on the benefits of union 
membership.

development of an online diagnostic tool to test  
the knowledge, skills and experience of certifiers. 

review of continuing professional development 
requirements for accredited certifiers to lift 
professionalism and align requirements of council  
and private certifiers has commenced.

8 Human resources
for administrative purposes the 2011–12 data below 
includes the staff of the department and the Hunter 
development corporation and the central coast 
regional development corporation.

the department provides 244.6 full time equivalent 
employees to:

 > sydney Harbour foreshore authority – 199.4
 > Hunter development corporation – 18.0
 > central coast regional development  
corporation – 7.0.

Exceptional movements in salaries  
and wages 2011–12 

the crown employees (public sector – salaries 2008) 
award was varied to provide a salary increase of 2.5 per 
cent effective from the first full pay period on or after  
1 July 2011. a determination in november 2011 by the 
statutory and other offices remuneration tribunal 
awarded a 2.5 per cent increase to officers of the senior 
executive service and statutory office position holders.

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Men Women Total Men Women Total Men Women Total Men Women Total

Permanent full-time 217 219 436 208 200 408 216 216 432 235 207 442

Part-time 6 50 56 8 57 65 8 49 57 12 55 67

Temporary full-time 23 36 59 26 27 53 26 25 51  24 23 47

Part-time 5 13 18 3 8 11 2 5 7 4 6 10

Non-SeS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Trainee    2 1 3 2 1 3   1 

SeS 13 2 15 11 1 12* 11 1 12  10  10 

Total 264 320 584 258 294 552 265 297 562 285 292 577 

9 Consultants

Consultants over $50,000

Consultant Nature of work undertaken  Amount  

Nous group Organisational review – the Nous group has been engaged to undertake a review  
of the current organisational structure and to recommend implementation principles that  
will build an understanding of the strategic priorities, organisational structure and 
challenges in the future.    

$52,525 

Department of finance  
and Services

Project management – expansion of the electronic Housing Code. $54,672

Mg Planning Legal – review of environmental Planning and Assessment Act. Provision of Planning 
advice and drafting services.

$50,352

Sub total $157,549

Consultants under $50,000 – total number of minor consultancies (26) $216,623 

Total for all consultancies $374,172
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10 Equal Employment Opportunity
for administrative reasons, the data covers the staff  
of the department as well as the Hunter development 
corporation and central coast regional development 
corporation.

11 Significant EEO initiatives 
the department strongly supports and is dedicated  
to the principles of equal employment opportunity.

during 2011–12 the following outcomes were achieved:

 > attendance of 11 staff at a merit selection 
 techniques course.

 > sponsorship of 10 female staff to attend the unifem 
breakfast as part of the international Women’s  
day activities.

 > Women in planning group organised an event 
attended by 80 staff celebrating 100 years  
of international Women’s day.

 > continued support provided to network of Young 
planning professionals group (for staff 35 years  
and under).

 > employment of 10 student planners.
 > mentoring program commenced to assist  
the development of minority groups to aspire  
to management roles.

 > utilisation of lactation room in two office locations.

Trends in the representation of EEO groups

eeO group 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 Benchmark

Women 53% 53% 50.6% 50%

Aboriginal People and Torres Strait Islanders 2.3% 0.5% 0.2% 2.6%

People whose language first spoken as a child was not english 32.5% 27.6% 26.1% 19%

People with a disability 6.6% 5.8% 6.4% NA

People with a disability requiring a work related adjustment 1.6% 1.8% 2% 1.1% (2011)
1.3% (2012)
1.5% (2013)

Trends in the distribution of EEO groups

eeO group 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 Benchmark

Women 92 93 93 100

Aboriginal People and Torres Strait Islanders NA NA NA 100

People whose language first spoken as a child was not english 93 93 94 100

People with a disability 99 97 97 100

People with a disability requiring a work related adjustment NA NA NA 100

note 1: a distribution index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the eeo group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff.  
Values less than 100 mean that the eeo group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. the more pronounced  
this tendency is, the lower the index will be. in some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the eeo group is less concentrated at lower  
salary levels. note 2: the distribution index is not calculated where eeo group or non-eeo group numbers are less than 20.

Work/life balance

the department aims to provide assistance to staff  
in balancing their personal and work commitments. 

a number of flexible work arrangements were granted  
to staff to assist them with balancing work and family 
commitments. these arrangements were in the form  
of either working from home on a short-term basis  
and/or to reduce their full-time work status to temporary 
part-time. in addition, 139 staff took a total of 265 days 
of family and community service (facs) leave and  
138 staff took a total of 410 days of carers’ leave.

12 Disability plans
the department is committed to implementing  
the actions of the disability action plan which identifies 
and seeks to minimise barriers that prevent people  
with a disability from accessing information, services 
and employment.

the department has been actively working with staff 
members to make any adjustments to the workplace 
where possible to accommodate any disabilities. 

the department undertook 25 workplace assessments  
for staff with disabilities and implemented appropriate 
adjustments.
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13 Major assets
the only major acquisition during the year was $1.048 
million for the electronic Housing code database. other 
asset additions for the year totalled $54,000.  

Non-land asset holdings

Carrying value as at 30 June This year  
$’000 

Last year  
$’000

Leasehold improvements – 
Newcastle

119 149

Leasehold improvements – 
Valentine Ave, Parramatta

– 167

Leasehold improvements –  
make good (various locations)

29 185

Computers 15 29

Plant and equipment 700 848

Software 1,093 190

Total assets 1,956 1,568

Land disposal

With the exception of corporation sole (see the 
managing growth chapter), the department has not 
disposed of any land, or acquired any major assets  
(nor has the Building professionals Board).

14 International travel

Department of Planning and Infrastructure 
international travel

stephanie schofield, of the department’s plan making 
and urban renewal division, and lihua Zhao of the 
corporate governance and policy division, travelled 
from sydney to Wellington, new Zealand, 12–17 June 
2012 to attend a residential course on ‘designing public 
policies and programs’, as part of the anZsog 
executive masters of public administration program.

Building Professionals Board international travel

members and staff of the Building professionals Board 
did not undertake any international travel for 2011–2012.

15 Consumer response

Department of Planning and Infrastructure consumer 
response

13 complaints about the department were registered  
in the 2011–12 year. six related to customer service 
(availability of helplines, timeliness, lack of response) 
and the remaining seven to decisions (compulsory 
acquisition), inaccuracies (mapping error), inappropriate 
action or inaction (entry onto property, inadequacies  
in a submission process), corruption (declaration  
of a project as critical infrastructure, rezoning of land)  
and bias (by department in role of landlord).

the allegations of corruption were referred to the 
independent commission against corruption, which 
decided in one case that there was no evidence of 
corrupt conduct. the other matter remains open at time 
of writing.

each completed complaint (10 of the 13, the remaining 
three carried forward) was resolved by provision of 
explanation over the phone and/or by letter and, where 
relevant, by problems being solved and undertakings  
of systems review being given. for example, a Helpline 
log-in and verification problem was solved so that  
a client could use the BasiX system and, in another 
matter, the department undertook to work towards 
improving the level of consultation and information 
sharing surrounding changes to standard instrument 
local environment plans. in other matters, issues of 
complaint were not upheld and letters to complainants 
gave detailed explanations for those findings.

three of the 13 complaints were received from the nsW 
ombudsman. in each case the ombudsman accepted 
the department’s explanations or resolution actions.

Building Professionals Board consumer response

three complaints were received about the timeliness of 
complaints investigations against accredited certifiers. 
the matters were resolved by the provision of an 
explanation over the phone and/or by letter. the Board’s 
complaints management system was reviewed during 
2011-12 and changes have been made to the initial 
assessment process of complaints to ensure they are 
streamed, with simple matters being dealt with more 
quickly. 

the review of the Building professionals act in 2012/13 
provides an opportunity to address the process through 
legislative change where necessary.
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16 Payment of accounts

Quarterly schedule of accounts payable – aged analysis at the end of each quarter ($)

Quarter Current (by within 30 
days of receipt) 

< 30 days  
overdue

30–60 days 
overdue

61–90 days 
overdue

90 + days  
overdue

All suppliers

September 307,64  76 7,864 25,670 26,552

December 869,084  37,897 67,067 1,313 16,068

March 407,433 241 32,890 41 7,979

June 1,001,992 14,262 43,922 0 1,344

Small Business suppliers

September 0 0 0 0 202

December 0 0 0 0 202

March 389 0 0 0 202

June 0 0 0 0 0

calculations for the aged analysis table above are based on the date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice received by servicefirst from either the 
department of planning and infrastructure or the vendor directly.

Accounts paid or due within each quarter

Measure September December March June

All suppliers

Number of accounts due for payment 2,667 2,479 2,802 2,511

Number of accounts paid on time 2,632 2,438 2,722 2,477

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time  
(based on a number of accounts)

98.7% 98.3% 97.1% 98.6%

Dollar amount of accounts due for payment $36,478,632 $13,131,387 $13,726,687 $41,703,856

Dollar amount of accounts paid on time $36,427,789 $12,966,471 $13,622,277 $41,632,049

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time (based on $) 99.9% 98.7% 99.2% 99.8%

Number of payments for interest on overdue accounts 0 0 0 0

Interest paid on overdue accounts 0 0 0 0

Small business suppliers

Number of accounts due for payment 0 5 4 5

Number of accounts paid on time 0 5 4 5

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time  
(based on a number of accounts)

… 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Dollar amount of accounts due for payment 0 $982 $3,699 $4,095

Dollar amount of accounts paid on time 0 $982 $3,699 $4,095

Actual percentage of accounts paid on time (based on $) … 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Number of payments for interest on overdue accounts 0 0 0 0

Interest paid on overdue accounts 0 0 0 0

due date is calculated base on government terms payment made by the end of the month following the month in which an invoice is received excluding  
small Business Vendors.
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17 Time for payment of account
there was no penalty interest paid during the financial 
year 2011–12.  

18 Risk management  
and insurance activities
the department participates in the nsW treasury 
managed fund, a government self insurance 
arrangement that provides workers’ compensation, 
comprehensive motor vehicle, property, public liability 
and miscellaneous cover. the department places a high 
priority on the implementation of sound risk 
management practices. this is expressed through  
the links between risk management, premium 
monitoring and claims management. 

the audit and risk committee has a majority  
of independent members and complies with the other 
requirements of the internal audit and risk management 
policy for the nsW public sector. 
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19 Internal audit and risk management policy attestation 

Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement for the 2011–12 Financial Year  
for the Building Professionals Board
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement for the 2011–12 Financial Year for the Department  
of Planning and Infrastructure
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20 Disclosure of controlled entities
the department does not have any controlled entities.

21 Disclosure of subsidiaries
the department does not have any subsidiaries.

22 Multicultural Policies  
and Services Program
the multicultural policies and services program outlines 
how all nsW government departments are to establish 
supportive policy, legal and planning frameworks  
to promote a culturally-diverse society.

the community relations commission monitors  
and assesses the performance of government agencies 
under this program. the department remains sensitive 
to the cultural, racial, religious and linguistic traditions  
of communities in nsW.  

effective communication and consultation strategies 
ensure that all people in nsW are able to be considered 
in the policy process, have full access to appropriate 
information and services and are able to contribute  
to planning outcomes that affect their lives. 

Department of Planning and Infrastructure 
multicultural policies and services program

growth centres outreach to culturally diverse 
community

the austral and leppington north precincts are two  
of the second release precincts within the south West 
growth centre. the rezoning of these precincts will 
provide capacity for around 16,000 new dwellings for 
approximately 51,000 people within the next 20-30 years 
as sydney’s population grows.

the draft precinct planning package for the austral  
and leppington north precincts was on public 
exhibition from 26 october 2011 until 2 december 2011. 
it was identified that a significant proportion of 
landowners in the precinct did not speak english well  
if at all. to maximise community awareness of the 
upcoming exhibition and proposed changes, a poster 
containing information about the exhibition period  
was translated into six key languages.

the translated poster was distributed to key 
organisations within the community, which included  
the leppington primary school, out of liverpool 
community services, liverpool and at camden council 
facilities. the phone number for the translating and 
interpreting service (tis) national was published on  
all communications and was also available at the 
drop-in sessions should it be required.

additional information was also made available to the 
leppington public school to include in their newsletter 
and a presentation was given to the p&c as the school 
has many families from cald communities.

Other 

the department has actively worked with the nsW 
department of aboriginal affairs to develop fact sheets 
for developers to encourage the employment of 
aboriginal people in their projects. this initiative is 
nearing completion in support of the nsW state plan’s 
objective of fostering opportunity and partnership with 
aboriginal people – support aboriginal culture, country 
and identity (goal 26).

additionally, interpreters are used as required, including 
for community events, the community information 
phone line and the department’s information centre.

Strategy proposed for following year

the department is currently in the process of creating  
a new planning system. a key aim of this system is 
expected to be improving community consultation,  
in particular for broad scale strategic planning.  
an important part of this work will be to ensure systems  
are in place to allow multi-cultural communities to easily 
access the planning system.

Building Professionals Board multicultural policies 
and services program

for the delivery of documents, assistance provided  
by inquiry lines, and the presentation and format of 
publications on its website, the Board refers persons 
whose first language is not english to the translation 
and interpreting service.

the Board engages a number of staff who speak 
languages in addition to english who can use their  
skills to assist persons from varied cultural and linguistic 
backgrounds.

the Board will consider options to improve advice  
and assistance to community members in multiple 
languages.

23 Agreements with the Community 
Relations Commission
the department and the Building professionals Board 
do not have any agreements with the community 
relations commission
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24 Work health and safety
the department continued its commitment to ensure  
a safe and healthy work environment for staff, 
contractors, clients and visitors. education of all staff  
on responsibilities continued to be a focus.

during 2011–12, 219 staff were trained to increase  
their awareness of WHs responsibilities, how to 
ergonomically set a workstation and how it assesses 
and manages risks. this resulted in a total of 539 staff 
being trained within 14 months on these matters. 

in addition Workcover was invited and conducted  
an information session to the planning executive  
on their roles and responsibilities in relation to WHs.

this training led to a sharp increase in the number  
of incidents notified, however did not proportionally 
increase the number of workers compensation claims 
lodged. this is a positive step as matters are being 
raised and addressed before they lead to an injury  
to a staff member, contractor, client or visitor.

fifteen staff received ergonomic assessments by  
a professional occupational therapist to assist with 
workplace adjustments, with numerous other ergonomic 
assessments undertaken with the skills obtained 
through the in-house WHs training.

of the 31 incidents reported, 19 related to journey 
claims that occurred whilst travelling to or from work. 
With a change in workers compensation legislation with 
effect from 19 June 2012, coverage for journey claims 
will be reduced therefore it is anticipated that there will 
be a reduction in claims for 2012–13.

the WHs committee met on a quarterly basis and 
consolidated the results of a hazard identification 
exercise and presented the findings to the executive  
for their information and appropriate action.

WHS Committee employee representatives

graeme gandy (chairperson), allan dernee, ramani 
Warusevitane, lin Wrona, Keiran thomas, margaret 
Kirton, Wayne garnsey, nerida ashby.

WHS Committee management representatives

tanya stephens (secretary), tony sauchella,  
maria Whipp, Juliet grant, Barrie green.

25 Waste

Waste and consumption

the department is committed to the high level goals 
stated in its sustainability policy:

 > reducing waste
 > promoting recycling and re-use
 > increasing efficient use of energy and water. 

at this point in time it is difficult for the organisation  
to measure its performance across many of its locations 
because they (a) are multi-tenanted, thus making  
it difficult to measure our performance independent  
of other tenants (b) due to the absence of systems  
or processes which capture the necessary information. 
the latter is especially problematic in our smaller 
offices. 

However, the department’s Bridge street head office, 
which houses a large percentage of the organisation’s 
staff, continues to deliver outstanding results against 
high level goals. in the last financial year, we have:

 > reduced our energy consumption from 5,826 
gigajoules in 2010–11 to 5,492 gigajoules in  
2011–12. this equates to a reductions of 95 tonnes  
in emissions. this is on top of the 127 tonnes 
reduction in emissions between 2009–10 and 2010–11

 > continued to improve our waste management 
practices in Bridge street leading a substantial 
increase in the amount of paper, cardboard and 
comingled containers recycled. during the  
2011–12 financial year the department’s head office 
has recycled 19.5 tonnes of paper (6.7 last year),  
4.4 tonnes of cardboard (4.2 last year) and 1.6 
tonnes of comingled containers (1.4 last year), 
effectively saving the equivalent of:

 >340  trees (compared with 140 last year); or 
 >67 barrels of oil (compared with 27 last year); or
 >842  kilolitres of water (compared with 348 last 
year); or
 >67 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (compared 
with 27 last year).

 > achieving a naBers energy rating of 5 stars and 
Water rating of 4.5 stars (out of a possible 6) for our 
head office. this is an exceptional result for a heritage 
building. naBers is the national australian Built 
environment rating system which rates buildings  
on the basis of their measured operational impacts  
on the environment.    
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Green group

the department has an active green group employee 
network that promotes sustainable activity among 
employees. for example the green group:

 > maintains a collection box for mobile muster,  
the mobile phone industry’s recycling initiative,  
and a battery recycling box. in 2011–12 we sent  
15 phones and chargers for recycling, which saved 
valuable resources including plastics, aluminum  
and gold. 

 > used its bulk order powers to subsidise the costs  
of Keepcups available to Bridge st staff to reduce 
throwaway coffee cup waste.

 > runs three worm farms in the southern courtyard  
of the Bridge street building to divert this waste from 
our rubbish bins.

 > conducted a surprise ‘switchoff audit’ in march 2012. 
at the end of the business day, all rooms on all floors 
were checked to see how many computers, monitors 
and printers were switched off. green group tracks 
the results of these audits, which shows a clear drop 
in switch off rates compared to the previous year.

the Building professionals Board supports  
the department’s policies on reducing waste and 
employing measures to reuse and recycle waste. 
electronic management of files is conducted and  
all staff participates in recycling recyclable materials.

26 Privacy
under the Privacy and Personal Information Protection 
Act (the act), in the 2011–12 reporting period, there 
were:

 > no requests for access to documents
 > one complaint about privacy breaches made  
by a third party

 > two internal reviews about breaches of privacy relating 
to the same matter.

the department investigated the third party complaint. 
the investigative report found the department had 
published the personal details of some submitters  
who had requested confidentiality and had thus 
breached the privacy of those submitters. the report’s 
recommendations, which the director-general and  
the department’s Board adopted, included informing  
all submitters whose privacy had been breached of their 
rights under the act, strengthening privacy disclaimers, 
resolving speed and consistency issues in the 
submissions upload application, and encouraging 
submitters wherever possible to lodge  
submissions online.

two internal review requests were made as a result  
of submitters taking up their rights under the act.  
in relation to the personal information of the two review 
applicants, the internal reviewer confirmed the findings 
of the investigative report that the department had 
breached their privacy, and found the department had 
since taken extensive actions in relation to that conduct.

the department is committed to ensuring the protection 
of the right to privacy of its staff and clients and has  
a designated privacy officer. there is a privacy page  
on the department’s website and an internal site on  
the department’s intranet, containing privacy guidelines 
for staff. privacy notices are required on all compliance 
documentation. the department has a privacy 
management plan as required under section  
33 of the act.

the privacy manager can be contacted at: 

23–33 Bridge street sydney nsW 
phone 02 9228 6116 
fax 02 9228 6120
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27 After-balance events
the department is not aware of any circumstances that 
occurred after balance date that would render 
particulars included in the financial statements  
to be misleading. 

28 Performance and numbers  
of executive officers

CeS/SeS level Total 2010–11 Total 2011–12

8 1 1

7 – –

6 3 3

5 3 3

4 4 4

3 – –

2 – –

1 – –

Total 11 11

Total females 1 1

Sam Haddad   

director-general, ses level 8

master of Business administration; master of applied 
(environmental services; Bachelor of science

period in position: whole of reporting period

remuneration: $464,581

Key achievements:   

 > led the third stage of the review of the state’s planning 
system, with the release of the nsW government’s 
green paper – a new planning system for new  
south Wales. 

 > oversaw the implementation of specific assessment 
systems in the environmental planning and 
assessment act to make planning decisions  
on projects classed as state significant development 
or state significant infrastructure. 

 > oversaw the key delivery of the planning initiatives 
coming out of the cabinet taskforce on Housing 
supply and key involvement with the housing 
committee of cabinet.

 > established the role of the department on the Board 
of infrastructure nsW, to ensure the metropolitan 
strategy – sydney 2036 aligns with the state 
infrastructure strategy and the long term transport 
master plan. 

 > continued to improve the working relationship 
between the department and local government. 

 > secured additional funding and positioned the 
department at the heart of the state government’s 
approach to improving the economy. 

 > continued working relationship with commonwealth 
government (department of sustainability, 
environment, population and communities)  
on strategic assessments to reduce duplication,  
in particular for the Western sydney growth centres. 

 > coordinating a review of the organisational structure 
of the department to ensure this reflects the priorities 
of the government 

 > implemented policies to actively improve the culture  
of the department, provide a greater strategic focus 
and encourage ‘outcome oriented’ delivery. 

 > launched and expanded the electronic housing code 
and launched an online lodgement system for state 
significant development. 

mr Haddad met the requirements of his performance 
agreement with the minister for planning and with  
the premier in his role as a lead executive for state  
plan targets.
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Tom Gellibrand

deputy director-general, plan making and urban 
renewal, ses level 6

graduate diploma in public administration; master  
of town and country planning; Bachelor of applied 
science (applied geography)

period in position: 1 July 2011 – 16 february 2012

remuneration: $334,490

Key achievements:

 > made recommendations on two state significant site 
applications with an estimated capital investment of 
$697 million, generating capacity for 4,530 dwellings.  

 > coordinated the pac to provide advice on three state 
significant site applications with an estimated capital 
investment of $233 million, with potential to generate 
capacity for 1,235 dwellings and conserving 
approximately 850ha of land for conservation 
purposes. 

 > made recommendations on 5 part 3a projects  
with an estimated capital investment of $995 million.  

 > issued grants to the value of $8.6m to assist  
79 councils to accelerate their standard instrument 
local environmental plan (lep)s.

 > the standard instrument lep program has delivered 
a total of 65 leps, 34 of which were completed 
 in 2011–12.  

the director-general has expressed satisfaction  
with mr gellibrand’s performance. mr gellibrand  
has successfully met the performance criteria  
in his performance agreement.

Richard Pearson

deputy director-general, development assessment  
and systems performance, ses level 6

master of environmental studies; Bachelor of town 
planning (Hons)

period in position: Whole of reporting period

remuneration: $311,831

Key achievements:

 > oversaw the preparation of draft strategic regional 
land use plans for the upper Hunter and new 
england north West regions of the state to protect 
high value agricultural land from increasing activity  
in the coal and coal seam gas industries. undertook 
extensive consultation on the draft plans including 
regional forums in gunnedah and singleton,  
as well as drop in sessions throughout both regions.

 > oversaw the preparation and commencement  
of the new state environmental planning policy  
(state and regional development) 2011 to clearly  
and transparently define the classes of development 
and infrastructure which are of state and regional 
significance.

 > managed the assessment and determination  
of 403 major projects and other projects for 
infrastructure, mining, manufacturing, residential, 
commercial and retail development worth $10.6 billion 
and with the potential to generate over 58,000 jobs.

 > achieved assessment benchmarks (following  
the establishment of new benchmarks in state plan 
2021) of 100 per cent of state significant development 
projects assessed and determined within four months

 > improved the efficiency and transparency  
of the department’s environmental assessment 
systems by implementing an online lodgement 
system, and a range of search and notification 
facilities on the department’s major projects register.

 > managed the system of joint regional planning panels 
throughout nsW which determined 308 projects  
of regional significance worth $6.05 billion. 

 > released discussion papers for the next stages  
of expansion to the complying development codes  
in state environmental planning policy (exempt  
and complying development codes).  

the director-general has expressed satisfaction with  
mr pearson’s performance. mr pearson has successfully 
met the performance criteria in his performance 
agreement.
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Ian Reynolds

deputy director-general, strategies and land release, 
ses level 6

diploma in urban and regional planning; master  
of economics; Bachelor of natural resources (Hons)

period in position: whole of reporting period

remuneration: $320,650 plus retention allowance  
of $15,940

Key achievements: 

 > executive direction for ongoing greenfield release  
and planning program in sydney’s growth centres 
including:

 >rezoning of schofields and area 20 precincts
 >exhibition of draft plans for rezoning of Box Hill, 
Box Hill industrial, austral and leppington north 
precincts
 >release of marsden park, catherine field,  
east leppington and leppington precincts  
to commence planning.

 > executive direction for program culminating  
in granting of approval under the commonwealth 
environment protection and Biodiversity conservation 
act of the strategic assessment program for sydney’s 
growth centres leading to improved environmental 
and streamlined development outcomes.

 > executive direction for program to identify and resolve 
systemic statutory impediments to housing supply.

 > executive direction for a targeted program to identify 
and resolve short term impediments to housing 
development on rezoned land. 

 > executive direction for a revised consultation program 
for demographic projections for nsW involving 
upgraded, face to face contact with local 
government to enable incorporation of local factors 
into local area population projections.

 > executive direction for implementation of upgraded 
monitoring of housing and employment land 
development in sydney to provide better evidence  
for decision making.

 > executive direction for program to prepare new 
metropolitan plan for sydney and revised regional 
strategies for lower Hunter, illawarra, south coast 
and far north coast.

 > executive direction for continued acquisition program 
for north West and south West rail projects.

 > executive direction of program to secure government 
endorsement of new structures and processes  
to coordinate delivery of infrastructure essential  
to support growth in nsW.

the director-general has expressed satisfaction  
with mr reynold’s performance. mr reynolds  
has successfully met the performance criteria  
in his performance agreement.

Giovanni Cirillo

executive director, urban renewal and major sites,  
ses level 5

master of international studies; graduate diploma  
in economics; Bachelor of urban and regional  
planning (Hons)

period in position: whole of reporting period

remuneration: $285,300 plus retention allowance  
of $15,000

Key achievements: 

 > conducted the review of sepp 65 and the residential 
flat design code including public exhibition  
of a discussion paper, consideration of submissions, 
public information sessions, industry briefings,  
and working groups with key stakeholders. 

 > preparation of a major urban renewal strategy  
for the newcastle city centre including extensive 
research and testing, consultation and coordination 
expert studies in the areas of transport, economics 
and public domain.

 > commenced structure planning for new town centres 
at all eight north West rail link station precincts  
as a joint initiative with transport for nsW and  
in partnership with each of the local councils.

 > completed five state significant site rezonings  
for precincts at edmondson park (3,500 dwellings, 
1,000 jobs), north penrith (1,000 dwellings and 2,500 
jobs), middle camp (200 dwellings), nords Wharf  
and gwandalan (700 dwellings).

 > facilitated the transfer of approximately 1000 hectares 
of high priority conservation lands into the nsW 
national parks system. 

 > completed assessments for 11 major development 
applications (valued at $1.29 billion, and creating 
9,000 jobs), including:

 >north penrith concept plan and stage 1 project 
application 
 >edmondson park concept plan and stage  
1 project application
 >middle camp, nords Wharf and gwandalan 
concept plans
 >university of technology Broadway – project 
applications for the faculty of engineering  
and it Building and faculty of science Building
 >calderwood stage 1 project application
 >royal north shore Hospital – clinical services 
Building. 

prepared draft development controls plans for 
catherine Hill Bay and Huntlee to guide the future 
development of these major sites.

the director-general has expressed satisfaction with  
mr cirillo’s performance. mr cirillo has successfully met 
the performance criteria in his performance agreement.
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Donna Rygate

executive director, corporate governance and policy, 
ses level 5

master of planning; Bachelor of economics  
(Hons-government and public administration)

period in position: 1 July 2011 to 1 June 2012

remuneration: $285,300 plus recruitment allowance  
of $20,000

Key achievements:

 > delivered a strong planning policy and reform agenda 
with ongoing work to achieve more affordable 
housing in nsW; exhibition of draft wind farm planning 
guidelines, a new approach to the issue of paper 
subdivisions, and a draft guideline on estimating  
the cost of development; and finalisation of an 
innovative self regulatory approach to holiday letting 
with industry.

 > led the nsW government response to the sensitive 
issue of fire safety in nursing homes; drove the 
development of community education material 
around child falls from buildings; improved 
performance data reporting through the publication  
of the 2010–11 local development performance 
monitoring (ldpm) report; 

 > delivered the groundbreaking electronic Housing 
code (eHc) pilot; drove BasiX technical upgrades; 
achieved re-certification to iso 9001  – data Quality  
in march 2012 for the department’s standard 
instrument local environmental plan spatial data 
Quality program; and secured funding for the 
expansion of both the ldpm and eHc programs,  
and eplanning as part of the planning system review.

 > strengthened governance, transparency  
and accountability by release of a new code  
of conduct and ethics with an annual staff 
compliance declaration requirement; commencement 
of a new fraud and corruption control plan and 
award-winning protocols for managing contacts with 
registered lobbyists and others; conduct of a rigorous 
audit program; development of an innovative 
secondary and private employment policy; 
investigations; and a review of committee 
participation across the department.

 > conducted numerous events and forums with 
departmental stakeholders; improved transparency  
by publishing material on the department’s website; 
formulated a new approach to advertising; and 
developed and implemented communication 
strategies around a wide range of corporate priorities 
like strategic regional land use plans and the 
planning system review.   

 > in the corporate area, secured additional funding  
for the department in both the 2011 and 2012 
expenditure review committee processes;  
met savings targets; strengthened learning and 
development; worked to improve the department’s 
electronic records and document management 
system; achieved savings through office 
accommodation change strategies; and got excellent 
scores for energy and water efficiency in building 
sustainability rating frameworks.

 > drove corporate and shared services reform, 
including the transition of sub cluster entities  
into the shared services environment.

 > facilitated the integration of the sydney Harbour 
foreshore authority, Hunter development 
corporation, and the central coast regional 
development corporation into the planning  
and infrastructure sub cluster.

 > supported ongoing policy and compliance work 
around building certification. 

the director-general has expressed satisfaction with  
ms rygate’s performance. ms rygate has successfully 
met the performance criteria in her performance 
agreement.
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Christopher Wilson

executive director, major projects assessment,  
ses level 5

master of urban and regional planning; Bachelor  
of arts (Hons)

period in position: whole of reporting period

remuneration: $275,799

Key achievements:

development assessment

 > initiated the implementation of the new development 
assessment regime for state significant infrastructure 
and state significant development.

 > coordinated and delivered comprehensive 
environmental impact assessments and sound 
planning outcomes for 306 major development 
decisions with economic, environmental and social 
significance to nsW.

 > developments approved had a combined capital 
investment value (ciV) of approximately $9.7 billion 
with the potential to generate in excess of 52,200 jobs.

 > this included the delivery of environmental planning 
approvals for key public infrastructure including the 
widening of the m5 West, key upgrades to the pacific 
Highway at urunga and Kempsey, and several major 
medical facilities at the prince of Wales, nowra, 
liverpool, Wagga Wagga, and shoalhaven hospitals. 

 > continued to make recommendations relevant  
to the development of Barangaroo including  
the approval of commercial towers c3 and c5. 

litigation

 > achieved successful outcomes for 16 of the 17 major 
project matters (class 1 and 4) determined by the 
land and environment court (l&e court) with  
10 matters upheld and 6 discontinued, settled  
or mediated. one decision to refuse an application 
was reversed by the court. 

compliance

 > undertook a range of compliance activities including:
 >213 inspections and audits across a wide range  
of industry sectors
 >106 off site surveillances of approved projects  
– up from 39 in 2010–11
 >157 enforcement actions, ranging from negotiated 
outcomes through to warning letters, orders, 
penalty notices and prosecutions – up from  
124 in 2010–11
 >successfully sought class 4 orders in the  
l&e court to rectify non-compliant earthworks  
at a major construction site in the illawarra.  

the director-general has expressed satisfaction with  
mr Wilson’s performance. mr Wilson has successfully 
met the performance criteria in his performance 
agreement.

29 Government Information  
(Public Access) Act 2009
the 2011–12 financial year saw the second year  
of operation of the Government Information (Public 
Access) Act 2009 (the gipa act), which replaced the 
freedom of information act 1989. the gipa act and 
regulation introduced a new annual reporting regime. 
the information required to be included in the gipa 
annual report is numbered and described and  
in bold below.

1. review of proactive release program – gipa 
regulation clause 7(a)

the department’s proactive release program for the 
coming year is compiled during the department’s review 
under section 7 of the gipa act of its program  
of the previous year.

the department’s review of its proactive release 
program involved specific communication with every 
branch of the department in June 2012 to:

 >obtain a progress report on the past year’s 
proactive release program, and
 >build a new program for the coming year.

each branch provided the names or descriptions  
of information that it had proactively released  
in 2011–12, and listed the information it intended  
to release proactively in the coming year.

the lists of information intended for release were 
compiled to become the department’s proactive 
disclosure program for the coming year.

as a result of the review the branches listed the following 
information which they proactively disclosed  
in the 2011–12 year:

Policy, Planning Systems and Reform

draft nsW Wind farm planning guidelines were 
released for public consultation in december 2011.

Policy Coordination/Sustainable Systems

BasiX cogeneration implementation study

BasiX enews (various)

sepp71 – coastal protection

sepp 14 coastal wetlands digital data

sepp 26 littoral rainforest state Heritage register  
– curtilage

state Heritage register – centroid

sepp(major development) 2005

standard instrument(lep) order 2006 map  
template grids

standard requirements for gis data for sepp (exempt 
and complying development codes) 2008 (version 1.4).    

standard requirements for lep gis data – updated 
november 2008

standard technical requirements for lep maps march 
2009, version 1.2

(sydney Harbour catchment) 2005
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non-standard lep & si lep (gazetted) – digital  
gis data

local development performance monitoring report 
2010–11

local development performance monitoring 2010–11 
data template guide

local development performance monitoring 2011–12 
data template overview

local development performance monitoring 2011–12 
extranet guide

local development performance monitoring 2011–12 
answers to frequently asked Questions

local development performance monitoring 2011–12 
final data checklist

local development performance monitoring 2011–12 
feedback file instructions

BasiX enews – fee faQ (25/7/11)

BasiX enews – introducing alts & adds fee (29/7/11)

BasiX enews – transition period for Bers pro and 
firstrate 5 (14/10/11)

BasiX enews – status of BdaV accreditation (31/10/11)

BasiX enews – launch of electronic Housing code 
(7/11/11)

BasiX enews – manual payment availability for alts  
& adds (15/12/11)

BasiX enews – new recycled water schemes 
(thrumster and oran park) (30/4/12)

Assessment Policy

rural Housing code user guide

Assessment Systems and Strategies

state significant development / state significant 
infrastructure assessment systems  

 > planning circular and fact sheets on new  
ssd/ssi system 

 > planning circular on planning assessment 
commission 

 > planning assessment commission – meeting 
procedures   

 > proponent’s guideline for state significant 
development 

 > proponent’s guideline for state significant 
infrastructure

 > community guideline for state significant 
development and state significant infrastructure

Regional Panels

planning circular on changes to regional panel 
systems (ps11-020, 30 september 2011)

revised regional panel operational procedures 
(exhibition version January 2012)

revised regional panel code of conduct (exhibited 
version January 2012) 

revised regional panels complaint Handling policy 
(exhibited version 2012)

submissions received from exhibition of revised regional 
panel guidelines

requests for advice from the minister to the regional 
panels (moreton park, menangle; old Bathurst road, 
emu plains

regional panel advice report to minister for old 
Bathurst road, emu plains (dated march 2012)

regional panels instrument of delegations 

regional panel 120 referral form

independent peer review reports commissioned  
by regional panel (for cedar point quarry, Kyogle)

Compliance 
Management of dust from coal mines

environmental compliance and performance report

Wind Farm Audits

Wind farm audits media release

Wind farm audit outline

professional services Brief for noise monitoring tender

frequently asked Questions

survey of nearby landowners: covering letter and survey 
documents for cullerin range, Woodlawn and capital 
wind farms

notifications to proponents for cullerin range, 
Woodlawn and capital wind farms

Compliance Activity Reports

monthly reports from July 2011 to June 2012

metro and regional strategy

sydney over the next 20 years – a discussion paper 
may 2012

Development and Demographic Analysis

metropolitan development program (mdp)  
2009–10 report

metropolitan development program (mdp)  
2010–11 report

mdp six monthly monitor July-december 2010

mdp six monthly monitor January-June 2011

employment lands development program (eldp)  
2011 update report

population nsW Bulletin no. 15 (november 2011)
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mdp monthly monitor – one for each month:  
July 2011 – June 2012

mdp six monthly monitor July – december 2011

mdp march Quarter monitoring report 2012

section on Website on review of potential Housing 
sites, under ‘Housing delivery overview’ 

employment lands taskforce report

fact sheet – nsW government response  
to the employment lands taskforce report

Land Release (Planning and Delivery)

draft precinct plans on exhibition for Box Hill  
and Box Hill industrial, austral and leppington north  
and schofields precinct. this included the following 
documents:

draft indicative layout plan 

explanation of intended effect

development control map

floor space ratio map

Height of Buildings map

Heritage map

land acquisition map

land reservation acquisition map

land Zoning map

lot size map

native Vegetation protection map

residential density map

riparian protection area map

indigenous Heritage report

Biodiversity assessment

Biodiversity consistency assessment

non-indigenous Heritage report 

odour assessment 

retail and employment assessment 

riparian assessment

traffic and transport report

Water cycle management report 

demographics and social infrastructure assessment

Bushfire assessment

infrastructure delivery plan

leppington town centre masterplan report

noise assessment

salinity and geotechnical assessment

precinct planning report

guide to precinct planning exhibition Brochure

leppington major centre Brochure

contour and aerial maps

Other documents released by Land Release 
(Planning and Delivery)

Western sydney employment area southern link road 
network strategic assessment

combined alignment options (Wsea)

faQs – southern link road network strategic transport 
assessment

area 20 gazettal Brochure

schofields gazettal Brochure

Box Hill land ownership map

Variation to edmondson park precinct conservation 
agreement (september 2011)

community update catherine fields part  
(february and april 2012)

community update austral and leppington north  
(april 2012)

community update leppington (february 2012)

community update east leppington (february 2012)

community update marsden park (february  
and march 2012)

community update Box Hill and Box Hill industrial  
(July 2011 and april 2012)

community update area 20 (July 2011)

faQs catherine fields part 

catherine fields part precinct Voluntary planning 
agreement and explanatory note

marsden park precinct Voluntary planning agreement 
and explanatory note

guide to precinct planning Brochure

guide to sydney’s growth centres Brochure

sydney growth centres strategic assessment program 
endorsement letter

sydney growth centres strategic assessment program 
notification of decision to endorse the program

strategic assessment approval decisions

strategic assessment notification of decision  
to approve development action

strategic assessment final program report

strategic assessment supplementary report

special infrastructure contribution rates update

north West and south West growth centre maps  
– updated

guide to submission Writing

guidelines for landowner input into precinct planning

Strategic assessments

submissions received in relation to the public exhibition 
of studies relating to potential listing of state significant 
sites

submissions received in relation to the public exhibition 
of the development control plan for catherine Hill Bay

draft urban activation precincts guideline and 
associated fact sheets and planning circular
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Centres and urban renewal

sepp 65 and residential flat design code review 
discussion paper

Southern Region

documents on the 2002 listing of sandon point  
as a state significant development site

department letter to Yass Valley council concerning  
a proposed rural residential development at east 
tallagandra lane, sutton

department letter and planning report concerning 
Wollongong lep 2009 amendment 5

department planning report on a site compatibility 
certificate for land at old saddleback road, Kiama

ministerial Briefing note and letter to southern Jrpp 
concerning the revocation of relevant planning 
authority status for a planning proposal to allow  
a discount factory outlet in Kembla grange

department planning report on a site compatibility 
certificate for land at Headlands avenue, austinmer

ministerial Briefing note on potential appointment  
of an alternate relevant planning authority for  
a proposal known as lake Jindabyne Village

Sydney East Region

mowbray road strategic review (november 2011) 

Warriewood Valley strategic review documents – traffic 
and transport (study and brief); urban design (study 
and brief); water management and flooding (study and 
brief); economic feasibility (study and brief); interim 
probity report for exhibition; and draft strategic review 
report for exhibition

Planning operations coordination

local environmental plan tracking system – on-going

local planning panel – meeting minutes

lep review panel – planning team reports and panel 
recommendations

public exhibition of draft policy – ‘more local, more 
accountable plan making’ 

Northern Region

certain correspondence related to Ballina draft 
comprehensive lep section 65 certificate

department planning reports for gateway 
determination of glen artney and longyard trails 
planning proposals, tamworth regional lga 

certain correspondence, planning reports and draft  
lep associated with port macquarie Hastings lep 2011 
amendment no. 8 (area 15), camden Haven

2. the number of access applications the department 
received during the reporting year was 98. (gipa 
regulation clause 7(b)).

this number includes withdrawn applications and 
applications which were invalid when initially received 
but subsequently became valid. the number does not 

include transferred applications (four) or applications 
which remained invalid (four). neither does it include  
the 15 applications brought forward from 2010–11, 
which were decided (13), transferred (one) or were 
invalid (one).

a total of 11 applications received in 2011–12 were 
carried forward to the 2012–13 year. thus, 87 2011–12 
applications were decided. including those decided 
brought forward from 2010–11 there were 100 
applications about which decisions were made  
in 2011–12. of these, three applications each had two 
decisions made, so 103 initial decisions were made  
(not including transferred applications and applications 
which remained invalid).

two review applications were brought forward from  
the 2010–11 year.

3. the total number of access applications received  
by the department during the reporting year that the 
department refused because the application was  
for the disclosure of information referred to in  
schedule 1 to the act was three. of these none were 
refused in full and three were refused in part.

(information for which there is conclusive  
presumption of overriding public interest against 
disclosure – gipa regulation clause 7(c))

4. information, as set out in the form required by the 
tables in schedule 2, relating to the access applications 
(if any) made to the department during the reporting 
year (gipa regulation clause 7(d))

Overriding public interest against disclosure

the total number of access applications received  
by the department during the reporting year that the 
department refused because the application was  
for the disclosure of information referred to in  
schedule 1 to the act was three. of these none were 
refused in full and three were refused in part.

(information for which there is conclusive  
presumption of overriding public interest against 
disclosure – gipa regulation clause 7(c))
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Schedule 2 Tables

departmental note: these tables include information about 15 applications brought forward from  
the 2010–11 year.

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome* 

 Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm / 
deny whether 
information is 
held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members  
of Parliament 

1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 

10 2 1 4 3 2 0 1

Not for profit 
organisations 
or community 
groups 

3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Members  
of the public 
(application 
by legal 
representative) 

17 7 0 4 0 2 0 3

Members of the 
public (other) 

28 0 0 6 2 2 0 0

*more than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. if so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. 

Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome

 Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm / 
deny whether 
information  
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal 
information 
applications* 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access 
applications (other 
than personal 
information 
applications) 

60 11 1 16 5 6 0 4

Access 
applications that 
are partly personal 
information 
applications  
and partly other 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*more than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. if so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. 

Table C: Invalid applications

Reason for invalidity Number of applications 

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 12

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 12

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 7
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Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed  
in Schedule 1 to Act

 *Number of times consideration used

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 1

executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 2

excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

* more than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each such consideration is to be recorded  
(but only once per application). this also applies in relation to table e.

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of Act

 Number of occasions when application not successful 

Responsible and effective government 1

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 6

Business interests of agencies and other persons 8

environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

exempt documents under interstate freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness 

 Number of applications 

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 87

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 12

*Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 1

Total 100

* decision to grant in full made late.

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome)

 Decision varied Decision upheld Total 

Internal review 4 2 6

Review by Information Commissioner*  0 2 2

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by ADT 0 0 0

Total 4 4 8

* the information commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original decision-maker. the data in this 
case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by the information commissioner. this table only lists the number 
of applications with completed reviews.
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Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)*

 *Number of applications for review 

Applications by access applicants 7

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates (see section 54 of the Act) 2

*this table lists the number of review applications decided. one initial decision of a gipa application was subject to two review applications, from the applicant 
and a third party. thus there was one more review application than there were gipa applications reviewed.

Public interest disclosure

The number of public officials who have made a public interest disclosure to the public authority none

The number of public interest disclosures received by the public authority in total and the number of public interest 
disclosures received by the public authority relating to each of the following

–

Corrupt conduct none

Maladministration none

Serious and substantial waste of public money or local government money (as appropriate) none

government information contraventions none

Local government pecuniary interest contraventions none

The number of public interest disclosures finalised by the public authority none

Whether the public authority has a public interest disclosures policy in place Yes

What actions the head of the public authority has taken to 
ensure that his or her staff awareness responsibilities under 
section 6e (1) (b) of the Act have been met?

A detailed information email was sent to all staff about the Act 
and amendments, a link to the policy has been provided  
on the department’s intranet, and training on public interest 
disclosures is delivered at all inductions of new staff.

Here a reference to a public interest disclosure is a reference to a public interest disclosure received by a public authority on or after 1 January 2012.

30 Public interest disclosure
the public interest disclosures act and regulation 
requires the following information to be reported 
annually:

31 Credit card certification
the department’s corporate card policies  
are in accordance with treasury’s and the auditor-
general’s guidelines. the department’s corporate credit 
card policies and procedures satisfy the requirements  
of the treasurer’s directions. corporate card 
expenditures are monitored for compliance and usage 
was considered to comply with best practice guidelines. 

32 Requirements arising from 
employment arrangements
the department provides personnel services to Hunter 
development corporation, central coast regional 
development corporation and sydney Harbour 
foreshore authority. 
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Response to statutory audit report for 
Department of Planning and Infrastructure
in its 2012 audit, the audit office identified the following significant matters:

 > development contributions: the audit office recommended that the department review the 
relevant legislation and explicitly document the different sources of development contributions  
it is entitled to receive. appropriate systems and procedures should be developed to ensure 
contributions and related expenditure are complete and accurate. 
management agrees with these recommendations and a review of the relevant legislation  
will commence in 2012.

 > prior period errors – equity transfer: the audit office noted that the department disclosed  
a prior period error of $3.6 million in the financial statements. this resulted from the incorrect 
calculation of the 2011 transfer of employees from various entities to the department. 
management corrected these errors by processing both current and prior period adjustments 
in the 2012 financial statements. 
management considers no further action is required as the errors have been corrected.

 > Quality of year end audit working papers: the audit office recommended that the department 
could improve the efficiency of next year’s audit by improving the quality of working papers 
provided to the audit team. 
management will work with the audit office on improving the quality of working papers.

155nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



11  
Corporation Sole  
financial statements

nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12156



157nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



Contents
statement by the minister 159

statement of comprehensive income 160

statement of financial position 161

statement of changes in equity 162

statement of cash flows 163

notes to the financial statements 164

nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12158



159nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12160



161nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12162



163nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12164



165nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12166



167nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12168



169nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12170



171nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12172



173nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12174



175nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12176



177nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12178



179nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12180



181nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12182



183nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12184



185nsW planning and infrastructure annual report 2011–12



Response to statutory audit report  
for Corporation Sole
in its 2012 audit, the audit office identified the following significant matters:

 > completeness and accuracy of land holdings: the audit office asked management  
to consider the relevant legislative provisions, statutory obligations and a determination  
of who ‘controls’ (as defined by australian accounting standards) land assets placed under 
the ‘care, management and control’ of local councils. 
management considers these issues extend to other entities within government and are best 
resolved at a whole-of-government level. in response to this matter being raised in 2011, an 
inter-agency working group was formed, which is expected to respond to these issues shortly.

 > Quality of year end audit working papers: the audit office recommended that the department 
could improve the efficiency of next year’s audit by improving the quality of working papers 
provided to the audit team. 
management will work with the audit office on improving the quality of working papers. 
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Contact 
details

Regional offices

www.planning.nsw.gov.au/aboutus/
pdf/dop_regional_boundaries_
sydney.pdf

Sydney East Region

23–33 Bridge street  
sydney nsW 2000 
gpo Box 39  
sydney nsW 2001  
tel: 02 9228 6333 
fax: 02 9228 6244 
information@planning.nsw.gov.au

Sydney West Region

level 5, 10 Valentine avenue  
parramatta nsW 2150 
gpo Box 39  
sydney nsW 2001  
tel: 02 9860 1560

Northern Region

www.planning.nsw.gov.au/aboutus/
pdf/dop_regional_boundaries_ 
nsw.pdf

grafton Office

level 3, 49 Victoria street 
locked Bag 9022  
grafton nsW 2460 
tel: 02 6641 6600 
fax: 02 6641 6601 
northcoast@planning.nsw.gov.au

Tamworth Office

level 3, noel park House  
155–157 marius street 
po Box 550  
tamworth nsW 2340  
tel: 02 6701 9689 
fax: 02 6701 9690

Hunter and Central Coast Region

gosford Office

level 3, 107 mann street 
po Box 1148  
gosford nsW 2250  
tel: 02 4348 5000 
fax: 02 4323 6573 
centralcoast@planning.nsw.gov.au

Newcastle Office

price Waterhouse coopers centre 
level 2, 26 Honeysuckle drive 
po Box 1226  
newcastle nsW 2300 
tel: 02 4904 2700 
fax: 02 4904 2701 
hunter@planning.nsw.gov.au

Access

Business Hours for the department  
of planning and infrastructure are 
9am to 5pm 
aBn 38 755 709 681

Head office

23–33 Bridge street  
sydney nsW 2000 
gpo Box 39  
sydney nsW 2001 
tel: 02 9228 6111 
fax: 02 9228 6455 
information@planning.nsw.gov.au

Information Centre

23–33 Bridge street  
sydney nsW 2000 
gpo Box 39  
sydney nsW 2001 
tel: 02 9228 6333 or 1300 305 695 
fax: 02 9228 6555 
information@planning.nsw.gov.au

Translating and  
Interpreting Service

please telephone 131 450.  
ask for an interpreter in your language 
and request to be connected  
to (02) 9228 6333 – department  
of planning and infrastructure 
information centre. local call cost 
from fixed phones. calls from mobiles  
at applicable rates.

Singleton Office (compliance only)

suite 14, level 1  
1 civic avenue 
po Box 3145  
singleton nsW 2330 
tel: 02 6575 3405 
fax: 02 6575 3415

Southern Region

Wollongong Office

level 2, 84 crown street 
po Box 5475  
Wollongong nsW 2520 
tel: 02 4224 9450 
fax: 02 4224 9470 
wollongong@planning.nsw.gov.au

Queanbeyan Office

level 1, 11 farrer place 
Queanbeyan nsW 2620 
po Box 5475  
Wollongong nsW 2520 
tel: 02 6229 7900 
fax: 02 6229 7901

Alpine Resorts (assessments only)

shop 5a, snowy river avenue 
po Box 36  
Jindabyne nsW 2627  
tel: 02 6456 1733 
fax: 02 6456 1736

Western Region

Dubbo Office

area 1, level 1 
188 macquarie street 
po Box 58 
dubbo nsW 2830 
tel: 02 6841 2180 
fax: 02 6884 8483 
westernregion@planning.nsw.gov.au

Building Professionals Board

level 3, 3 marist place  
parramatta nsW 2150  
po Box 3720  
parramatta nsW 2124 
tel: 02 9873 8537 
fax: 02 9873 8517 
bpb@bpb.nsw.gov.au
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